Doctoral theses at NTNU, 2024:80

Anette H.Skjervold

Established and novel methods and biomarkers in breast cancer

NTNU

NINU Norwegian University of Science and Technology Thesis for the Degree of Philosophiae Doctor Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine



Norwegian University of Science and Technology

Anette H.Skjervold

Established and novel methods and biomarkers in breast cancer

Thesis for the Degree of Philosophiae Doctor

Trondheim, March 2024

Norwegian University of Science and Technology Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine



Norwegian University of Science and Technology

NTNU

Norwegian University of Science and Technology

Thesis for the Degree of Philosophiae Doctor

Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine

© Anette H.Skjervold

ISBN 978-82-326-7754-2 (printed ver.) ISBN 978-82-326-7753-5 (electronic ver.) ISSN 1503-8181 (printed ver.) ISSN 2703-8084 (online ver.)

Doctoral theses at NTNU, 2024:80

Printed by NTNU Grafisk senter

Etablerte og nye metoder og biomarkører innen brystkreft

Nytt blikk på metodikk rundt etablerte biomarkører, og vurdering av en mulig ny biomarkør

Biomarkører er målbare karakteristiske biologiske egenskaper som kan fortelle oss mye om vår helse generelt og ved ulike sykdommer. Velkjente eksempler er blodtrykk og blodprosent. Biomarkører spiller en viktig rolle i diagnostikk og behandling av brystkreft hvor vi måler egenskaper i selve svulsten. Blant disse er østrogen reseptor (ER) og Ki-67 (en markør som måler cellenes evne til dele seg). Kriteriene for hva som kjennetegner positivt uttrykk og deretter bestemmer videre behandling for pasienten er fortsatt en utfordring med disse biomarkørene. I denne avhandlingen ønsket vi å se nærmere på disse etablerte biomarkørene med nytt blikk og nye metoder. Ki-67 er en medvirkende faktor for å bestemme om pasienten skal få kjemoterapi eller ikke, og uttrykk av ER bestemmer om pasienten skal få hormon-blokkerende terapi. I tillegg studerte vi en mindre kjent biomarkør, genet *PAK1*.

I dag er det fortsatt diskusjon rundt de diagnostiske kriteriene for positivt Ki-67. Vurdering av Ki-67 påvirkes av mange faktorer, blant annet hvordan prøvene er behandlet ved ulike laboratorier i forkant av vurderingen, eller hvem som studerer og setter resultatet. Vi ønsket derfor å se om digital bildeanalyse kunne være en bedre metode for å standardisere tolkningen. Vi sammenlignet undersøkelse i mikroskop med digital bildeanalyse av de samme svulstene.

Vi fant at ved vurdering av Ki-67 ved hjelp av digital bildeanalyse kunne vi identifisere en større andel svulster med høye nivåer av Ki-67 sammenlignet med vurdering i mikroskop. Vi understreker også viktigheten av at diagnostiske grenseverdier bør kalibreres basert på hvilken metode som brukes.

For ER ligger nåværende diagnostisk grenseverdi ved 1% positive cellekjerner i svulsten, og dette avgjøres ved analyse i mikroskop uten nøyaktig telling, såkalt «eyeballing». Kriteriene for positiv ER ble i 2010 senket fra 10% til 1%. Var denne beslutningen bedre eller dårligere for gruppen med ER mellom 1 og 9% («ER Low Positive»)? Vi ønsket å se nærmere på de ulike nivåene av ER positivitet, og sammenlignet dem med andre kjennetegn i svulstene og fremtidsutsikter, med spesielt blikk på «ER Low Positive»-gruppen. Vi studerte 1955 svulster som vi delte i to grupper basert på pasientenes diagnosetidspunkt (før 1995, eller i 1995 eller senere). Rundt 1995 begynte kvinner med brystkreft å få medisinsk behandling i tillegg til operasjon. Vi fant at kvinner med «ER Low Positive» svulster diagnostisert i 1995 eller senere hadde mindre aggressive svulster enn svulster tilhørende kvinner diagnostisert før 1995. Videre fant vi at kvinner diagnostisert i 1995 eller senere, hadde like fremtidsutsikter som de med høyt uttrykk av ER, sammenlignet med kvinner diagnostisert tidligere.

I en tid hvor søkelyset rettes mot individuell medisin og behandling, spiller biomarkører en viktig rolle. Det letes stadig etter nye som kan være avgjørende for den enkelte pasientens behandling. Genuttrykk av *PAK1* er økt i flere krefttyper, også brystkreft, og er lokalisert på en del av kromosom 11 som har flere gener assosiert med brystkreft. Økt antall *PAK1* gener har sammenheng med aggressive svulsttyper, resistens mot behandling og dårligere leveutsikter. Vi ville undersøke dette i brystkreft. I tillegg sammenlignet vi *PAK1* og *CCND1* genet, som også er lokalisert på kromosom 11 og er assosiert med brystkreft. Vi fant at økning i *PAK1* kopitall var assosiert med økning i kopitall av *CCND1*. Vi fant ingen signifikant forskjell mellom kopitallsøkning og risiko for å dø av brystkreft i tilfeller med økt kopitall av PAK1 alene, CCND1 alene, eller tilfeller med økt kopitall av begge genene.

Anette H. Skjervold Institutt for klinisk og molekylær medisin Hovedveileder: Professor emerita i medisin (patologi) Anna M. Bofin Biveiledere: Førsteamanuensis og overlege Marit Valla Førsteamanuensis og overlege Henrik Sahlin Pettersen Finansieringskilde: Institutt for klinisk og molekylær medisin, Fakultet for medisin og helse

> Ovennevnte avhandling er funnet verdig til å forsvares offentlig for graden Doktorgrad innen Medisin og helse Disputas finner sted i Kavli-senteret, auditorium MTA Fredag 15.mars, kl. 12:15

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	3
List of papers	5
Abbreviations	6
Sammendrag	7
Summary	9
Introduction	11
Background	12
Breast cancer epidemiology	12
Breast cancer diagnosis	14
Breast cancer treatment	
Biomarkers in medicine	20
Biomarkers in breast cancer	20
Clinical biomarkers	21
PAK1	25
Laboratory methods	26
Immunohistochemistry	26
Fluorescence in situ hybridization	28
Tissue microarray	
Digital pathology	34
Global perspective	37
Aims	
Materials and methods	40
Study populations	40
Immunohistochemistry	41
Digital image analysis	41
Hamamatsu NanoZoomer S360 Digital Slide Scanner C13220-01	41
QuPath software	41
Fluorescence in situ hybridization	42
Statistical analyses	42
Pearson's Chi ² -test	42
Cumulative incidence of death from breast cancer and Gray's test	42
Bland-Altman plot analysis	43
Cox proportional hazard ratios	43

Summary of results4	14
Paper I	14
Paper II	14
Paper III4	1 5
Discussion4	16
Discussion of main findings4	16
Cut-off controversies4	19
Study population5	50
Materials and methods5	51
Conclusions and future perspectives5	53
References5	55

Acknowledgements

The projects presented in this thesis was carried out at the Department of Clinical and Molecular medicine at the Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Norwegian university of Science and Technology (NTNU) from 2018 to 2023. The projects included in this thesis received funding from the Department of Clinical and Molecular medicine at the Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, NTNU.

I am humble and truly grateful for all the support and knowledge given by Professor Anna Mary Bofin, my main supervisor during these years. Thank you for all your encouragement, patience, help and feedback that kept me on track all the way to the finish line.

Furthermore, I am very grateful for all the insightful and constructive feedback and help given by my co-supervisors, Associate Professor/Consultant Pathologist Marit Valla and Associate Professor/Consultant Pathologist Henrik Sahlin Pedersen. Thank you for sharing your knowledge with me.

Many thanks to co-authors Associate Professor Signe Opdahl, Department of Public Health and Nursing, NTNU and Senior Biomedical Engineer Borgny Ytterhus, Histology Laboratory, Department of Molecular and Clinical Medicine, NTNU for their valuable contributions within their fields of expertise.

I would also like to give a special thank you to my co-workers at the office and in the laboratory, for all your emotional support and the numerous insightful talks and many good laughs.

Many, many thanks to friends and family for supporting me during these years. And last, but not least: To my dear child, Will (aka Yami), for cheering for me at every milestone, giving me all sorts of distractions (positive) and for making me talk so much English in our everyday life \heartsuit

List of papers

This thesis is based on the following three papers:

Paper I:

Skjervold AH, Pettersen HS, Valla M, Opdahl S, Bofin AM. Visual and digital assessment of Ki-67 in breast cancer tissue - a comparison of methods. Diagn Pathol. 2022 May 6;17(1):45.

doi: 10.1186/s13000-022-01225-4. PMID: 35524221; PMCID: PMC9074355.

Paper II:

Skjervold AH, Valla M, Ytterhus B, Bofin AM. *PAK1* copy number in breast cancer-Associations with proliferation and molecular subtypes. PLoS One. 2023 Jun 27;18(6):e0287608.

doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0287608. PMID: 37368917; PMCID: PMC10298784.

Paper III:

Skjervold AH, Valla M, Bofin AM. **Oestrogen receptor low positive breast cancer: associations with prognosis.** Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2023 Oct;201(3):535-545.

doi: 10.1007/s10549-023-07040-9. Epub 2023 Jul 18. PMID: 37462784; PMCID: PMC10460703.

Abbreviations

- BC Breast cancer
- CN Copy number
- DIA Digital image analysis
- DP Digital pathology
- ER Oestrogen receptor
- FFPE Formalin-fixed paraffin embedded
- FISH Fluorescence in situ hybridization
- HER1 / EGFR (Human) Epidermal growth factor receptor 1
- HER2 Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2
- HIER Heat-induced epitope retrieval
- IHC Immunohistochemistry
- ISH In situ hybridization
- LN Lymph node
- ML Machine learning
- NST No special type
- PR Progesterone receptor
- TNM Tumor-node-metastasis
- TMA Tissue microarray
- VA Visual assessment
- WSI Whole slide image

Sammendrag

Denne avhandlingen bygger på tre publiserte artikler. Arbeidet er utgår fra tre kohorter med kvinner fra Trøndelag fylke i Norge. Disse var kvinner født mellom 1886 og 1977 som ble diagnostisert med brystkreft. Etter diagnosen ble de fulgt frem til slutten av 2015, eller til tidspunktet for død av brystkreft, eller død av andre årsaker. Oppfølgingsdata ble gjort tilgjengelig fra nasjonale registre.

Hovedmålet med denne avhandlingen var å studere etablerte biomarkører for analyse av brystkreft med nye tilnærminger, og å studere gyldigheten av en ny biomarkør.

I den første studien vurderte vi uttrykk av proliferasjonsmarkøren Ki-67 i 248 invasive karsinomer (*of no special type* (NST)) ved hjelp av både den konvensjonelle metoden (visuelt i et lysmikroskop) og digital bildeanalyse (QuPath-programvare). Vi sammenlignet resultatene fra disse to metodene og fant at vurdering av Ki-67 i brysttumorer ved hjelp av digital bildeanalyse identifiserte en større andel tilfeller med høye nivåer av Ki-67 sammenlignet med visuell vurdering av de samme svulstene. Vi konkluderte med at diagnostiske grenseverdier bør kalibreres ved innføring av ny metodikk.

I den andre studien vurderte vi *PAK1* genkopitall i 512 brysttumorer ved hjelp av fluorescens *in situ* hybridisering (FISH) på snitt fra vevsmikromatrise (*tissue microarray* (TMA)). Kopitall ble estimert ved å telle antall fluorescerende signaler for *PAK1* og centromerproben *CEP11* i 20 tumorcellekjerner/tilfelle. Vi vurderte sammenhenger mellom *PAK1* kopitall og andre tumoregenskaper, samt *PAK1* og *CCND1* kopitall. *CCND1* er lokalisert nær *PAK1* på kromosom 11. Vi fant at økning i *PAK1* kopitall var assosiert med høy proliferasjon og høy histologisk grad, men ikke med prognose. Økning i *PAK1* kopitall var mest vanlig i HER2- og Luminal B (HER2-negativ) subtyper av brystkreft. Økning i *PAK1* kopitall var assosiert med økning i kopitall av *CCND1*. Vi fant ingen signifikant forskjell mellom kopitallsøkning og risiko for død av brystkreft i tilfeller med økt kopitall av *PAK1* alene, *CCND1* alene, eller tilfeller med økt kopitall av begge genene.

I den tredje studien undersøkte vi sammenhenger mellom nivåer av østrogenreseptor (ER)uttrykk og tumoregenskaper, og prognose hos 1955 tilfeller av brystkreft. Brystkreft-tilfellene ble delt i pasienter som sannsynligvis ikke hadde mottatt adjuvant terapi i henhold til behandlingsretningslinjer i bruk ved diagnosetidspunktet (før 1995), og de som kunne ha mottatt adjuvant terapi (diagnostisert i 1995 eller senere). Østrogenreseptor-status ble inndelt i tre kategorier: <1%, ≥1<10%, og ≥10% positive tumorcellekjerner. Histopatologisk grad, proliferasjonsstatus, og molekylære subtyper ble korrelert med ER-status innen hver tidsperiode separat og på tvers av tidsperioder. Den største andelen ER Lav positive tumorer (ER≥1<10%) fant vi i Luminal B (HER2 +) subtype og grad 3 svulster. Risiko for død av BC var lavere i ER Lav Positiv og ER ≥ 10% sammenlignet med ER-negative svulster. Kvinner diagnostisert i 1995 eller senere hadde høyere andel ER Lav positiv brystkreft, og svulstene deres var mindre, hadde lavere grad, og lavere proliferasjon enn svulster tilhørende kvinner diagnostisert før 1995.

Summary

The present thesis is based on three published papers. The work arises from three cohorts of women from Trøndelag county in Norway. These were women born between 1886 and 1977, that were diagnosed with breast cancer (BC). After diagnosis they were followed until the end of 2015 or until time of death from BC or death by other causes. Follow-up data was made accessible from national registries.

The main aim of this thesis was to study established biomarkers in BC assessment with new approaches, and to study the validity of a new biomarker.

In the first study we assessed expression of the proliferation marker Ki-67 in 248 invasive carcinomas (NST) using both the conventional method (visually in a light microscope) and digital image analysis (QuPath software). We compared the results from these two methods and found that assessment of Ki-67 in breast tumours using digital image analysis identified a greater proportion of cases with high Ki-67 levels compared to visual assessment of the same tumours. We concluded that diagnostic cut-off levels should be recalibrated on the introduction of new methodology.

In the second study we assessed *PAK1* copy number (CN) in 512 breast tumours using fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) on tissue microarray (TMA) slides. Copy numbers were estimated by counting the number of fluorescent signals for *PAK1* and the chromosome enumeration probe for chromosome 11 (CEP11) in 20 tumour cell nuclei/case. We assessed associations between *PAK1* CN and tumour features, and *PAK1* and *CCND1* CNs. *CCND1* is located close to *PAK1* on chromosome 11. We found that *PAK1* CN increase was associated with high proliferation and high histopathological grade, but not with prognosis. *PAK1* CN increase was most frequent in the HER2- and Luminal B (HER2-) subtypes of BC. *PAK1* CN increase was associated with CN increase of *CCND1*. We found no significant difference in CN increase and risk of death from BC between cases with increased CN of *PAK1* alone, *CCND1* alone, or cases with increased CN for both genes.

In the third study, we assessed associations between levels of Oestrogen Receptor (ER) expression and tumour characteristics, and prognosis in 1955 cases of BC. All cases were stratified into patients unlikely to have received adjuvant therapy according to treatment guidelines at the time of diagnosis (before 1995), and those who could have received adjuvant therapy (diagnosed in 1995 or later). ER status was divided into three categories: <1%, \geq 1<10%, and \geq 10% positive tumour cell nuclei. Histopathological grade, proliferation status, and molecular subtypes were correlated with ER-status within each time period, and across time periods. The highest proportion of ER Low

Positive tumours (ER≥1<10%) were found in the Luminal B (HER2+) subtype and grade 3 tumours. Risk of death from BC was lower in ER Low Positive and ER≥10% compared to ER negative BCs. Women diagnosed in 1995 or later had a higher proportion of ER Low Positive BC, and the tumours were of smaller size, lower grade and lower proliferation than tumours in women diagnosed before 1995.

Introduction

Breast cancer (BC) is the most common cancer in women worldwide, causing nearly 700 000 deaths every year (1, 2). Breast cancer is a highly heterogenic disease with variable biology and patient outcomes (3). It is classified into histopathological type, histopathological grade and TNM stage, and into different molecular subtypes with different biological traits, prognosis and response to treatment (4). Thus, personalized treatment strategies are of great importance for BC patients.

Survival of BC has increased over the last decades, and this raises new perspectives and questions, such as the impact of overtreatment and the long-term side-effects after treatment. As prognosis and treatment strategies vary within different BC subtypes, which are partly decided by evaluation of biomarkers, there is a need to identify new prognostic biomarkers to further personalize prognostication and treatment. In addition, there is a need to re-evaluate established biomarker cut-offs for the same reasons.

Digital pathology (DP) is a rapidly growing sub-field within the field of pathology and entails the digitization of glass slides using a whole slide image (WSI) scanner. Digital image assessment of biomarkers has in the recent years increasingly become a method used to improve efficiency and reproducibility in cancer assessment and has already been implemented in some routine diagnostic laboratories (5-8). The field is growing with new knowledge, instrumentation, and software (9). Digital image analysis (DIA) has been shown to reduce inter- and intraobserver variability, which is a well-known issue within conventional pathology.

The main aim of this thesis was to study biomarkers with new and different approaches, and to investigate the properties of a new biomarker.

Background

ilobocan 2020 tion: Global Cance

Breast cancer epidemiology

Breast cancer is the most frequently occurring cancer (11.7% of all cancer cases in 2020) and is the most frequent cause of cancer-related death among women (1, 10). According to GLOBOCAN 2020, there were 2.26 million new cases of BC, and 685 000 BC deaths, globally (1) (See Figure 1).



Estimated number of new cases in 2020, World, both sexes, all ages

Figure 1: Pie chart showing estimated number of new cases of cancer cases worldwide, both sexes, all ages. Permission for reuse granted 2023. Globocan 2020, International Agency for Research on Cancer, WHO (1)

At the end of 2020, 7.8 million women worldwide had been diagnosed with BC during the previous 5 years, making it the world's most widespread cancer. Female gender is the strongest risk factor for BC. Breast cancers can occur in men as well, and accounts for approximately 0.5-1% of all BC cases diagnosed within a year (2). In Norway in 2022, 4247 new cases (23 males and 4224 females) were diagnosed (11).

Among women, BC accounts for 25% of all cancer cases, and 16% of deaths from cancer, and ranks first for incidence in most countries (Figure 2). In recent years BC mortality has decreased despite an apparent increase in new cases diagnosed in most countries, this is probably due to a combination of effective BC screening and improved treatment (12, 13).



Estimated number of new cases in 2020, worldwide, females, all ages



According to World Health Organization (WHO) breast cancer mortality dropped by approximately 40% in high-income countries between 1980 and 2020. Countries that have succeeded in reducing BC mortality have been able to achieve a reduction of 2-4% per year (14). If an annual mortality reduction of 2.5% occurs globally, 2.5 million BC deaths could be avoided between 2020 and 2040 (1, 15). To be able to reach this kind of goal there is a need to better understand the biology of the cancer, its microenvironment, and molecular signaling in order to provide a personalized treatment regime to increase mortality.

Cancer is a highly variable disease in its genetics, cellular and tissue biology, and response to treatment. The original hallmarks of cancer were described and published by Hanahan and Weinberg in 2000 (16), and have since then been updated with additional hallmarks as research and knowledge has expanded (17, 18) (Figure 3). Figure 3 depicts the hallmarks of cancer, and shows the complexity, and thus the important areas to investigate for better understanding of cancer disease. Further knowledge of the molecular diversity of BC will enable us to understand the disease process and to explore molecular targets for improved treatment.



"Hallmarks of Cancer: New Dimensions" provides an update to the landmark "Hallmarks of Cancer" series. Graphic from Cancer Discovery.

Figure 3: Hallmarks of cancer New Dimensions published in 2022 (18). Permission for reuse granted 2023. Copyright © 2022, American Association for Cancer Research

Breast cancer diagnosis

Breast cancer diagnosis usually involves clinical examination, medical imaging (mammography, ultrasound, magnetic resonance imaging) and examination of tissue samples from the lesion (fine-needle aspiration smears, biopsy). The conclusions drawn from these examinations form the baseline for further treatment.

Comprehensive pathology reports are of high importance for any cancer diagnosis. They are the foundation for correct diagnosis, customized optimal treatment, and the best possible prognosis and outcome for the individual patient. The pathology report comprises an assessment of histopathological type and grade, tumour size, resection edges, lymph node status and metastases, in addition to an assessment of a number of prognostic and predictive biomarkers.

Histopathological type refers to the growth pattern of a tumour. The most common histopathological type of BC is the invasive carcinoma of no special type (NST) (70-80%), followed by

lobular carcinoma (10-20%). There are also a number of special types (19, 20) (Figure 4 and 5). Histopathological types were described in terms of prognosis by Elston and Ellis in 1992 (21).



Figure 4: Histological special types of breast cancer preferentially oestrogen receptor positive. (A) Tubular carcinoma, (B) cribriform carcinoma, (C) classic invasive lobular carcinoma, (D) pleomorphic invasive lobular carcinoma, (E) mucinous carcinoma, (F) neuroendocrine carcinoma, (G) micropapillary carcinoma, (H) papillary carcinoma, (I) low grade invasive ductal carcinoma with osteoclast-like giant cells (20).

Permission for reuse granted 2023, © 2010 Federation of European Biochemical Societies.



Figure 5. Histological special types of breast cancer preferentially oestrogen receptor negative. (A) Adenoid cystic carcinoma, (B) secretory carcinoma, (C) acinic-cell carcinoma, (D) apocrine carcinoma, (E) medullary carcinoma, (F) metaplastic carcinoma with heterologous elements, (G) metaplastic carcinoma with squamous metaplasia, (H) metaplastic spindle cell carcinoma, (I) metaplastic matrix-producing carcinoma (20). Permission for reuse granted 2023, © 2010 Federation of European Biochemical Societies

Histopathological grade refers to assessment of a tumour's degree of differentiation, which reflects the degree of resemblance the tumour cells bear to normal breast epithelial cells. The original protocol for histopathological tumour-grading was described and published by Bloom and Richardson in 1957 (22), and then revised by Elston and Ellis in 1991 (23). The Elston–Ellis modification of the Bloom-Richardson classification is commonly known as the Nottingham grading system (NGS). This grading system is still in use today when pathologists assess a BCs histopathological grade. The NGS is a semiquantitative assessment of three morphological characteristics: tubule/gland formation, nuclear atypia, and mitotic frequency (in 10 High Power Fields (HPF)). It can be performed on any BC tissue sample stained with Hematoxylin and Eosin (HE) (24). Grading itself is evaluated by a numerical scoring system of 1–3 per category (tubule formation; nuclear pleomorphism; mitotic count) (Table 1). The sum of the scores for each category indicates the histopathological grade (3-5: Grade 1; 6-7: Grade 2; 8-9: Grade 3) (Figure 6). There is a highly significant association between histopathological grade and prognosis; the prognosis is poorer with increasing grade (23, 25).

Feature	Score
Tubule formation	
Majority of tumour (>75%)	1
Moderate degree (10-75%)	2
Little or none (<10%)	3
Nuclear pleomorphism	
Small, regular uniform cells	1
Moderate increase in size and variability	2
Marked variation	3
Mitotic counts	
Score 1-3 dependent on microscope field area	1
	2
	3

Table 1: Features considered when grading by the Nottingham grading system. Table modified after Elston and Ellis (23).



Figure 6: Hematoxylin-eosin-saffron (HES)-stained breast cancer tissue. A: Invasive carcinoma, no special type (NST) grade 1, 400X; B: Invasive carcinoma (NST) grade 2, 400X; C: Invasive carcinoma (NST) grade 3, 400X. Photo: Breast Cancer Subtypes research group, NTNU.

Breast cancer stage is a combined result of various information, including tumour size, lymph node status and metastasis (TNM staging system) (26). The TNM staging system of cancer was initially developed by Dr. Denoix during the years from 1943 to 1952 and was first published by The Union for International Cancer Control (IUCC) in 1968 (27). In 2017 The American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) added biomarker status to a TNM breast cancer prognostic stage group (PSG) in the 8th version of the TNM Classification. The addition of biomarker as prognostic factor has later been validated by several studies, and biomarker status is now a part of BC staging (28-30). TNM staging according to TNM Classification are shown in Table 2 (not included biomarker assessment).

Stage	Tumour size	Nodes	Metastases
Stage IA	≤ 20mm	N0*	None
Stage IB	≤ 20mm	Nodal micrometastases (>0.2mm, <2.0mm)	None
Stage IIA	≤ 20mm	N1*	None
	>20mm ≤50mm	NO	None
Stage IIB	>20mm ≤50mm	N1	None
Stage IID	>50mm	NO	None
Stage IIIA	≤50mm	N2*	None
Stage IIIA	>50mm	N1 or N2	None
Stage IIIB	Extension to chest wall and/or skin	N0, N1 or N2	None
Stage IIIC	Any T	N3	None
Stage IV	Any T	Any N	Detected

Table 2: Staging of breast cancer according to the TNM-system (not included biomarker assessments) (26)

*N0 = no regional lymph node metastasis. N1= 1-3, N2= 4-9, N3 = \geq 10 axillary lymph nodes involved.

Breast cancer treatment

Breast cancer treatment can be highly effective, reaching 90% or higher chance for survival if treated, especially when the disease is identified early (31). Current treatment strategies generally include surgery and radiation therapy of the breast, lymph nodes and surrounding areas to control the disease, and systemic therapy to treat and/or reduce the risk of the cancer spreading (metastasis). Medical treatment includes endocrine (hormone) therapy, chemotherapy and targeted biological therapy (antibodies, immune receptors) (32-34).

In the past, all BCs were treated surgically by mastectomy (complete removal of the breast). Mastectomy may still be the best option for several reasons, such as large tumour size, known highrisk gene mutations, family history, patient preference, or lack of access to health care centres offering radiation therapy (35). Radiation therapy can prevent a woman from having to undergo a mastectomy. The majority of BCs can now be treated with "lumpectomy", or breast-conserving treatment (BCT) (36), which is a procedure where only the tumour and surrounding tissue is removed from the breast. Radiation therapy to the breast is generally required after BCT to minimize the risk of recurrence. Furthermore, radiation therapy can reduce cancer recurrence risk after a mastectomy. For advanced stage of BC radiation therapy may reduce the likelihood of dying of the disease.

Regional lymph nodes are also removed during surgery for invasive cancers. Until the 1990s, surgical removal of the entire lymph node bed under the arm was considered necessary for prevention of BC metastasis. This often led to pain, swelling, numbness, and reduced mobility in the affected arm. A smaller lymph node procedure called "sentinel node biopsy" is now preferred as it has fewer complications (34, 37). For this procedure a radioactive tracer and/or dye is used to find the first lymph node(s) to which cancer could spread from the breast (38).

Medical (non-surgical) treatments for BCs may be given before (neoadjuvant) or after (adjuvant) surgery and are largely determined by assessment of size, grade and stage of the tumour, and biomarker expression. Cancers that express oestrogen receptor (ER) and/or progesterone receptor (PR) are most likely given endocrine therapy such as tamoxifen or other hormone blocking medication. Currently, endocrine treatment has a treatment period for up to 10 years(39, 40), and is given to patients with tumours expressing $\geq 1\%$ ER, which is the current cut-off level (41), and the side-effects may affect the patient's quality of life considerably.

Some BCs may independently overexpress a receptor called HER2. The HER2 positive tumours may be treated by targeted biological agents such as the monoclonal antibody trastuzumab (42). When HER2-targeted therapy is given, it is often combined with chemotherapy (43). For patients with both HER2-positive and ER and/or PR-positive BC, clinicians may recommend either HER2-targeted therapy alone or, for selected patients, hormone-targeted therapy plus HER2targeted therapy, or endocrine therapy alone (42).

The heterogeneous nature of BC and new treatment options demands a detailed assessment of the tumour's totality, including morphological features, biomarker assessment and geneexpression analysis (4). The effectiveness of BC therapies depends on a precise evaluation of predictive biomarkers and adherence to the prescribed course of treatment. Incomplete treatment is less likely to lead to a positive outcome (44-46). The ongoing investigation of new BC biomarkers could lead to new targets for treatment and improved personalized treatment to patients who may be over- or undertreated with current therapeutic strategies.

Biomarkers in medicine

Biomarkers used in medicine include measurements of blood pressure, and heart rate, x-ray findings, and complex molecular and genetic tests of blood and other tissues. Biomarkers provide measurable data and do not tell how a person feels or functions (47). Biomarkers can be characteristic biological properties or molecules that can be detected and measured in parts of the body like blood or tissue. They may indicate either normal or pathological processes in the body. Biomarkers can be specific cells, molecules, or genes, gene products, enzymes or hormones (48).

A biomarker is defined by the American National Cancer Institute as "a biological molecule found in blood, other body fluids, or tissues that is a sign of a normal or abnormal process, or of a condition or disease" (49). Cancer biomarkers are biological molecules that can predict the risk of developing cancer (risk biomarkers), detect or confirm the presence of cancer (diagnostic biomarkers), measure risk of cancer progression (prognostic biomarker), or potential response to therapy (predictive biomarkers). They are either produced by the tumour itself or by the body in response to the tumour.

Using immunohistochemistry (IHC) and *in situ* hybridization (ISH) to identify biomarkers in tissue sections, we can observe and assess the activity of the tumour.

Biomarkers in breast cancer

Breast cancer biomarkers play a central role when searching for the right diagnosis and treatment for BC patients.

Breast cancer is heterogeneous in both its morphological appearance and prognosis (50). Current diagnostic and treatment guidelines are based on pathologists' evaluation of tumour size, histopathological type, grade, lymph node- and resection margin status in addition to TNM stage, and assessment of a number of biomarkers: ER and PR, HER2 and the proliferation marker Ki-67 (34, 51). It is also possible to classify BCs into molecular subtypes with differing prognoses based on analysis of gene expression using cDNA microarray technology (52). More recently, commercially available gene expression panels are also in use to stratify BC cases into molecular subtypes, and thereby determine treatment (53, 54). These analyses are costly and may not be affordable for all laboratories worldwide, or for researchers who wish to study a few new biomarkers. However, IHC and ISH can be used as surrogates for gene expression analyses enabling us to reclassify formalinfixed, paraffin-embedded (FFPE) BC tissue into molecular subtypes and study their associations with prognosis at a lower cost (55, 56). Currently, biomarker assessment is largely done by visual assessment (VA) of the biomarkers by a pathologist under the light microscope. A main criticism of this approach is that it is highly variable and subject to intra- and interobserver variation. Digital image analysis (DIA) could enable us to adress the issue of inter- and intraobserver variability in the assessment of biomarkers (57-59).

Clinical biomarkers

Oestrogen Receptor

The discovery of endocrine therapy dates back to the late 1800s, early 1900s. Several studies, within the period 1886-1896, where bovine ovarian tissue was given as oral therapy to women experiencing menopausal symptoms showed remarkable symptomatic improvement for these women (60). Sir George Beatson proposed a connection between BC and the ovary in a publication from 1896 (61, 62). The hormone oestrogen was discovered in 1923 (63) and the ER was discovered in 1958 (64). The discovery of ER led a greater understanding of how hormones control the target gene expression through their receptors (65, 66). Now it is well-established that the presence of both ER and PR in a BC tumour indicates good response to endocrine therapy (67). Oestrogen receptor expression is associated with prognosis and is used to determine endocrine treatment. It is therefore considered to be both a prognostic and predictive biomarker.

Oestrogen receptor-signaling is the primary driver for ER-positive BCs, and inhibition of ER signaling has improved patient survival of ER-positive BC patients (68, 69). Expression of ER is seen in more than 70% of BC cases. Oestrogen receptor status is usually determined by IHC and \geq 1% positive tumour cell nuclei is regarded as ER positive (70).

Until the 1990s, ER protein expression was measured using a ligand-binding assay (LBA) with cut-off for ER-positivity at \geq 10 fmol/mg cytosol protein, which relied on analyses of frozen tumour tissue. Initially, upon introduction of IHC staining, the binding of hormone receptor–specific antibodies were only successful on frozen tissue sections. As antigen retrieval methods developed during the early 1990s, and new antibodies allowed for application to routinely FFPE tissues, IHC became the best choice for ER and PR assessment and determining treatment options (71). To start with, the cut-off for ER positivity in IHC was set at 10%, since approximately 7% of normal breast epithelial cells express ER at any given time (72). The ER \geq 1% cut-off level for endocrine treatment was first introduced in Norway in 2011 after recommendations in the ASCO/CAP guidelines published in 2010 (Figure 7) (41). However, pathologists should also report ER \geq 10% and \geq 50% (34, 73). Studies suggest that endocrine therapy may need to be further personalized (74, 75), as it is only logical to assume that there is a noteworthy difference between tumours with ER levels at, for example, 3% positivity, compared to tumours with ER at 85%. Studies have found that tumours with

ER 1-9%, accounting for approximately 3% of all ER-positive cancers, have a less favorable prognosis than tumours with ER \geq 10%. The ER Low Positive tumours often have a basal-like genomic signature (76) and respond to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in a similar way as triple-negative BCs (77). Studies have also shown that outcomes for tumors with ER 1-9% lie between outcomes for ER-negative and ER \geq 10% (78).



Figure 7: Positive nuclear oestrogen receptor expression. A: ER Low Positive (ER 1-9%); B: ER High Positive (ER ≥50%). Photo: Breast Cancer Subtypes research group, NTNU.

Progesterone Receptor

Progesterone is a hormone involved in the female menstrual cycle, maintenance of pregnancy and embryogenesis by binding to progesterone receptors. The name derives from latin *pro gestatiem* after these characteristics of involvement in processes preceding pregnancy or gestation (79).

The progesterone receptor regulates ER expression in BC; the *PGR* gene is an upregulated ER target gene, and PR expression depends on the presence of estrogen (80). Thus, PR expression may serve as an indicator of a functional ER-signaling pathway. Similar to ER, PR expression is observed in tumour cell nuclei on IHC. High expression of PR is more frequently observed in tumors with a good prognosis (Luminal A) than in tumors with a poor prognosis. In ER positive BC, negative PR is found to be associated with high risk of recurrence (81) and have a worse prognosis than ER and PR-positive tumours (82). Like ER, PR was initially measured by LBA, but is now assessed by IHC, and cut-off for positivity is \geq 1% according to ASCO/CAP guidelines (73). If BCs express PR, but not ER, this may be an indication of residual function of ER or technical artifacts of IHC (81, 83, 84).

Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2

Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) is part of the epidermal growth factor receptor family, which comprises epidermal growth factor receptors (EGFR)/HER1, HER2, HER3, and HER4, and controls cell growth, survival, differentiation, and migration (85, 86). Breast cancer cells that overexpress HER2 generally have a higher proliferation than HER2 negative tumours (87). HER2 positive BC accounts for 20–25% of all BCs. They are aggressive and associated with poor prognosis (88, 89). HER2 is expressed on the tumour cell membrane and may be detected using IHC. Increased copy number of the *HER2* gene is associated with high protein expression and may be detected using FISH (42).

While HER2 overexpression in BC is associated with aggressive cancer, it responds well to BC treatment targeting the HER2-molecule (90). Multiple HER2-targeted therapies have been developed over the last few years, including the monoclonal antibody trastuzumab, which was approved in the early 1990s, (91) followed by tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKI) lapatinib, neratinib, tucatinib, and pyrotinib (92-94). These drugs target and block HER2 or other receptors of the epidermal growth factor receptor family (95).

Ki-67, proliferation biomarker

Maintenance of continued proliferative signaling is one of the original hallmarks of cancer (17). The proliferative activity of a tumour cell provides important information about the growth of the tumour. Ki-67 is a nuclear antigen associated with cell proliferation (96). It is present in all active phases of the cell cycle (97, 98). Ki-67 was first discovered by Gerdes et al in 1983 (99). Ki-67 levels are low in the G1 and S phases, and peak during mitosis (100). To assess the proliferative activity of cells, Ki-67 antigens are usually stained by IHC using a Ki-67 antibody such as MIB1 (101). In assessment, the percentage positive tumour cell nuclei are reported (102). High values are associated with a poorer prognosis (103-107). As such, Ki-67 should be regarded as a prognostic biomarker. The proliferation marker Ki-67 is one of the biomarkers used to identify subpopulations of patients who are more likely to respond to chemotherapy (98). In this context, Ki-67 acts as a predictive biomarker.

According to recommendations from the International Ki-67 in Breast Cancer Working Group, only positive-staining nuclei and mitotic figures should be scored, regardless of staining intensity (102). Between 500 and 1000 tumour cell nuclei should be counted in hotspot areas. They underline that Ki-67 levels between 5% and 30% are subject to considerable interobserver and interlaboratory variability. They suggest that only very low (< 5%) or very high (≥ 30) levels should be considered clinically actionable (108). Despite Ki-67 being a well-established proliferation marker,

23

there is still controversy regarding the reproducibility of its assessment and cut-off levels, and its role as a predictive marker. A number of studies have been conducted in search for the optimal Ki-67 cut-off (58, 109-113). Some of these studies found that a cut-off at 20% for Ki-67 is appropriate in distinguishing between patients who should or should not receive adjuvant chemotherapy (109, 111). Inter- and intraobserver assessment of Ki-67 is poor (58, 114), inter- and intralaboratory cut-offs vary, and it has been suggested that each laboratory should calculate its own median Ki-67 value before estimating cut-offs for Ki-67-High, -Intermediate and -Low expression levels (115). More recently, some have recommended the use of automated digital analysis to improve assessment of Ki-67 (116-119). Further controversy has concerned the optimal number of cell nuclei to be assessed. Most guidelines recommend counting between 500 and 1000 tumour cell nuclei. However, counting a high number of nuclei in and around a hotspot may lead to hotspot dilution and a lower proliferation index potentially resulting in poorer prognostic value (113).



Figure 8: Ki-67 positive nuclear expression, A: Ki-67 <15%, B: Ki-67 >90%. Photo: Breast Cancer Subtypes research group, NTNU.

Ki-67 expression can be used to distinguish between the Luminal A and the Luminal B (HER2 negative) subgroups. Figure 9 shows a simplified algorithm for current clinical guidelines for treatment according to biomarker assessment.

Early Breast Cancer CLINICAL PRACTICE GUIDELINES ER-negative ER-positive (Neo)Adjuvant systemic treatment HER2-positiv HER2-positive TNBC HER2-negative Treatment choice by marker expression and intrinsic phenotype (Neo)-adjuvant systemic treatment choice by marker expression and intrinsic phenotype. Special histological types[†], N0, no other risk factors Ductal Luminal A Luminal B Luminal B *With possible exception of selected cases with very low risk T1abN0. "Anti-HER2: trastuzumab ± pertuzumab. [†]Adenoid cystic or apocrine, secretory carcinoma, ChT[§] nti-HER2 + ET ChT* + anti-HER FT ChT low-grade metaplastic carcinoma Ch1 or Ch ET ± ChT⁴ [‡] Depending on level of ER and PgR expression, proliferation, genomically assessed risk, tumour burden and/or patient preference.

⁶ Except for very low-risk patients T1abN0 for whom ET/anti-HER2 therapy alone can be considered.



© 2019 ESMO. All rights reserved. esmo.org/Guidelines/Breast-Cancer/Early-Breast-Cancer

Figure 9: Algorithm for biomarker assessment in breast cancer and treatment according to European Society for Medical Oncology. © Copyright 2023 European Society for Medical Oncology. All rights reserved worldwide.

PAK1

P21-activated kinases (PAKs) are a group of serine/threonine protein kinases which consists of six isoforms (*PAK1*–6). They are overexpressed in BC, colon cancer and lung cancer, and in neurofibromatosis (120), as well as in other human tumours. PAKs play an important role in proliferation, cytoskeletal dynamics, and cell survival (120, 121). Their roles in these cell processes make them potential therapeutic targets. More is known of the functions of PAK1 and PAK4, than of the other isoforms (122, 123).

PAK1 is located on chromosome 11 (q13.5-q14.1). Increase in CN of *PAK1* and high PAK1 protein levels are found in BC, and several other human cancers (124-126). Copy number increase and high protein levels of PAK1 are linked to aggressive tumour types, chemotherapy resistance and poor prognosis (121, 127-131). In 2000, Mira *et al.* found that *PAK1* had an important role in BC proliferation (132). Since then, *PAK1* has been found to regulate several signaling pathways in BC (121, 133-138). *PAK1* amplification has recently been found to be significantly associated with reduced relapse-free survival of ER-positive BC patients (136). Cyclin D1 (CCND1) is found to be overexpressed in breast cancer, and studies have shown that *PAK1* regulates CCND1 expression in BC (125, 139). *PAK1* and *CCND1* are both located on the chromosomal band 11q13, which are

amplified in 15-20% of BCs (140). Co-amplification of genes located here has been found to be associated with poor prognosis in breast cancer (141). Increased *PAK1* CN could be a predictive marker for the effect of endocrine treatment (131, 142, 143).



Figure 10: Increased copy number of P21-activated kinase 1 gene (*PAK1*) in breast cancer cell nuclei. Red fluorescent signals show PAK1 gene loci, green signals show centromere probe CEP11 loci in the nuclei. Cell nuclei are stained with DAPI. Photo: Breast Cancer Subtypes research group, NTNU.

Laboratory methods

Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemistry is a laboratory method for visualizing localization and distribution of cellular components such as proteins or other macromolecules (antigens) in tissue sections or cells. The method is based on antibody-antigen interactions to detect and visualize selected antigens. This is known as immunostaining or immunodetection and is an important tool to identify abnormal cells in diseases such as cancer or to stratify patients into optimized treatment regimes. The IHC technique was first introduced in 1941 by Albert Coons (144) and is now widely used in health care and pathology. Fluorescence was initially used for visualization, but later the method was developed for FFPE tissue using chromogens and assessment under a light microscope (145, 146).

The most important feature of the primary antibody is its specificity for the target antigen. The specific antigen location with affinity to the antibody is referred to as the epitope. For FFPE tissue, the reactivity between the antigen and the epitope must be restored through a process called antigen- or epitope-retrieval, which is a reversing of the effect of formalin fixation in the tissue for access to the antigen. This is usually done by enzymatic reactions or by heating of the sections (147149). The target epitope can be stained either directly, through a label that is directly conjugated to the primary antibody, or indirectly, using a labeled secondary antibody bound to the primary antibody. The indirect staining method is more commonly used, since two or more labeled secondary antibodies are able to bind to a single primary antibody, the result is increased signal and an increase in the analytical sensitivity (easier to detect areas with less antigen receptors) (Figure 11). Both monoclonal and polyclonal antibodies are available and can be used for antigen visualization. The monoclonal antibodies bind to one specific epitope/ antigen, while the polyclonal antibodies will bind to several epitopes. Thus, monoclonal antibodies will provide a more specific binding and visualization of a specific antigen, and polyclonal antibodies can give more non-specific staining, but will be more robust. The antibody is detected using either a fluorescent label, or an enzyme that converts a soluble substrate into a visible chromogenic product (most commonly 3,3'- Diaminobenzidine (DAB)).



Figure 11. Indirect immunohistochemistry (IHC). Image credit: The Humane Protein Atlas (https://v15.proteinatlas.org/learn/method/immunohistochemistry)

There are some limitations to be aware of using IHC, as the method involves many steps in the laboratory, and any complications from any of these steps will in many cases impact the results. Variables impacting the IHC method can be assigned to the preanalytical, analytical or postanalytical phases (shown in Table 3). Some pre-analytical variables are often beyond the laboratory's control, such as the time from surgery until the specimen is placed in formalin (150)

Table 3: Steps and va	riables in the imm	unohistochemical	process (14	17. 150):
Table of otopo and ta		anoniotoonicinioan	p. 00000 (=	, _00,.

	Steps	Variables
Preanalytical	Tissue sampling	Delayed fixation, prolonged ischemia, thickness of sample
	Fixation	etc
	Decalcification	Type of fixative and duration of fixation
	Tissue processing	Type of solution and duration
		Frozen tissues or FFPE
		Section thickness, drying temperatures and duration, storage
	Tissue sectioning	times and temperatures
Analytical	Deparaffination	Dewaxing solution
	Epitope retrieval	Detergents, enzymes, HIER
	Blocking non-	Endogenous enzymes, hydrophobic binding, pigments
	specific reactants	
	Primary antibody	
	Detection system	Monoclonal or polyclonal, specificity, species
	Enzyme-substrate	Avidin-biotin or polymer-based, ultrasensitive methods
	Chromogen	Color-detection
	Multiplex IHC	
	Counterstain	Enzyme-substrate combinations
		Contrast
Postanalytical	Positive and	Species compatibility, tissue processing
	negative controls	
	Interpretation	Pathologist or automated assessment
	Report	Percentage, cut-offs for pos/neg, type of scoring system,
		morphological context, misinterpretation, inadequate
		statistical analyses etc

Fluorescence in situ hybridization

In situ hybridization is a laboratory technique which allows for detection of specific RNA or DNA molecules in tissue- or cell samples (151). *In situ* means "in its original place". Since its introduction in 1969 by Gall and Pardue (152) the method has a wide variety of uses due to its capability of

visualizing nucleic acid sequences without altering the cell's cytological, chromosomal or histological integrity. In 1980 Bauman et al introduced FISH (153). Fluorescence in situ hybridization has become an established method in pathology laboratories. The probes are labeled by fluorescent dyes that produce bright clear signals upon excitation in a fluorescence microscope (151). Fluorescence *in situ* hybridization is used for many purposes, for example analyses of chromosomal damage or gene mutations, gene mapping, in clinical diagnostics, and also in molecular toxicology and cross-species chromosome investigations. The method allows for identification and localization of regions of DNA or RNA within samples such as fixed cells or tissue sections (154). This technique is used not only in research laboratories, but also in diagnostics, prognostics and disease-monitoring in health care (155).

Figure 12 illustrates the FISH principle. In this technique, the double-stranded DNA are first denatured at high temperature and then hybridized with a fluorescent dye. The target in ISH on tissue sections may be whole interphase chromosomes and/or specific loci on chromosomes. This technique is commonly used to assess *HER2* CN in BCs (156, 157).



Figure 12: Fluorescence in situ hybridization. Figure Courtesy: National Human Genome Research Institute (https://www.genome.gov/genetics-glossary/Fluorescence-In-Situ-Hybridization)



Figure 13: Fluorescence signals of A: Normal copy number of topoisomerase 2A (*TOP2A*) in breast cancer nuclei; B: Increased copy number of *TOP2A*; Red fluorescent signals show *TOP2A*, and green signals show the centromere probe *CEP17*. Photo: Breast Cancer Subtypes research group, NTNU.

An advantage of FISH is the opportunity to visualize signals for multiple probes at the same time or separately by simply changing filters in the fluorescence microscope. Other advantages are the high sensitivity with little to no background disturbance, as well as the advantage of assessing gene signals in specific tissue areas (e.g., tumour tissue). One drawbacks of this technique are the short-lived nature of the fluorescent signals. Unlike the insoluble products of some enzymatic reactions used in IHC, fluorescent dyes fade over time, and bleach out rapidly while illuminated during observation under the microscope, and if stored in artificial light or daylight.

Tissue microarray

Construction of tissue microarrays (TMA) allows for combinations of tens to hundreds of paraffinembedded tissue specimens in one single paraffin block. This makes it possible to assemble a great number of different tissues, or pathological structures from the same organ, on the same slide for the same analyses (158, 159). Small tissue cylinders (usually 0.6-2.0mm in diameter) are punched out from selected regions of a donor blocks using a thin stainless-steel tube. Hematoxylin-eosinsaffron (HES)-stained sections laid over the donor block help guide sampling from representative areas of the FFPE tissue sample. The small tissue cylinder from the donor block are then transferred to a predefined and arrayed coordinated position in the recipient TMA-paraffin block (Figure 14) (159). Tissue microarray paraffin blocks may then be cut and stained for IHC and ISH in the same way as other FFPE tissue blocks.


Figure 14: The process of tissue microarray (TMA) construction at our laboratory. The representative areas were selected and marked by a pathologist on a full-face tissue HES-stained tissue sections. 1mm cylinder cores were punched out from the area in the donor block and transferred to a recipient/TMA-block. Sections were cut from recipient block and stained with HES and selected biomarkers. Figure by LA. Dyrnes, Breast Cancer Subtypes research group, NTNU

Preparation and construction of TMA blocks require a considerable amount of work prior to use, compared to routine tissue blocks. However, the output of the work is rewarded as TMAsections use less reagents per sample, assessment takes less time, and less tissue from the donor block is used (158). TMA is particularly beneficial for studying large historic cohorts, or tissue samples of limited size, or from rare conditions (160). Another advantage of TMA is that since all samples are gathered in one tissue slide, they will undergo the exact same procedure at the same time. Should it not be possible to reach a conclusion based on the information in the spot in the TMA block, it is possible to go back and make a full-face section of that particular tumour later. In most cases loss of TMA spots is a challenge, and it may be useful to choose more than one tissue cylinder from one sample, to make sure that at least one representative spot from the original tissue block is available for interpretation (161).



Figure 15: HES-stained sections from a tissue microarray block with 1mm in diameter cores/spots. Photo: Breast Cancer Subtypes research group, NTNU

When staining TMAs, preanalytical conditions may result in varying staining intensity. Examples of such preanalytical conditions are type of fixative used, duration of fixation, processing procedure and storage conditions of donor blocks prior to TMA construction, in addition to the inherent tissue quality (Table 3) (160, 162, 163). In research based on historical material, we often have little or no control over these preanalytical conditions.

During TMA construction, or during the staining procedure some of the core spots may go missing or get damaged. Some of the cylinders may contain areas of tissue that holds no valuable information, due to inaccuracy during construction. Typically, the spots may fold (Figure 16), making the tissue uninterpretable, and if the spot is lost, the area initially marked in the donor block as most interesting, will be irretrievable. Missing tissue in a TMA block can also be caused by cylinders falling deep into the well in the recipient block or if they get stuck on the way down into the recipient well. The core cylinder is approximately 3 mm long, though this depends on the thickness of the donor block and the content of tumour tissue. Thus, the core not necessarily contain tumour tissue throughout the entire cylinder.



Figure 16: Examples of folded spots on TMA sections. Folding may affect large or small areas. Photo from "The Efficacy of Tissue Microarray in a Large, Historic Breast Cancer Cohort Study" (unpublished), SH Isaksen, 2014, Breast Cancer Subtypes research group, NTNU

When the cylinders are mounted, the tissue in the cylinder may have a concave or convex surface relative to the surface of the TMA block. This phenomenon will create a spot that looks like a donut when the TMA block is cut (Figure 17), or only a small circle in the middle.



Figure 17: Examples of a successful spot on the left and spot with "donut"-effect on the right. Photo from "The Efficacy of Tissue Microarray in a Large, Historic Breast Cancer Cohort Study" (unpublished), SH Isaksen, 2014, Breast Cancer Subtypes research group, NTNU

Assessing biomarkers in TMAs from only one small biopsy or preselected area (spot) has been shown to have similar correlation with risk and survival compared to when the pathologist assesses an entire full-face section (164, 165). Several studies have shown good concordance between TMA and WS assessment of biomarkers (166-168), even though heterogeneity of tumours is considered an issue with TMA. Digitization of TMA slides greatly reduces difficulties with orientation within the TMA block. Each spot is assigned an ID upon scanning, and it enables the reviewer to easily switch back and forth between images of spots. This enables comparison between the spots, while still maintaining a good overview.

Digital pathology

Digital Pathology (DP) involves converting an optical image captured from a microscopy glass slide into a digital image which can be stored, uploaded, shared, viewed and analysed on a computer. Digital pathology has its roots back in the 1960s, when telepathology was introduced as a means for pathologists to collaborate across distances (169). The term first became established in the late 1990s along with the introduction of the first whole slide image (WSI) scanners (170-172). Over the last decades, advances in software, processing power and cloud-based storage solutions have enabled the use of digital images for a wide variety of purposes in pathology. As a result, more and more pathology departments have implemented digital imaging for tasks such as image archiving, sharing digital slides and digital image analysis (173-176).

Whole slide image scanners have become more and more affordable and are slowly becoming the accepted solution for research laboratories and routine diagnostics laboratories (177, 178). Implementation of digital pathology in routine laboratories still has its challenges on technical, logistical, and financial levels. Whole slide image scanners are cleared for use in the European Union under directive 98/79/EC of the European Commission for in vitro diagnostics (in vitro diagnostic medical device directive (IVDD)) (179, 180). As of May 2022, developers of all in-vitro medical devices, including WSI scanners and digital pathology standalone software, such as WSI viewers or automated image analysis for specific tasks (e.g., immunohistochemical quantification), can also apply for and receive the CE mark IVD-MD for medical devices under the new in vitro diagnostic medical device regulation (IVDR) of the European Parliament. An approval requires a performance report which includes a scientific validity report and an analytical and clinical performance report (181). Table 4: Pros and cons in digital pathology. Copyright © 2020 by the authors (178). Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. Redistributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/)

Digital Pathology	Possible Advantages	Possible Disadvantages
Feature		
In-house telepathology	Quick second opinion Social distancing (COVID-19 pandemic)	Second opinion overuse (interrupted workflows). Less face-to-face communication.
Remote telepathology	Service for remote areas. Specialization through DP in low volume labs. Home-office use. Healthcare cost reduction through global histopathology market.	Social isolation in remote telepathology. Loss of routine on-site expertise through home office. Wage competition through global histopathology market.
Consultation telepathology	Quick access possible. No physical slide transfer. Lower threshold for consultation due to shorter turnaround time.	No tissue blocks available for additional stains/molecular assays. Consulted pathologist unaccustomed to work-up (stains/scanner calibration) at the primary center. Compatibility issues due to diverse proprietary DP formats. Possible medico-legal implications due to restricted work-up.
WSI-general	No physical slide distribution. No fading of stored slides. No irretrievable/lost slides. Shorter sign-out time. Reduced misidentification of slides due to barcoded slides automatically allocated to the case. Easy dynamic workload allocation (e.g., management of backlogged work, redistribution in case of sick leave).	Time to evaluable-ready slide increased due to additional scan time. Integration into a laboratory information system (LIS) for full efficiency gains needed → possible costs for LIS update. Regular calibration required (scanners/displays). Small particles omitted by scan → manual checking for rescan. Artifacts (out-of-focus areas, digital stitching artifacts). Increased IT-dependence (IT-downtime) compared to optical microscopy.
WSI-reporting/user experience	Parallel (side-by-side) viewing, digital slide superposition. Shorter sign-out time. Quick access to prior slides → less immunohistochemistry. Facilitates slide presentation at multidisciplinary tumor board.	Slower evaluation compared to optical microscopes Mostly only single focus plane in routine DP → difficulties with interpretation Some structures harder to recognize on WSI → glass slide needed Polarization not possible on DP → glass slide

Digital Pathology	Dessible Adventages	Dessible Disadvantana
Feature	Possible Advantages	Possible Disadvantages
	Easy image sharing in clinical communication. Computational pathology possible (see below). Occupational health: less neck strain, more flexible posture.	needed Extra training for safe practice required (perceived insecurity on digital sign-out) if not DP from career start Easy availability of prior digital slides might shift medico-legal onus towards more extensive re-examination → increased workload Dual infrastructure generally necessary (glass and digital) Occupational health: Computer Vision Syndrome (CVS)
WSI-Image Analysis, ML/AI	Faster/efficient and more accurate measurements/quantifications. Exact quantification of tumor cell content for molecular analyses. Digital enhancement of image features. Al for second-read safety net. Direct link morphology to clinical parameters "novel biomarker" beyond human recognition. Inspection/correction of suggestions from Al-apps in development on WSI-viewer: "human-in-the-loop" interaction.	Benefit of more accurate quantification not necessarily clinically relevant. Applications beyond human evaluation not yet approved/used for clinical management. Al intransparent ("black box"). Regulatory oversight challenges with self- modifying (adaptive) AI as algorithm/performance not constant over time.
WSI-education	Digital images for presentation and exams readily available. Remote teaching and self-study. Increased student motivation, modern appeal.	None.
Costs and efficiency gains	Work time saved through faster turnaround times. Decreased additional techniques (less immunohistochemistry). Decreased physical slide-transfer costs.	DP implementation and maintenance and storage costs add to current fixed costs if productivity gains remain unrealized (fixed work contracts). Dual infrastructure costs (workstations and microscopes if kept). Glass and digital storage still necessary. Technical expert knowledge for hardware acquisitions needed.

WSI: whole slide imaging, AI: artificial intelligence, ML: machine learning

Automated estimation of biomarkers using DIA offers a less subjective approach and is more reproducible and accurate than traditional VA under a microscope (177). A recent meta-analysis that included twenty-five biomarker-studies and a total of 10 410 histology samples indicated an equivalent performance of DP compared to the use of conventional light microscopy. Overall concordance showed an agreement percentage of 98.3% between the digital assessments compared to the clinicians decisions in light microscope (9).

Most of the WSI scanner systems available today use either line scanning or tile scanning, both of which generate multiple smaller images (in the form of lines or tiles) of high resolution. The lines or tiles are then aligned and stitched together to recreate the image of the original whole tissue section. Collecting image data is achieved using a carefully controlled motorized scanning stage or objective assembly. Most systems include scanning at 10X, 20X and 40X magnification. These magnifications can be adjusted as in the light microscope, though the system is motorized and controlled using a computer. Some systems can also scan under oil immersion at 60X. Whole slide image scanners can scan brightfield slides and fluorescent slides.

The primary challenges of DP are the initial investment in expensive equipment, the growing number of software available with very specific uses, and lack of standardized protocols and reporting systems (Table 4). Among advantages of DP is increased flexibility, enabling the pathologist and/or students to work out of office, easy transfer from one person to another for consultation and collaboration purposes, and advanced software available for tissue assessment and evaluation. In diagnostics, it is often necessary to re-evaluate previous biopsies from the same patient. This is more easily done digitally, compared to having to visit the physical slide-archive to search for the old tissue slide in question.

Global perspective

Breast cancer survival for up to 5 years after diagnosis ranges from more than 90% in high-income countries, to 66% in India and 40% in South Africa according to WHO (1) (Figures 18 and 19). Early detection and improved treatment has proven to be successful for preventing death from BC in high-income countries. Implementation of screening- and diagnostic programs is still limited in some countries. The great majority of drugs used for BC are already on the WHO Essential Medicines List (EML). Making this treatment available for all could result in major global improvements in BC survival.



Estimated cumulative risk of incidence in 2020, breast, females, ages 0-74

Figure 18: Incidence of breast cancer worldwide 2020 (1)



Estimated cumulative risk of mortality in 2020, breast, females, ages 0-74

Figure 19: Mortality of breast cancer worldwide 2020 (1)

Aims

The main aim of this thesis was to study biomarkers with new and different approaches, and to investigate the properties of a new biomarker. More specifically, the aims were to investigate and to further optimize the use of current clinical biomarkers (Ki-67 and ER) and to investigate the relevance of *PAK1* CN in BC.

In Paper 1 we evaluated and counted cells expressing Ki-67 in BC patients using both conventional microscopy and digital image analysis.

In Paper 2 we studied *PAK1* CN in a series of BC patients to evaluate its potential as a biomarker with prognostic value.

In Paper 3 we studied ER expression in a series of BC patients to evaluate different levels of ER expression and their associations with tumour characteristics and time of diagnosis, and prognosis.

Materials and methods

Study populations

This study comprises women from three population-based surveys conducted in Trøndelag county, Norway. Information on BC incidence was obtained from the Cancer registry of Norway, date of death, and/or emigration was acquired from Statistics Norway, and causes of death from the Norwegian Cause of Death Registry. Pathology reports and FFPE tissue from the primary tumours and axillary lymph node metastases were retrieved from the Department of Pathology at St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Norway.

Tissue Microarray (TMA) blocks were made from the archival diagnostic tissue using the TissueArrayer Minicore with TMA Designer2 software (Alphelys). Three 1-mm diameter tissue cylinders from the periphery of the FFPE primary tumours and corresponding axillary lymph node metastases were transferred to TMA recipient blocks. TMA sections (4µm) were cut and stained. Reclassification of tumours into histological type and grade were determined on full-face sections for all cases in all three cohorts before reclassification into molecular subtypes was done based on biomarker assessment of TMAs (56, 182, 183)

Cohort 1: A population-based survey for the early detection of BC was conducted in the county of Nord-Trøndelag, Norway, between 1956 and 1959. The study included 25 727 women born 1886-1928 (184). These women were followed for BC occurrence, through linkage with data from the Cancer Registry of Norway. During the follow-up years, between 1961 and 2008, 1393 new BCs were registered. Of these, 909 cases were classified according to histological type, grade and molecular subtype(56). Patients were followed from time of BC diagnosis until time of death or until December 31st, 2015.

Cohort 2: The second survey was conducted between 1995 and 1997. In this study, all women in Nord-Trøndelag County aged 20 years or older were invited to participate in the second wave of the HUNT Study in Nord-Trøndelag (185). A total of 34 221 women born between 1897 and 1977 participated. From attendance until December 31st, 2009, 728 women were diagnosed with BC. Of these, 157 were already included in Cohort 1. Of the remaining tumours, 57 were unavailable for subtyping, resulting in a total of 514 tumours from Cohort 2 that were available for classification according to histopathological type, grade and molecular subtype(182). After diagnosis, these patients were followed until death from BC or death from other causes, or until December 31st, 2015.

Cohort 3: The cohort includes women who were born at E.C. Dahls Foundation Hospital, Trondheim, between 1920 and 1966. After excluding 524 twins, 111 triplets, 32 women with missing information on plurality, and 12 women whose identity could not be determined with certainty, 22 931 women born between 1920 and 1966 were eligible for BC follow-up until the end of 2015. Follow-up ended when a cancer (at any site) was diagnosed, at emigration or at death (from any cause), or on December 31st, 2015, whichever occurred first. During follow-up, a total of 870 women were diagnosed with BC. Among them, 598 were diagnosed at St. Olav's Hospital. Archival diagnostic tissue was available for all these 598 patients, and molecular subtyping was successful for 537 of these cases (183).

The study population for Paper I comprises 248 of the 654 BC patients with invasive carcinoma NST from Cohort 1, previously described by Engstrøm et al(56).

The study population for Paper II includes 512 BC cases from Cohort 1.

The study population for Paper III includes 1955 BC cases from all three cohorts.

Immunohistochemistry

For the study of Ki-67 (paper I), the Ki-67 antibody was applied (Clone MIB1, 35 mg/L, 1:100, Dako Denmark A/S, Glostrup, Denmark) on 4 µm thick full-face sections.

Digital image analysis

The Ki-67 IHC-stained slides were digitally scanned at 40X magnification with a resolution of 0.23 μ m/pixel using Hamamatsu NanoZoomer S360 Digital Slide Scanner C13220-01 (Inter Instruments AS) at the Department of Pathology, St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Norway. The digital images were analysed for Ki-67 protein expression using the open-source, DIA software QuPath v. 0.1.2 (57).

Hamamatsu NanoZoomer S360 Digital Slide Scanner C13220-01

The Hamamatsu NanoZoomer S360 is an advanced digital slide scanner equipped with a manual slide loader system capable of scanning up to 360 standard slides, including corresponding metadata. It delivers high-resolution images for detailed histopathological examintaion.

QuPath software

QuPath is an open-source digital pathology image analysis software developed at Queen's University, Belfast. It can be used for tumour identification and automated assessment of IHCstained tissue (57, 186). Several studies have used QuPath as a tool for validation and systematic scoring of several biomarkers (118, 186, 187).

Fluorescence in situ hybridization

For the study of *PAK1* and CEP11 CN (paper II), FISH was done on TMA sections using DAKO Histology FISH Accessory Kit K 579911 according to the manufacturer's instructions. *PAK1* (3 µL, PAK1-20-RE, SpectrumRed fluorochrome Empire Genomics) and CEP11 (3 µL, CEP11 [D11Z19], SpectrumGreen fluorochrome, VYSIS) probes were used. Nuclei were stained with DAPI (4',6-Diamidine-2'phenylindole dihydrochloride).

Statistical analyses

In all three papers, survival analyses were carried out estimating Cumulative incidence of BC death and Cox proportional hazard ratios. In the first study on Ki-67 assessment using VA and DIA, we used Bland-Altman plot to compare the two methods.

Pearson's Chi²-test

Pearson's Chi² analysis were used to assess associations between categories of VA and DIA (Ki-67 Low, Intermediate and High) (Paper I), *PAK1* CN (Paper II), ER levels (Paper III) and different tumour characteristics, and for assessment of associations between *PAK1* and *CCND1* CN (Paper II). The test estimates X² by comparing the observed and expected values in a two-by-two table and calculates a corresponding p-values. The Chi² test is not applicable for small populations and should not be used if n<5 (188).

Cumulative incidence of death from breast cancer and Gray's test

Cumulative incidence of death from BC was calculated for VA100, VA500, DIA100 and DIA500 (Paper I). In paper II cumulative incidence of BC death was calculated according to mean *PAK1* CN (<4, \geq 4<6, \geq 6; and <4, \geq 4), and for Paper III according to ER levels both before and after 1995 (unlikely to have received, or likely to have received adjuvant hormone therapy). Death from other causes was treated as a competing event. Estimations of cumulative incidence curves of BC death was chosen since the method acknowledges that risk of death from cancer may be influenced by the risk of death from other causes (189). For example, a BC patient who dies from heart disease a year after her BC diagnosis, will not die of BC. If the risk of death by heart disease is high in a given population, it will affect the population's risk of death by cancer.

The cumulative incidence of death from BC can be defined as the risk of dying from BC over a given time (F(t)), given that the person has not died from other causes. When estimating cumulative incidence of death, the time given is divided into several time-intervals. F(t) sums up the probability of dying from BC in each time interval. In estimation of the risk of death in each given time interval, cumulative hazard for two competing risks (for example, death from BC and death from other

causes) are taken into the equation. Gray's test is used to test for equality between cumulative incidence curves (190).

Bland-Altman plot analysis

Bland Altman plots, or difference plots, is a graphical method to compare two measurement methods. Bland Altman analysis quantifies the agreement between two measurements by assessing the mean difference and creating limits of agreements (191). The plots are used to evaluate a bias between the mean differences between two sets of data, and to estimate an agreement interval for where 95% of the differences of the second method fall, compared to the first method. The Bland Altman plot provides a visual presentation of the difference between two measurements on the y-axis, and the average of the two measurements on the x-axis. This statistical method will not tell whether the limits are acceptable or not, it only defines the interval of agreement (192).

Bland-Altman plots were used to evaluate the agreement between methods in Paper I. We used VA500 as the reference measurement, and evaluated the agreement between the reference, and DIA100 and DIA500, by estimating the difference between the methods in relation to the mean value.

Cox proportional hazard ratios

The Cox proportional hazard model was used in all papers to compare the rates of death from BC in different categories. The hazard ratio (HR) is given as an unadjusted and adjusted estimate. Adjustments were made for for age, stage and histopathological grade. Hazard ratios were calculated as measures of relative risk of death from BC with 95% confidence interval (CI). In each calculation one of the categories, was defined as the reference group and compared to the other groups. For example, in Paper III, ER<1% was defined as the reference group, and ER≥1<10% and ER≥10% were compared to it. If the hazard ratio is less than 1 (the reference), then the risk of death is considered lower, or less likely to occur. If the HR is higher than 1, then the predictor is associated with increased risk of death, or more likely to occur. The confidence interval must be taken into account as well, because if the CI crosses 1, it is not statistically significant.

In the Cox proportional hazard model it is assumed that HR of the exposure and covariates are constant over time (193). To check the proportional hazards assumptions over time, we made log minus log plots for all HR in Paper I-III and found no clear violations. All statistical analyses were performed using Stata version 17 (StataCorp LP, College Station, Texas, USA).

Summary of results

Paper I

A consecutive series of whole sections of 248 invasive carcinomas (NST) stained for Ki-67 protein expression using IHC, were assessed by traditional visual assessment in a light microscope, and then by DIA using QuPath. Five 100-cell increments were counted in hotspot areas in both methods and reported it as percentage Ki-67 positive nuclei pr 100 cells. We calculated cut-off levels based on the median of 500 cells for each method. The median for Ki-67 positivity were also calculated for each 100-cell increment. The statistical analyses include only the first 100-cell increment (VA100 and DIA100), and the total 500 cell (5 X 100 cells) (VA500 and DIA500). We used Pearson's Chi² test to study associations between counted cells and method, and tumour characteristics. In analysis of prognosis, we assessed cumulative risk of death and hazard ratios.

We found that the median Ki-67 level was higher using DIA compared to VA in the same tumours. The median values after counting 500 cells were 22.3% for VA, and 30% for DIA. While the proportion of Ki-67 positive tumour cells did not change substantially with increasing number of cells counted in VA, the number of cells counted affected the result when using DIA. The highest proportion of Ki-67 High cases were found when counting 100-200 cells using DIA. All of the counted 100-cell increments in both methods predicted poor prognosis in the highest Ki-67 levels, and with little difference between VA and DIA. The DIA100 group with Ki-67 High identified the largest proportion of histopathological grade 3 tumours, 70/101 cases (69.3%).

We showed that when assessing Ki-67 expression in BC using DIA, we identified higher levels of Ki-67 compared to VA of the same tumours. All counting methods predicted BC prognosis according to Ki-67 levels. However, there was no significant difference in prognosis between VA and DIA. We underline the importance of calibrating diagnostic cut-off levels upon introduction of new methodology.

Paper II

We studied *PAK1* copy number (CN) in a series of 512 BC tumours and their corresponding lymph node metastases. Fluorescence in situ hybridization for *PAK1* gene and CEP11 was performed on TMA slides. Copy numbers were estimated by counting the number of fluorescent signals for *PAK1* and CEP11 in 20 tumour cell nuclei. We studied associations between *PAK1* CN and proliferation status, molecular subtype and prognosis. In addition, we studied associations between *PAK1* and *CCND1* CNs (n=504), which are both located at the long arm of chromosome 11. Both genes encode proteins shown to activate ER. We used Pearson's Chi² test to study associations between *PAK1* CN and tumour characteristics, and between *PAK1* and *CCND1* CNs. In the analysis of prognosis, we estimated cumulative risk of BC death and hazard ratios.

Copy number increase (mean *PAK1* CN \geq 4) was found in 9.4% of tumours. Of these, 4.3% had mean *PAK1* CN \geq 6. The HER2 type and Luminal B (HER2-) subtype had the highest proportion of cases with *PAK1* CN increase. We found association between mean *PAK1* CN \geq 4 and high proliferation, and high histopathological grade, but not with prognosis. Of the cases analysed for both *PAK1* and *CCND1* CNs, 30/48 of cases with *PAK1* CN \geq 4 (62.5%) also had *CCND1* CN \geq 4.

We conclude that *PAK1* CN increase is associated with aggressive tumour characteristics such as high histopathological grade and high Ki-67 protein expression, but not with prognosis.

Paper III

We studied ER expression in 1955 cases of BC, and associations between ER expression levels and tumour characteristics and prognosis. ER expression levels were divided into <1%; \geq 1 <10%; \geq 10%, and we paid special attention to the ER Low Positive (ER \geq 1 <10%) cases. All cases were stratified into patients unlikely to have received adjuvant therapy according to treatment guidelines at time of diagnosis (before 1995), and those would have likely received adjuvant therapy (diagnosed in 1995 or later). ER levels were compared with time of diagnosis, histopathological grade, proliferation status, and molecular subtypes, using Pearson's Chi² test. In analysis of prognosis, we estimated cumulative risk of BC death and hazard ratios.

Of the 1955 included cases, only 65 (3.3%) were ER Low Positive. In patients diagnosed before 1995 2.1% were ER Low Positive. Among patients diagnosed in 1995 or later 4.2% were ER Low Positive. The highest proportion of ER Low Positive tumours was found among the Luminal B (HER2+) subtype, and grade 3 tumours. We found that the risk of death from BC was lower in ER Low Positive tumours and ER \geq 10% tumours, compared to the ER negative (ER<1%) cases. Women with ER Low Positive diagnosed in 1995 or later had smaller tumours, and tumours of lower grade and lower proliferative status compared to ER Low Positive tumours diagnosed before 1995. We found no significant difference in prognosis when we compared ER Low Positive and ER \geq 10% tumours among women diagnosed in 1995 or later.

We conclude that women with ER Low Positive tumours diagnosed in a time period when adjuvant therapy was available (1995 or later) had tumours of smaller size, lower grade, and lower proliferative status, and similar prognosis to those with ER≥10%, compared to women diagnosed earlier.

45

Discussion

This thesis is based on the work of three papers with the intention to study biomarkers with new and different approaches, and to investigate the properties of a new biomarker.

Despite improved molecular characterization and more precise prognostic and predictive biomarkers, there is still a need for greater precision in their assessment in order to further tailor treatment strategies for each individual patient. For the same reason, it is also necessary to continue searching for new biomarkers that will impact both prognostication and determine treatment options.

Discussion of main findings

We found clear differences in the median Ki-67 levels between VA and DIA, and this may reflect the respective methods ability to identify hotspot areas in tissue sections. This has been reported in similar studies of Ki-67 assessed using DIA (118, 187, 194-198). One study found that DIA is particularly effective in identifying hotspots, outperforming VA in assessing Ki-67 and mitotic counts (119).

To handle interlaboratory variation, the Expert Panel at the St. Gallen conference in 2015 suggested that the in-house median Ki-67 value at each laboratory should be the foundation for choice of cut-off values(199). More recently, the 17th St. Gallen International Breast Cancer Conference in 2021 proposed that Ki-67 expression should be used to determine treatment in ERnegative, HER2-negative BC in accordance with the guidelines from the International Ki67 Breast Cancer Working Group (108). The determination of cut-off levels is still challenging as reflected by these latest recommendations where only clearly low or clearly high levels of Ki-67 protein expression are considered to have clinical utility (108, 200). In 2014, Romero and co-workers suggested a stepwise counting strategy without fixed denominators, especially to target heterogenetic tumours with some highly proliferative hotspots (113). The International Ki67 Breast Cancer Working Group has proposed a standardized visual scoring method using a scoring app available online (108). Thus, the need for a standardized approach in the assessment of Ki-67 in BC has been recognized but not yet resolved.

Recent studies have suggested that downgrading of Ki-67 levels in some tumors may occur in VA when more than 2-300 cells are counted (113, 201). However, we found that there was little difference in the percentage of Ki-67 positive cells in each of the five 100-cell increments across cut-off levels using VA. This would imply that it may not be necessary to count more than 200-300 cells in VA. On the other hand, there was a clear fall in the number of Ki-67 High cases and a corresponding rise in the number of cases classified as Ki-67 Low with increasing cell counts using

DIA. Thus, using DIA, the highest proportion of Ki-67 positive cell nuclei is achieved by counting 100-200 cells in digitally identified hotspots. This appears to be in agreement with Romero et al.(113).

Digital image analysis could be used for assessment of other biomarkers such as ER which is currently assess by VA or "eyeballing" in diagnostics. Using DIA one could study different levels of ER expression and study associations between ER expression levels and tumour characteristics and prognosis. It would be interesting to further investigate ER cut-off levels with DIA calculations to see if it could stratify patients that would or would not benefit from endocrine treatment. One recent study of ER using DIA found that DIA accurately discriminates ER positive from ER negative cases and showed great concordance with pathologists' scores (202). Other studies have found that digital assessment of IHC staining is more reproducible than pathologists' visual scoring, suggesting that DIA is especially preferable in the assessment of large study populations and large tissue sections (203, 204). Sparse and/or low staining intensies may be overlooked by the pathologist using VA, and may be more easily detected by DIA (205, 206).

The most important finding in Paper I is the great difference between the median Ki-67 values assessed by VA and DIA. Determining cut-off values for treatment should be done for each method separately using robust end-point data such as treatment effect or breast cancer specific survival. Our findings emphasize the necessity to recalibrate cut-off levels whenever new assessment methodologies are introduceds.

Despite associations between *PAK1* CN increase and high histological grade and high proliferation, we did not find a statistically significant association between increased *PAK1* CN and prognosis. It would be interesting to study prognosis according to *PAK1* CN for each of the molecular subtypes separately. However, in the present study the number of cases in some of the molecular subtypes was too low to warrant further analyses of subgroups. The numbers of cases showing *PAK1* CN increase in primary tumours only, lymph node metastases only, or both, were too low to give reliable prognostic information.

Tamoxifen is an established hormonal therapy used in ER positive BC. Five years of tamoxifen therapy nearly halves the risk of BC recurrence among ER positive patients (207). Phosphorylation of ER by PAK1 may induce tamoxifen-resistance in ER positive tumours and tamoxifen itself may also increase nuclear PAK1 and PAK1 kinase activity (131, 136, 139). Patients with *PAK1* amplification are shown to have reduced benefit from tamoxifen and *PAK1* CN may therefore be a predictor of tamoxifen resistance (139). PAK1-inhibitors may be useful in ER positive

tumours, to improve the effect of tamoxifen among these cases (142, 208). In the era of personalized medicine, PAK1s influence on the effect of tamoxifen in BC makes it an interesting biomarker and potential therapeutic target for treatment (209).

PAK1 CN increase is found in all molecular subtypes of BC, except a subgroup of the triple negative subtype (the 5-negative phenotype), and occurs most frequently in the HER2 and Luminal B (HER2-) subtypes. It is associated with aggressive tumour characteristics such as high histopathological grade and high Ki-67 expression, but not with prognosis. It is co-amplified with *CCND1* in 62.5% of cases in our study. Co-amplification of genes located on the 11q13.3 amplicon has been found to be associated with poor prognosis in breast cancer, and co-amplification of the *CCND1-FGF* locus might decrease anti-tumour immune activity in breast cancer (141). The 11q13 region is amplified in approximately 15% of all breast tumors (139). Both *PAK1* and *CCND1* are genes that encodes proteins shown to activate ER, and amplification in at least one of the genes in ERpositive BC indicates a reduced recurrence-free survival (139). *PAK1* and *CCND1* CN should be studied further in a larger cohort with appropriate methods to investigate tamoxifen resistance mechanisms and possible treatment targets.

Breast cancer survival in Norway has increased since the mid-1990's as seen in the present and other studies (210). This may be ascribed to earlier detection (211, 212) and improved treatment (68, 70). The reduced risk of death observed between the two time-periods for all categories of ER expression, probably reflects earlier diagnosis with the introduction of mammography screening and the introduction of adjuvant treatment therapies in the mid-1990's. The change in prognosis observed across time for patients with ER Low Positive tumours may also be attributed to adjuvant therapy other than antihormonal treatment in addition to changing tumour characteristics such as smaller tumour size and lower histopathological grade.

ER status is an important prognostic factor and a predictor of the effect of endocrine treatment. ER signaling is a main driver of proliferation in ER Positive BCs, and inhibition of ER signaling has improved survival among ER Positive BC patients (69, 70). Studies suggest that selection of patients for endocrine therapy may need to be further personalized (74, 75, 213). While most ER positive BCs have high IHC scores, about 2-3% of cases are ER Low Positive (214-216). In the present study, 3.3% of the total number of cases were ER Low Positive. Tumours classified within the ER positive category, appear to have a risk profile more like that of ER-negative breast cancers (215). A recent study found no benefit of endocrine therapy in the ER <10% group compared to the ER >10% group (216). The lack of benefit of endocrine therapy in patients with low ER expression has also recently been shown in a meta-analysis, including more than 16,000 patients (217). The metaanalysis indicated that primary BC patients with ER 1-9% gained no significant survival benefit from endocrine therapy, but had better prognosis than patients with cancers expressing ER<1% (217). In the present study, among patients diagnosed in 1995 or later, the ER Low Positive patient group had similar prognosis to those with ER ≥10%. The patients included in this study were diagnosed with BC between 1961 and 2012, and the ER >1% cut-off level for endocrine treatment was first introduced in Norway in 2011 after recommendations from ASCO/CAP (41). Therefore, the improved prognosis seen among ER Low Positive patients diagnosed in 1995 or later, can most likely not be attributed to endocrine treatment (218). Among women diagnosed in 1995 or later, we found a greater proportion of ER Low Positive tumours with smaller size, lower grade and lower proliferation compared to ER Low Positive tumours diagnosed before 1995. Thus, the improved prognosis may be attributed to factors other than endocrine treatment, such as earlier diagnosis due to the introduction of mammography screening and greater BC awareness among women. Determining endocrine treatment for patients with a diagnosis of ER Low Positive BC should be carefully considered in light of the potential risks and benefits of the treatment (215).

Cut-off controversies

Ki-67 is commonly used as a proliferative biomarker in clinical decision-making, to distinguish between the subtypes Luminal A (Low Ki-67) and Luminal B (High Ki-67). Ki-67 can provide both prognostic and predictive information (96, 106, 219). High Ki-67 score has been shown to be associated with poor prognosis (220). There has been considerable debate regarding Ki-67 counting methods and cut-off levels for prognostication and treatment decisions using this biomarker (51, 115, 221-225). As mentioned, the current guidelines for assessment of Ki-67 IHC underline that only positively stained nuclei should be counted in hotspot areas, and the number of counted nuclei should be between 500 and 1000 (34, 102). However, using DIA, it may be sufficient to count 1-200 cells in a digitally selected hotspot area to identify the greatest number of tumours with Ki-67 High. Stålhammar et al did a study in 2018 on proliferation markers, and found that DIA of Ki-67 performed better at mitotic count and phosphohistone H3 values with regard to prognostic value, especially in hot spots, compared to VA (119). Our findings underline the need for recalibration of established cut-off levels on the introduction of digital assessment. With the introduction of DIA, it could be possible to establish more reproducible and precise biomarker assessments for both established and novel biomarkers in BC, and thereby address the challenges of inter- and intraobserver variation (57, 58, 194).

There are no established guidelines for cut-off levels in the assessment of *PAK1* CN. We chose to follow *HER2* guidelines for categorizing CN, as in previous studies by our group (226-230). While we also registered CN of CEP 11, we did not calculate the ratio between CNs of *PAK1* and

CEP11 as this would have masked the true gene CN increase. Furthermore, we found that CEP11 CN increase was observed in only seven cases, of which only two were accompanied by CN increase of *PAK1*.

The 1% threshold for ER expression to justify endocrine therapy remains controversial. According to the St. Gallen 2019 Consensus Discussion on The Optimal Primary Breast Cancer Treatment it was stated that there is a need for better evaluation of ideal cut-offs for prescription of endocrine therapy for ER positive tumors, mainly with ER levels < 10%. With current assessment procedures in mind, which are mainly done by VA or "eyeballing", there is a need for a more reliable estimation of ER expression in BC. Of the experts that were present at the conference in 2019, 24% did not see that there was an ideal cut-off for ER status, whereas 38% would recommend prescription with levels of \geq 10% (231). The Panel of the 17th St Gallen International Breast Cancer Consensus Conference in 2021 were also divided on the optimal ER threshold for initiation of endocrine therapy (43). However, the ASCO/CAP Expert Panel states that even though there are limited data on endocrine therapy benefit for cancers with 1% to 9% ER positive tumour cells, they should be reported as ER Low Positive and include a comment on the limited data on treatment benefits for these patients (71, 73).

It has been proposed that ER Low Positive tumours are more similar to the ER negative group, and therefore may not profit from endocrine therapy (213). Thus, cut-off levels should be further investigated in order to offer BC patients more personalized endocrine treatment, and to avoid over-treatment of patient less likely to respond (74, 232, 233).

Study population

The studies in this thesis include reliable information on BC incidence and follow-up data that were available from high-quality national registries like the Cancer Registry of Norway, the Cause of Death Registry and the Norwegian Patient register (234, 235). This enables comparability within the study population over time. As relapse of breast cancer can occur several years after initial diagnosis, data with long-term follow up has great value in breast cancer research. Unfortunately, data on relapse or disease recurrence was not available for the three cohorts in this thesis.

The patient cohorts included in the studies comprise only female residents of Trøndelag county, Norway born between 1886 and 1977. Distribution of molecular subtypes and varying prognosis for BC patients according to race have been studied and demonstrated in several studies (236-238). Therefore, the study population may not be representative for more ethnically diverse populations. However, we consider the size, stability and homogeneity of this study population a strength.

Materials and methods

Formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded tissue samples are easy to handle, store and are suitable for histological staining, IHC and *in situ* hybridization. In diseases whose treatment involves surgery, this sample type is most likely available. The BCs included in these studies cover a diagnostic timespan of nearly five decades, and we know that preanalytical conditions have varied during these years. Many of the tumours were diagnosed at a time before IHC was introduced as a method in pathology laboratories, and in our studies, IHC was done retrospectively for all cases. It is shown that valuable information can be drawn from archival tissue samples (239, 240). Studies by Dowsett et al. and Camp et al. have found that FFPE blocks are generally well preserved for several decades (241, 242). Ki-67 and ER IHC is robust in FFPE tissue (243, 244) and antigenicity is well preserved (242, 245, 246). Pre-analytical variables may affect the results of IHC staining (247, 248).

Tissue microarrays include only small tissue cylinders from the tumour and may not be representative of the whole tumour, particularly in breast cancer cases with known intra-tumour heterogeneity (164, 249). Thus, important information from the tumour may be lost. However, studies have shown that ER IHC carried out on TMA sections can provide similar information regarding clinical course as IHC on full face tissue sections (164, 250). TMA sections enables us to stain hundreds of tumour samples at the same time, under the same laboratory conditions at a relatively low cost.

The TMAs used in these studies comprise three 1mm in diameter tissue cylinders carefully selected from the periphery of each tumour. The tumour periphery is often the most proliferative area of the tumour. Breast cancer is known for its intra-tumour heterogeneity and the proliferative activity and biomarker expression may be different in other parts of the tumour. While this approach may not have captured the heterogeneity of the tumours sampled, it is probable that it has captured the most biologically active areas of the tumours (251).

In the study for Paper II we used FISH applied to TMAs. The method is available in most laboratories, as opposed to more expensive multigene assays. It enables us to assess the morphology of the section and ensure that only invasive tumour cell nuclei are analyzed. Despite this, FISH applied to tissue sections may lead to an underestimation of CN compared to analysis of whole nuclei, due to nuclear truncation (252). This would be of particular importance in cases with low CN increase. Preanalytical conditions will have varied considering that the cases included in the present study were diagnosed over decades. This could have affected the cases suitable for FISH analysis. While som tumour blocks from the 1960s and 1970s were discarded due to unsuccessful FISH, probably due to fixation in unbuffered formalin, the vast majority of tissue samples were successfully hybridized.

Important information from tissue samples in FFPE blocks may be lost due to truncation of the tissue, both in full-face sections and TMA sections. Truncation refers to the three-dimensional information that may be lost in a two-dimensional cross section of a sample (Figure 20). In order to study biologically irregular tissue samples it is important that the tissue or cell component that is investigated is present in an adequate number; easily identifiable on the section; and of similar size and shape at different locations within the tissue (253). The two-dimensional tissue sections must in the best possible way be representative of the material.



Figure 20: Illustration of the variation on cut slides from a irregular FFPE tissue sample. Illustration obtained from Atlas of plant and animal histology. Histological techniques. Stereology. Retrieved (Oct 2023) from https://mmegias.webs.uvigo.es/02-english/6tecnicas/ampliaciones/estereologia.php

Conclusions and future perspectives

This thesis provides information on new methodological approaches used on well-known biomarkers (Ki-67 and ER) and investigates *PAK1* CN in breast cancer.

In Paper I we found that when Ki-67 expression is assessed in BC using DIA, higher levels of Ki-67 were identified, compared to VA of the same tumours. We found no significant difference in prognosis between VA and DIA, when counting Ki-67. We suggest recalibration of diagnostic cut-off levels upon introduction of new methodology.

In Paper II we found that *PAK1* CN increase is associated with aggressive tumour characteristics such as high histological grade and high Ki-67 protein expression, but not with prognosis. We found co-amplification of *PAK1* and *CCND1* in 62.5% of *PAK1* amplified tumours.

In Paper III we concluded that women with ER Low Positive tumours diagnosed in a time period when adjuvant therapy was available had tumours of smaller size, lower grade, and lower proliferative status. Women with ER Low Positive tumours had similar prognosis to those with ER≥10% when diagnosed in 1995 or later, compared to those diagnosed earlier. In this thesis we conclude and underline the need for method-specific cut-off values to address the issues of interand intralaboratory differences. For both biomarkers Ki-67 and ER, there is a need for cut-off standardization, to make even more personalized treatment decisions. *PAK1* is interesting as a possible predictive biomarker for ER positive tumours that do not benefit from anti-hormonal treatment like tamoxifen. Blocking of *PAK1* may be useful in ER positive tumours, to improve the effect of tamoxifen in these cases. It could be interesting to study *PAK1* CNs in a large study population of ER Low Positive BCs. Identification and better understanding of the effects of new biomarkers like *PAK1* may help in the search for new therapy targets.

Some breast cancer patients maybe receiving endocrine therapy unnecessarily, with no effect on their prognosis. The ER Low Positive group of patients may not benefit from anti-hormonal treatment. According to current treatment strategies most ER Low Positive patients are treated with endocrine therapy for up to ten years based on "eyeballing" to establish a 1% cut-off for positivity. It could be useful to investigate ER expression levels using the DIA method and calibration of new, clinically relevant cut-off levels to further personalize anti-hormonal treatment strategies. Digital image analysis may have better reproducibility as it has defined limits for what is positive and what is not. The human eye in visual analysis is not as precise in finding low intensity staining in IHC compared to DIA, but on the other hand a pathologist can better interpret the total information from the tumour. In other words, DIA can be a means to define reproducible ER cut-off levels,

especially the ER Low Positive breast cancers, and maybe it would be possible to find the optimal cut-off where patients with ER positive breast cancers without doubt will benefit from anti-hormonal treatment.

References

1. Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians. 2021;71(3):209-49.

2. Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians. 2018;68(6):394-424.

3. Fumagalli C, Barberis M. Breast Cancer Heterogeneity. Diagnostics (Basel). 2021;11(9).

4. Yersal O, Barutca S. Biological subtypes of breast cancer: Prognostic and therapeutic implications. World J Clin Oncol. 2014;5(3):412-24.

5. Dawson H. Digital pathology - Rising to the challenge. Front Med (Lausanne). 2022;9:888896.

6. Têtu B, Perron É, Louahlia S, Paré G, Trudel M-C, Meyer J, editors. The Eastern Québec Telepathology Network: a three-year experience of clinical diagnostic services. Diagn Pathol; 2014: Springer.

7. Pare G, Meyer J, Trudel M-C, Tetu B. Impacts of a large decentralized telepathology network in Canada. Telemedicine and e-Health. 2016;22(3):246-50.

8. Williams BJ, Treanor D. Practical guide to training and validation for primary diagnosis with digital pathology. Journal of Clinical Pathology. 2020;73(7):418-22.

9. Azam AS, Miligy IM, Kimani PK-U, Maqbool H, Hewitt K, Rajpoot NM, et al. Diagnostic concordance and discordance in digital pathology: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of Clinical Pathology. 2021;74(7):448-55.

10. Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Dikshit R, Eser S, Mathers C, Rebelo M, et al. Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. Int J Cancer. 2015;136(5):E359-86.

11. Norway Cro. Cancer in Norway 2016 - Cancer incidence, mortality, survival and prevalence in Norway. 2017.

12. al EGe. NORDCAN: Cancer Incidence, Mortality, Prevalence and Survival in the Nordic Countries, Version 7.2. 2015.

13. Bray F, McCarron P, Parkin DM. The changing global patterns of female breast cancer incidence and mortality. Breast Cancer Research. 2004;6(6):229.

14. Organization WH. Fact sheet: Breast Cancer 2023 [updated July 12th 2023. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/breast-cancer.

15. DeSantis CE, Bray F, Ferlay J, Lortet-Tieulent J, Anderson BO, Jemal A. International Variation in Female Breast Cancer Incidence and Mortality Rates. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2015;24(10):1495-506.

16. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell. 2000;100(1):57-70.

17. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell. 2011;144(5):646-74.

18. Hanahan D. Hallmarks of Cancer: New Dimensions. Cancer Discov. 2022;12(1):31-46.

19. (IARC) IAfRoC. WHO Classification of Tumours of the Breast. 4th Edition ed. Lyon2012.

20. Weigelt B, Geyer FC, Reis-Filho JS. Histological types of breast cancer: How special are they? Molecular Oncology. 2010;4(3):192-208.

21. ELLIS IO, GALEA M, BROUGHTON N, LOCKER A, BLAMEY RW, ELSTON CW. Pathological prognostic factors in breast cancer. II. Histological type. Relationship with survival in a large study with long-term follow-up. Histopathology. 1992;20(6):479-89.

22. Bloom H, Richardson W. Histological grading and prognosis in breast cancer: a study of 1409 cases of which 359 have been followed for 15 years. British journal of cancer. 1957;11(3):359.

23. ELSTON CW, ELLIS IO. pathological prognostic factors in breast cancer. I. The value of histological grade in breast cancer: experience from a large study with long-term follow-up. Histopathology. 1991;19(5):403-10.

24. Boiesen P, Bendahl P-O, Anagnostaki L, Domanski H, Holm E, Idvall I, et al. Histologic grading in breast cancer: reproducibility between seven pathologic departments. Acta oncologica. 2000;39(1):41-5.

25. Elston CW. Classification and grading of invasive breast carcinoma. Verh Dtsch Ges Pathol. 2005;89:35-44.

26. Rosen RD, Sapra A. TNM Classification. StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing

Copyright © 2023, StatPearls Publishing LLC.; 2023.

27. UICC. TNM classification of malignant tumours 1st ed. Geneva1968.

28. Hortobagyi GN, Edge SB, Giuliano A. New and Important Changes in the TNM Staging System for Breast Cancer. Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book. 2018;38:457-67.

29. Li X, Zhang Y, Meisel J, Jiang R, Behera M, Peng L. Validation of the newly proposed American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) breast cancer prognostic staging group and proposing a new staging system using the National Cancer Database. Breast cancer research and treatment. 2018;171(2):303-13.

30. Wong RX, Wong FY, Lim J, Lian WX, Yap YS. Validation of the AJCC 8th prognostic system for breast cancer in an Asian healthcare setting. Breast. 2018;40:38-44.

31. Mutebi M, Anderson BO, Duggan C, Adebamowo C, Agarwal G, Ali Z, et al. Breast cancer treatment: A phased approach to implementation. Cancer. 2020;126 Suppl 10:2365-78.

32. Gradishar WJ, Moran MS, Abraham J, Abramson V, Aft R, Agnese D, et al. NCCN Guidelines[®] Insights: Breast Cancer, Version 4.2023. J Natl Compr Canc Netw. 2023;21(6):594-608.

33. Gradishar WJ, Moran MS, Abraham J, Aft R, Agnese D, Allison KH, et al. Breast Cancer, Version 3.2022, NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology. J Natl Compr Canc Netw. 2022;20(6):691-722.

34. Helsedirektoratet NBCGN. Nasjonalt handlingsprogram med retningslinjer for diagnostikk, behandling og oppfølging av pasienter med brystkreft

<u>https://www.helsedirektoratet.no/retningslinjer/brystkreft-handlingsprogram</u>: Helsedirektoratet, avdeling spesialisthelsetjenester; 2020 [updated 08/2020. IS-2945:[Available from: https://www.helsedirektoratet.no/retningslinjer/brystkreft-handlingsprogram.

35. Bellavance EC, Kesmodel SB. Decision-Making in the Surgical Treatment of Breast Cancer: Factors Influencing Women's Choices for Mastectomy and Breast Conserving Surgery. Front Oncol. 2016;6:74.

36. Fisher B, Bauer M, Margolese R, Poisson R, Pilch Y, Redmond C, et al. Five-year results of a randomized clinical trial comparing total mastectomy and segmental mastectomy with or without radiation in the treatment of breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 1985;312(11):665-73.

37. Lyman GH, Somerfield MR, Bosserman LD, Perkins CL, Weaver DL, Giuliano AE. Sentinel Lymph Node Biopsy for Patients With Early-Stage Breast Cancer: American Society of Clinical Oncology Clinical Practice Guideline Update. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(5):561-4.

38. Chatterjee A, Serniak N, Czerniecki BJ. Sentinel lymph node biopsy in breast cancer: a work in progress. Cancer J. 2015;21(1):7-10.

39. Gray R, Group EBCTC. Abstract GS3-03: Effects of prolonging adjuvant aromatase inhibitor therapy beyond five years on recurrence and cause-specific mortality: An EBCTCG meta-analysis of individual patient data from 12 randomised trials including 24,912 women. Cancer Research. 2019;79(4_Supplement):GS3-03-GS3-.

40. Bartlett JMS, Sgroi DC, Treuner K, Zhang Y, Ahmed I, Piper T, et al. Breast Cancer Index and prediction of benefit from extended endocrine therapy in breast cancer patients treated in the Adjuvant Tamoxifen-To Offer More? (aTTom) trial. Ann Oncol. 2019;30(11):1776-83.

41. Hammond ME, Hayes DF, Dowsett M, Allred DC, Hagerty KL, Badve S, et al. American Society of Clinical Oncology/College of American Pathologists guideline recommendations for

immunohistochemical testing of estrogen and progesterone receptors in breast cancer. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2010;134(6):907-22.

42. Giordano SH, Temin S, Chandarlapaty S, Crews JR, Esteva FJ, Kirshner JJ, et al. Systemic Therapy for Patients With Advanced Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2-Positive Breast Cancer: ASCO Clinical Practice Guideline Update. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(26):2736-40.

43. Burstein HJ, Curigliano G, Thürlimann B, Weber WP, Poortmans P, Regan MM, et al. Customizing local and systemic therapies for women with early breast cancer: the St. Gallen International Consensus Guidelines for treatment of early breast cancer 2021. Ann Oncol. 2021;32(10):1216-35.

44. Osterberg L, Blaschke T. Adherence to Medication. New England Journal of Medicine. 2005;353(5):487-97.

45. McCowan C, Shearer J, Donnan P, Dewar JA, Crilly M, Thompson A, et al. McCowan C, Shearer J, Donnan PT, Dewar JA, Crilly M, Thompson AM, Fahey TPCohort study examining tamoxifen adherence and its relationship to mortality in women with breast cancer. Br J Cancer 99: 1763-1768. British journal of cancer. 2008;99:1763-8.

46. Dragvoll I, Bofin AM, Søiland H, Taraldsen G, Engstrøm MJ. Predictors of adherence and the role of primary non-adherence in antihormonal treatment of breast cancer. BMC Cancer. 2022;22(1):1247.

47. Strimbu K, Tavel JA. What are biomarkers? Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2010;5(6):463-6.

48. Rhea JM, Molinaro RJ. Cancer biomarkers: surviving the journey from bench to bedside. MLO: medical laboratory observer. 2011;43(3):10-2, 6, 8; quiz 20, 2.

49. Institute NC. National Cancer Institute dictionary on cancer terms [Available from: www.cancer.gov/dictionary.

50. Swaminathan H, Saravanamurali K, Yadav SA. Extensive review on breast cancer its etiology, progression, prognostic markers, and treatment. Med Oncol. 2023;40(8):238.

51. Goldhirsch A, Winer EP, Coates AS, Gelber RD, Piccart-Gebhart M, Thurlimann B, et al. Personalizing the treatment of women with early breast cancer: highlights of the St Gallen International Expert Consensus on the Primary Therapy of Early Breast Cancer 2013. Ann Oncol. 2013;24(9):2206-23.

52. Perou CM, Sorlie T, Eisen MB, van de Rijn M, Jeffrey SS, Rees CA, et al. Molecular portraits of human breast tumours. Nature. 2000;406(6797):747-52.

53. Sparano JA, Gray RJ, Makower DF, Pritchard KI, Albain KS, Hayes DF, et al. Prospective validation of a 21-gene expression assay in breast cancer. New England Journal of Medicine. 2015;373(21):2005-14.

54. Nielsen TO, Parker JS, Leung S, Voduc D, Ebbert M, Vickery T, et al. A comparison of PAM50 intrinsic subtyping with immunohistochemistry and clinical prognostic factors in tamoxifen-treated estrogen receptor–positive breast cancer. Clinical cancer research. 2010;16(21):5222-32.

55. Blows FM, Driver KE, Schmidt MK, Broeks A, van Leeuwen FE, Wesseling J, et al. Subtyping of breast cancer by immunohistochemistry to investigate a relationship between subtype and short and long term survival: a collaborative analysis of data for 10,159 cases from 12 studies. PLoS Med. 2010;7(5):e1000279.

56. Engstrom MJ, Opdahl S, Hagen AI, Romundstad PR, Akslen LA, Haugen OA, et al. Molecular subtypes, histopathological grade and survival in a historic cohort of breast cancer patients. Breast cancer research and treatment. 2013;140(3):463-73.

57. Bankhead P, Loughrey MB, Fernandez JA, Dombrowski Y, McArt DG, Dunne PD, et al. QuPath: Open source software for digital pathology image analysis. Scientific reports. 2017;7(1):16878.

58. Laenkholm AV, Grabau D, Moller Talman ML, Balslev E, Bak Jylling AM, Tabor TP, et al. An inter-observer Ki67 reproducibility study applying two different assessment methods: on behalf of the Danish Scientific Committee of Pathology, Danish breast cancer cooperative group (DBCG). Acta Oncol. 2018;57(1):83-9.

59. Li Z, Bui MM, Pantanowitz L. Clinical tissue biomarker digital image analysis: A review of current applications. Human Pathology Reports. 2022;28:300633.

60. Kohn GE, Rodriguez KM, Hotaling J, Pastuszak AW. The History of Estrogen Therapy. Sex Med Rev. 2019;7(3):416-21.

Raven RW. Cancer of the breast treated by oophorectomy. Br Med J. 1950;1(4666):1343-5.
 Beatson GT. On the Treatment of Inoperable Cases of Carcinoma of the Mamma:

Suggestions for a New Method of Treatment, with Illustrative Cases. Trans Med Chir Soc Edinb. 1896;15:153-79.

63. Allen E, Doisy EA. Landmark article Sept 8, 1923. An ovarian hormone. Preliminary report on its localization, extraction and partial purification, and action in test animals. By Edgar Allen and Edward A. Doisy. Jama. 1983;250(19):2681-3.

64. JENSEN EV, JACOBSON HI. Fate of steroid estrogens in target tissues. Biological activities of steroids in relation to cancer. 1960:161-78.

65. Jensen EV, DeSombre ER. Estrogen-Receptor Interaction: Estrogenic hormones effect transformation of specific receptor proteins to a biochemically functional form. Science. 1973;182(4108):126-34.

66. Jensen EV, Jordan VC. The Estrogen Receptor: A Model for Molecular Medicine1. Clinical Cancer Research. 2003;9(6):1980-9.

67. Delozier T, Julien J, Juret P, Veyret C, Couëtte J, Graic Y, et al. Adjuvant tamoxifen in postmenopausal breast cancer: preliminary results of a randomized trial. Breast cancer research and treatment. 1986;7(2):105-9.

68. Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative G. Effects of adjuvant tamoxifen and of cytotoxic therapy on mortality in early breast cancer. An overview of 61 randomized trials among 28,896 women. N Engl J Med. 1988;319(26):1681-92.

69. The ATAC (Arimidex TAOiCTG. Anastrozole alone or in combination with tamoxifen versus tamoxifen alone for adjuvant treatment of postmenopausal women with early breast cancer: first results of the ATAC randomised trial. The Lancet. 2002;359(9324):2131-9.

70. Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative G, Davies C, Godwin J, Gray R, Clarke M, Cutter D, et al. Relevance of breast cancer hormone receptors and other factors to the efficacy of adjuvant tamoxifen: patient-level meta-analysis of randomised trials. Lancet. 2011;378(9793):771-84.

71. Hammond MEH, Hayes DF, Dowsett M, Allred DC, Hagerty KL, Badve S, et al. American Society of Clinical Oncology/College of American Pathologists Guideline Recommendations for Immunohistochemical Testing of Estrogen and Progesterone Receptors in Breast Cancer (Unabridged Version). Archives of Pathology & Laboratory Medicine. 2010;134(7):e48-e72.

72. Petersen OW, Høyer PE, van Deurs B. Frequency and distribution of estrogen receptorpositive cells in normal, nonlactating human breast tissue. Cancer Res. 1987;47(21):5748-51.

73. Allison KH, Hammond MEH, Dowsett M, McKernin SE, Carey LA, Fitzgibbons PL, et al. Estrogen and Progesterone Receptor Testing in Breast Cancer: ASCO/CAP Guideline Update. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2020;38(12):1346-66.

74. Scabia V, Ayyanan A, De Martino F, Agnoletto A, Battista L, Laszlo C, et al. Estrogen receptor positive breast cancers have patient specific hormone sensitivities and rely on progesterone receptor. Nature Communications. 2022;13(1):3127.

75. Schrodi S, Braun M, Andrulat A, Harbeck N, Mahner S, Kiechle M, et al. Outcome of breast cancer patients with low hormone receptor positivity: analysis of a 15-year population-based cohort. Annals of Oncology. 2021;32(11):1410-24.

76. Iwamoto T, Booser D, Valero V, Murray JL, Koenig K, Esteva FJ, et al. Estrogen Receptor (ER) mRNA and ER-related gene expression in breast cancers that are 1% to 10% ER-positive by immunohistochemistry. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2012;30(7):729-34.

77. Villegas SL, Nekljudova V, Pfarr N, Engel J, Untch M, Schrodi S, et al. Therapy response and prognosis of patients with early breast cancer with low positivity for hormone receptors – An analysis of 2765 patients from neoadjuvant clinical trials. European Journal of Cancer. 2021;148:159-70.

78. Viale G, Regan MM, Maiorano E, Mastropasqua MG, Dell'Orto P, Rasmussen BB, et al. Prognostic and predictive value of centrally reviewed expression of estrogen and progesterone receptors in a randomized trial comparing letrozole and tamoxifen adjuvant therapy for postmenopausal early breast cancer: BIG 1-98. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2007;25(25):3846-52.

79. Taraborrelli S. Physiology, production and action of progesterone. Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica. 2015;94(S161):8-16.

80. Diep CH, Ahrendt H, Lange CA. Progesterone induces progesterone receptor gene (PGR) expression via rapid activation of protein kinase pathways required for cooperative estrogen receptor alpha (ER) and progesterone receptor (PR) genomic action at ER/PR target genes. Steroids. 2016;114:48-58.

81. Li Z, Wei H, Li S, Wu P, Mao X. The Role of Progesterone Receptors in Breast Cancer. Drug Des Devel Ther. 2022;16:305-14.

82. Clark GM, McGuire WL, Hubay CA, Pearson OH, Marshall JS. Progesterone receptors as a prognostic factor in Stage II breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 1983;309(22):1343-7.

83. Maleki Z, shariat torbaghan S, Mokri M, Atri M. ER-negative/PR-positive Breast Carcinomas or Technical Artifacts in Immunohistochemistry? Archives of Iranian medicine. 2012;15:366-9.

84. Hefti MM, Hu R, Knoblauch NW, Collins LC, Haibe-Kains B, Tamimi RM, et al. Estrogen receptor negative/progesterone receptor positive breast cancer is not a reproducible subtype. Breast Cancer Res. 2013;15(4):R68.

85. Spector NL, Blackwell KL. Understanding the mechanisms behind trastuzumab therapy for human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-positive breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(34):5838-47.

86. Mitri Z, Constantine T, O'Regan R. The HER2 Receptor in Breast Cancer: Pathophysiology, Clinical Use, and New Advances in Therapy. Chemother Res Pract. 2012;2012:743193.

87. Iqbal N, Iqbal N. Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2 (HER2) in Cancers:

Overexpression and Therapeutic Implications. Mol Biol Int. 2014;2014:852748.

88. Slamon DJ, Clark GM, Wong SG, Levin WJ, Ullrich A, McGuire WL. Human breast cancer: correlation of relapse and survival with amplification of the HER-2/neu oncogene. Science. 1987;235(4785):177-82.

89. Slamon DJ, Godolphin W, Jones LA, Holt JA, Wong SG, Keith DE, et al. Studies of the HER-2/neu proto-oncogene in human breast and ovarian cancer. Science. 1989;244(4905):707-12.

90. Atallah NM, Alsaleem M, Toss MS, Mongan NP, Rakha E. Differential response of HER2positive breast cancer to anti-HER2 therapy based on HER2 protein expression level. British Journal of Cancer. 2023.

91. Nahta R, Yu D, Hung M-C, Hortobagyi GN, Esteva FJ. Mechanisms of Disease: understanding resistance to HER2-targeted therapy in human breast cancer. Nature Clinical Practice Oncology. 2006;3(5):269-80.

92. Ma F, Ouyang Q, Li W, Jiang Z, Tong Z, Liu Y, et al. Pyrotinib or Lapatinib Combined With Capecitabine in HER2-Positive Metastatic Breast Cancer With Prior Taxanes, Anthracyclines, and/or Trastuzumab: A Randomized, Phase II Study. J Clin Oncol. 2019;37(29):2610-9.

93. Murthy RK, Loi S, Okines A, Paplomata E, Hamilton E, Hurvitz SA, et al. Tucatinib, Trastuzumab, and Capecitabine for HER2-Positive Metastatic Breast Cancer. N Engl J Med. 2020;382(7):597-609.

94. Saura C, Oliveira M, Feng YH, Dai MS, Chen SW, Hurvitz SA, et al. Neratinib Plus Capecitabine Versus Lapatinib Plus Capecitabine in HER2-Positive Metastatic Breast Cancer Previously Treated With ≥ 2 HER2-Directed Regimens: Phase III NALA Trial. J Clin Oncol. 2020;38(27):3138-49.

95. Schlam I, Swain SM. HER2-positive breast cancer and tyrosine kinase inhibitors: the time is now. npj Breast Cancer. 2021;7(1):56.

96. Schwab U, Stein H, Gerdes J, Lemke H, Kirchner H, Schaadt M, et al. Production of a monoclonal antibody specific for Hodgkin and Sternberg-Reed cells of Hodgkin's disease and a subset of normal lymphoid cells. Nature. 1982;299(5878):65-7.

97. Gerdes J, Lemke H, Baisch H, Wacker HH, Schwab U, Stein H. Cell cycle analysis of a cell proliferation-associated human nuclear antigen defined by the monoclonal antibody Ki-67. J Immunol. 1984;133(4):1710-5.

98. Li LT, Jiang G, Chen Q, Zheng JN. Ki67 is a promising molecular target in the diagnosis of cancer (review). Mol Med Rep. 2015;11(3):1566-72.

99. Gerdes J, Schwab U, Lemke H, Stein H. Production of a mouse monoclonal antibody reactive with a human nuclear antigen associated with cell proliferation. Int J Cancer. 1983;31(1):13-20.
100. Lopez F, Belloc F, Lacombe F, Dumain P, Reiffers J, Bernard P, et al. Modalities of synthesis of

Ki67 antigen during the stimulation of lymphocytes. Cytometry. 1991;12(1):42-9.

101. Yerushalmi R, Woods R, Ravdin PM, Hayes MM, Gelmon KA. Ki67 in breast cancer: prognostic and predictive potential. Lancet Oncol. 2010;11(2):174-83.

102. Dowsett M, Nielsen TO, A'Hern R, Bartlett J, Coombes RC, Cuzick J, et al. Assessment of Ki67 in breast cancer: recommendations from the International Ki67 in Breast Cancer working group. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2011;103(22):1656-64.

103. Stuart-Harris R, Caldas C, Pinder SE, Pharoah P. Proliferation markers and survival in early breast cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of 85 studies in 32,825 patients. Breast. 2008;17(4):323-34.

104. Colozza M, Azambuja E, Cardoso F, Sotiriou C, Larsimont D, Piccart MJ. Proliferative markers as prognostic and predictive tools in early breast cancer: where are we now? Ann Oncol. 2005;16(11):1723-39.

105. Luporsi E, Andre F, Spyratos F, Martin PM, Jacquemier J, Penault-Llorca F, et al. Ki-67: level of evidence and methodological considerations for its role in the clinical management of breast cancer: analytical and critical review. Breast cancer research and treatment. 2012;132(3):895-915.

106. Viale G, Giobbie-Hurder A, Regan MM, Coates AS, Mastropasqua MG, Dell'Orto P, et al. Prognostic and predictive value of centrally reviewed Ki-67 labeling index in postmenopausal women with endocrine-responsive breast cancer: results from Breast International Group Trial 1-98 comparing adjuvant tamoxifen with letrozole. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(34):5569-75.

107. Davey MG, Hynes SO, Kerin MJ, Miller N, Lowery AJ. Ki-67 as a Prognostic Biomarker in Invasive Breast Cancer. Cancers (Basel). 2021;13(17).

108. Nielsen TO, Leung SCY, Rimm DL, Dodson A, Acs B, Badve S, et al. Assessment of Ki67 in Breast Cancer: Updated Recommendations From the International Ki67 in Breast Cancer Working Group. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2021;113(7):808-19.

109. Lombardi A, Lazzeroni R, Bersigotti L, Vitale V, Amanti C. The Proper Ki-67 Cut-Off in Hormone Responsive Breast Cancer: A Monoinstitutional Analysis with Long-Term Follow-Up. Breast Cancer (Dove Med Press). 2021;13:213-7.

110. Petrelli F, Viale G, Cabiddu M, Barni S. Prognostic value of different cut-off levels of Ki-67 in breast cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of 64,196 patients. Breast cancer research and treatment. 2015;153(3):477-91.

111. Tashima R, Nishimura R, Osako T, Nishiyama Y, Okumura Y, Nakano M, et al. Evaluation of an Optimal Cut-Off Point for the Ki-67 Index as a Prognostic Factor in Primary Breast Cancer: A Retrospective Study. PLoS One. 2015;10(7):e0119565.

112. Denkert C, Budczies J, von Minckwitz G, Wienert S, Loibl S, Klauschen F. Strategies for developing Ki67 as a useful biomarker in breast cancer. Breast. 2015;24 Suppl 2:S67-72.

113. Romero Q, Bendahl PO, Ferno M, Grabau D, Borgquist S. A novel model for Ki67 assessment in breast cancer. Diagn Pathol. 2014;9.

114. Varga Z, Diebold J, Dommann-Scherrer C, Frick H, Kaup D, Noske A, et al. How reliable is Ki-67 immunohistochemistry in grade 2 breast carcinomas? A QA study of the Swiss Working Group of Breast- and Gynecopathologists. PLoS One. 2012;7(5):e37379.

115. Coates AS, Winer EP, Goldhirsch A, Gelber RD, Gnant M, Piccart-Gebhart M, et al. Tailoring therapies--improving the management of early breast cancer: St Gallen International Expert Consensus on the Primary Therapy of Early Breast Cancer 2015. Ann Oncol. 2015;26(8):1533-46.

116. Gudlaugsson E, Skaland I, Janssen EA, Smaaland R, Shao Z, Malpica A, et al. Comparison of the effect of different techniques for measurement of Ki67 proliferation on reproducibility and prognosis prediction accuracy in breast cancer. Histopathology. 2012;61(6):1134-44.

117. Gudlaugsson E, Klos J, Skaland I, Janssen EA, Smaaland R, Feng W, et al. Prognostic comparison of the proliferation markers (mitotic activity index, phosphohistone H3, Ki67), steroid receptors, HER2, high molecular weight cytokeratins and classical prognostic factors in T(1)(-)(2)N(0)M(0) breast cancer. Pol J Pathol. 2013;64(1):1-8.

118. Acs B, Pelekanou V, Bai Y, Martinez-Morilla S, Toki M, Leung SCY, et al. Ki67 reproducibility using digital image analysis: an inter-platform and inter-operator study. Lab Invest. 2018.

119. Stålhammar G, Robertson S, Wedlund L, Lippert M, Rantalainen M, Bergh J, et al. Digital image analysis of Ki67 in hot spots is superior to both manual Ki67 and mitotic counts in breast cancer. Histopathology. 2018;72(6):974-89.

120. Ye DZ, Field J. PAK signaling in cancer. Cell Logist. 2012;2(2):105-16.

121. Radu M, Semenova G, Kosoff R, Chernoff J. PAK signalling during the development and progression of cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2014;14(1):13-25.

122. Rane CK, Minden A. P21 activated kinase signaling in cancer. Semin Cancer Biol. 2019;54:40-9.

123. Kumar R, Sanawar R, Li X, Li F. Structure, biochemistry, and biology of PAK kinases. Gene. 2017;605:20-31.

124. Shrestha Y, Schafer EJ, Boehm JS, Thomas SR, He F, Du J, et al. PAK1 is a breast cancer oncogene that coordinately activates MAPK and MET signaling. Oncogene. 2012;31(29):3397-408.

125. Balasenthil S, Sahin AA, Barnes CJ, Wang RA, Pestell RG, Vadlamudi RK, et al. p21-activated kinase-1 signaling mediates cyclin D1 expression in mammary epithelial and cancer cells. J Biol Chem. 2004;279(2):1422-8.

126. Dang Y, Guo Y, Ma X, Chao X, Wang F, Cai L, et al. Systemic analysis of the expression and prognostic significance of PAKs in breast cancer. Genomics. 2020;112(3):2433-44.

127. Song P, Song B, Liu J, Wang X, Nan X, Wang J. Blockage of PAK1 alleviates the proliferation and invasion of NSCLC cells via inhibiting ERK and AKT signaling activity. Clinical and Translational Oncology. 2021;23(4):892-901.

128. Wang RA, Zhang H, Balasenthil S, Medina D, Kumar R. PAK1 hyperactivation is sufficient for mammary gland tumor formation. Oncogene. 2006;25(20):2931-6.

129. Park J, Kim JM, Park JK, Huang S, Kwak SY, Ryu KA, et al. Association of p21-activated kinase-1 activity with aggressive tumor behavior and poor prognosis of head and neck cancer. Head Neck. 2015;37(7):953-63.

130. Siu MK, Wong ES, Chan HY, Kong DS, Woo NW, Tam KF, et al. Differential expression and phosphorylation of Pak1 and Pak2 in ovarian cancer: effects on prognosis and cell invasion. Int J Cancer. 2010;127(1):21-31.

131. Holm C, Rayala S, Jirstrom K, Stal O, Kumar R, Landberg G. Association between Pak1 expression and subcellular localization and tamoxifen resistance in breast cancer patients. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2006;98(10):671-80.

132. Mira JP, Benard V, Groffen J, Sanders LC, Knaus UG. Endogenous, hyperactive Rac3 controls proliferation of breast cancer cells by a p21-activated kinase-dependent pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000;97(1):185-9.

133. Kanumuri R, Saravanan R, Pavithra V, Sundaram S, Rayala SK, Venkatraman G. Current trends and opportunities in targeting p21 activated kinase-1(PAK1) for therapeutic management of breast cancers. Gene. 2020;760:144991.

134. Semenova G, Chernoff J. Targeting PAK1. Biochem Soc Trans. 2017;45(1):79-88.

135. Pérez-Yépez EA, Saldívar-Cerón HI, Villamar-Cruz O, Pérez-Plasencia C, Arias-Romero LE. p21 Activated kinase 1: Nuclear activity and its role during DNA damage repair. DNA Repair (Amst). 2018;65:42-6. 136. Rajendran S, Swaroop SS, Roy J, Inemai E, Murugan S, Rayala SK, et al. p21 activated kinase-1 and tamoxifen - A deadly nexus impacting breast cancer outcomes. Biochim Biophys Acta Rev Cancer. 2022;1877(1):188668.

137. Agarwal S, Kashaw SK. Potential target identification for breast cancer and screening of small molecule inhibitors: A bioinformatics approach. J Biomol Struct Dyn. 2021;39(6):1975-89.

138. Saldivar-Cerón HI, Villamar-Cruz O, Wells CM, Oguz I, Spaggiari F, Chernoff J, et al. p21-Activated Kinase 1 Promotes Breast Tumorigenesis via Phosphorylation and Activation of the Calcium/Calmodulin-Dependent Protein Kinase II. Front Cell Dev Biol. 2021;9:759259.

139. Bostner J, Ahnström Waltersson M, Fornander T, Skoog L, Nordenskjöld B, Stål O. Amplification of CCND1 and PAK1 as predictors of recurrence and tamoxifen resistance in postmenopausal breast cancer. Oncogene. 2007;26(49):6997-7005.

140. Karlsson E, Waltersson MA, Bostner J, Pérez-Tenorio G, Olsson B, Hallbeck AL, et al. Highresolution genomic analysis of the 11q13 amplicon in breast cancers identifies synergy with 8p12 amplification, involving the mTOR targets S6K2 and 4EBP1. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2011;50(10):775-87.

141. Zhou R, Zhu X, Peng Y, Zhong L, Peng L, Yang B, et al. Clinical Impact of 11q13.3 Amplification on Immune Cell Infiltration and Prognosis in Breast Cancer. International Journal of General Medicine. 2022;15(null):4037-52.

142. Belli S, Esposito D, Allotta A, Servetto A, Ciciola P, Pesapane A, et al. Pak1 pathway hyperactivation mediates resistance to endocrine therapy and CDK4/6 inhibitors in ER+ breast cancer. npj Breast Cancer. 2023;9(1):48.

143. García-Becerra R, Santos N, Díaz L, Camacho J. Mechanisms of Resistance to Endocrine Therapy in Breast Cancer: Focus on Signaling Pathways, miRNAs and Genetically Based Resistance. International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 2013;14(1):108-45.

144. Coons AH, Creech HJ, Jones RN. Immunological Properties of an Antibody Containing a Fluorescent Group. Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine. 1941;47(2):200-2.

145. Burns J, Hambridge M, Taylor CR. Intracellular immunoglobulins. A comparative study on three standard tissue processing methods using horseradish peroxidase and fluorochrome conjugates. J Clin Pathol. 1974;27(7):548-57.

146. Taylor CR, Burns J. The demonstration of plasma cells and other immunoglobulin-containing cells in formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissues using peroxidase-labelled antibody. J Clin Pathol. 1974;27(1):14-20.

147. Ramos-Vara JA, Miller MA. When tissue antigens and antibodies get along: revisiting the technical aspects of immunohistochemistry--the red, brown, and blue technique. Vet Pathol. 2014;51(1):42-87.

148. Sompuram SR, Vani K, Messana E, Bogen SA. A molecular mechanism of formalin fixation and antigen retrieval. Am J Clin Pathol. 2004;121(2):190-9.

149. Magalhaes AC, Rivera C. Superior performance of decloaking chamber-based heat-induced epitope retrieval method improves the quantification of Olig2 cells in paraffin-embedded section of embryonic mouse brain. J Neurosci Methods. 2014;235:226-33.

150. Fedchenko N, Reifenrath J. Different approaches for interpretation and reporting of immunohistochemistry analysis results in the bone tissue - a review. Diagn Pathol. 2014;9:221.

151. Gall JG. The origin of in situ hybridization - A personal history. Methods. 2016;98:4-9.

152. Pardue ML, Gall JG. Molecular hybridization of radioactive DNA to the DNA of cytological preparations. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1969;64(2):600-4.

153. Bauman JGJ, Wiegant J, Borst P, van Duijn P. A new method for fluorescence microscopical localization of specific DNA sequences by in situ hybridization of fluorochrome-labelled RNA. Experimental Cell Research. 1980;128(2):485-90.

154. Swiger RR, Tucker JD. Fluorescence in situ hybridization: a brief review. Environ Mol Mutagen. 1996;27(4):245-54.

155. Chrzanowska NM, Kowalewski J, Lewandowska MA. Use of Fluorescence In Situ Hybridization (FISH) in Diagnosis and Tailored Therapies in Solid Tumors. Molecules. 2020;25(8):1864.

156. Bofin AM, Ytterhus B, Martin C, O'Leary JJ, Hagmar BM. Detection and quantitation of HER-2 gene amplification and protein expression in breast carcinoma. Am J Clin Pathol. 2004;122(1):110-9.

157. Mass RD, Press MF, Anderson S, Cobleigh MA, Vogel CL, Dybdal N, et al. Evaluation of clinical outcomes according to HER2 detection by fluorescence in situ hybridization in women with metastatic breast cancer treated with trastuzumab. Clinical breast cancer. 2005;6(3):240-6.

158. Sapino A, Marchiò C, Senetta R, Castellano I, Macrì L, Cassoni P, et al. Routine assessment of prognostic factors in breast cancer using a multicore tissue microarray procedure. Virchows Arch. 2006;449(3):288-96.

159. Kononen J, Bubendorf L, Kallionimeni A, Bärlund M, Schraml P, Leighton S, et al. Tissue microarrays for high-throughput molecular profiling of tumor specimens. Nature Medicine. 1998;4(7):844-7.

160. DiVito KA, Charette LA, Rimm DL, Camp RL. Long-term preservation of antigenicity on tissue microarrays. Lab Invest. 2004;84(8):1071-8.

161. Camp RL, Charette LA, Rimm DL. Validation of tissue microarray technology in breast carcinoma. Laboratory investigation. 2000;80(12):1943-9.

162. Chiriboga L, Osman I, Mikhail M, Lau C. Tissue microarrays, tread carefully. Laboratory Investigation. 2004;84(12):1677.

163. Glinsmann-Gibson B, Wisner L, Stanton M, Larsen B, Rimsza L, Maguire A. Recommendations for Tissue Microarray Construction and Quality Assurance. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol. 2020;28(4):325-30.

164. Torhorst J, Bucher C, Kononen J, Haas P, Zuber M, Kochli OR, et al. Tissue microarrays for rapid linking of molecular changes to clinical endpoints. Am J Pathol. 2001;159(6):2249-56.

165. Engellau J. Prognostic factors in soft tissue sarcomaTissue microarray for immunostaining, the importance of whole-tumor sections and time-dependence. Acta Orthopaedica Scandinavica. 2004;75(sup314):1-52.

166. Ciesielska U, Piotrowska A, Kobierzycki C, Pastuszewski W, Podhorska-Okolow M, Dziegiel P, et al. Comparison of TMA Technique and Routine Whole Slide Analysis in Evaluation of Proliferative Markers Expression in Laryngeal Squamous Cell Cancer. In Vivo. 2020;34(6):3263-70.

167. Parker RL, Huntsman DG, Lesack DW, Cupples JB, Grant DR, Akbari M, et al. Assessment of interlaboratory variation in the immunohistochemical determination of estrogen receptor status using a breast cancer tissue microarray. Am J Clin Pathol. 2002;117(5):723-8.

168. Kyndi M, Sørensen FB, Knudsen H, Overgaard M, Nielsen HM, Andersen J, et al. Tissue microarrays compared with whole sections and biochemical analyses. A subgroup analysis of DBCG 82 b&c. Acta Oncologica. 2008;47(4):591-9.

169. Eide TJ, Nordrum I. Current status of telepathology. APMIS. 1994;102(12):881-90.

170. Schenk MP, Manning RJ, Paalman MH. Going digital: image preparation for biomedical publishing. The Anatomical record. 1999;257(4):128-36.

171. Barbareschi M, Demichelis F, Forti S, Dalla Palma P. Digital Pathology: Science Fiction? International journal of surgical pathology. 2000;8(4):261-3.

Pantanowitz L, Valenstein PN, Evans AJ, Kaplan KJ, Pfeifer JD, Wilbur DC, et al. Review of the current state of whole slide imaging in pathology. Journal of pathology informatics. 2011;2(1):36.
 Gifford AJ, Colebatch AJ, Litkouhi S, Hersch F, Warzecha W, Snook K, et al. Remote frozen section examination of breast sentinel lymph nodes by telepathology. ANZ journal of surgery. 2012;82(11):803-8.

174. Evans AJ, Chetty R, Clarke BA, Croul S, Ghazarian DM, Kiehl T-R, et al., editors. Primary frozen section diagnosis by robotic microscopy and virtual slide telepathology: the University Health Network experience. Seminars in diagnostic pathology; 2009: Elsevier.

175. Pantanowitz L, Dickinson K, Evans AJ, Hassell LA, Henricks WH, Lennerz JK, et al. American Telemedicine Association clinical guidelines for telepathology. Journal of pathology informatics. 2014;5.

176. Farahani N, Parwani AV, Pantanowitz L. Whole slide imaging in pathology: advantages, limitations, and emerging perspectives. Pathology and Laboratory Medicine International. 2015;7(null):23-33.

177. Hamilton PW, Bankhead P, Wang Y, Hutchinson R, Kieran D, McArt DG, et al. Digital pathology and image analysis in tissue biomarker research. Methods. 2014;70(1):59-73.

178. Jahn SW, Plass M, Moinfar F. Digital Pathology: Advantages, Limitations and Emerging Perspectives. J Clin Med. 2020;9(11).

179. García-Rojo M. International clinical guidelines for the adoption of digital pathology: a review of technical aspects. Pathobiology. 2016;83(2-3):99-109.

180. Commission E. Directive 98/79/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 October 1998 on in vitro diagnostic medical devices. Off J Eur Commun. 1998;331:1-37.

181. Baumgartner C, Schröttner J, Müllner PS. Regulatory Framework for Medical Devices and IVDs in Europe. Medical Devices and In Vitro Diagnostics: Requirements in Europe: Springer Nature Switzerland AG; 2022. p. 1-37.

182. Valla M, Vatten LJ, Engstrom MJ, Haugen OA, Akslen LA, Bjorngaard JH, et al. Molecular Subtypes of Breast Cancer: Long-term Incidence Trends and Prognostic Differences. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2016;25(12):1625-34.

183. Sandvei MS, Opdahl S, Valla M, Lagiou P, Vesterfjell EV, Rise TV, et al. The association of women's birth size with risk of molecular breast cancer subtypes: a cohort study. BMC Cancer. 2021;21(1):299.

184. KVÂLE G, HEUCH I, EIDE GE. A PROSPECTIVE STUDY OF REPRODUCTIVE FACTORS AND BREAST CANCER: I. PARITY. American Journal of Epidemiology. 1987;126(5):831-41.

185. Holmen m.fl J. The Nord-Trøndelag Health Study 1995-97 (HUNT 2). Norsk Epidemiologi. 2011;13(1).

186. Loughrey MB, Bankhead P, Coleman HG, Hagan RS, Craig S, McCorry AMB, et al. Validation of the systematic scoring of immunohistochemically stained tumour tissue microarrays using QuPath digital image analysis. Histopathology. 2018;73(2):327-38.

187. Bankhead P, Fernandez JA, McArt DG, Boyle DP, Li G, Loughrey MB, et al. Integrated tumor identification and automated scoring minimizes pathologist involvement and provides new insights to key biomarkers in breast cancer. Lab Invest. 2018;98(1):15-26.

188. Veierød MB, Laake P, Lydersen S. Medical Statistics: In Clinical and Epidemiological Research: Gyldendal akademisk; 2012.

189. Andersen PK, Geskus RB, de Witte T, Putter H. Competing risks in epidemiology: possibilities and pitfalls. Int J Epidemiol. 2012;41(3):861-70.

190. Gray RJ. A Class of K-Sample Tests for Comparing the Cumulative Incidence of a Competing Risk. The Annals of Statistics. 1988;16(3):1141-54.

191. Altman DG, Bland JM. Measurement in medicine: the analysis of method comparison studies. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society Series D: The Statistician. 1983;32(3):307-17.

192. Giavarina D. Understanding Bland Altman analysis. Biochem Med (Zagreb). 2015;25(2):141-51.

193. Kumar D, Klefsjö B. Proportional hazards model: a review. Reliability Engineering & System Safety. 1994;44(2):177-88.

194. Zhong FF, Bi R, Yu BH, Yang F, Yang WT, Shui RH. A Comparison of Visual Assessment and Automated Digital Image Analysis of Ki67 Labeling Index in Breast Cancer. Plos One. 2016;11(2):11.
195. Lea D, Gudlaugsson EG, Skaland I, Lillesand M, Søreide K, Søreide JA. Digital Image Analysis of the Proliferation Markers Ki67 and Phosphohistone H3 in Gastroenteropancreatic Neuroendocrine Neoplasms: Accuracy of Grading Compared With Routine Manual Hot Spot Evaluation of the Ki67 Index. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol. 2021;29(7):499-505.

196. Koopman T, Buikema HJ, Hollema H, de Bock GH, van der Vegt B. Digital image analysis of Ki67 proliferation index in breast cancer using virtual dual staining on whole tissue sections: clinical validation and inter-platform agreement. Breast cancer research and treatment. 2018;169(1):33-42.

197. Laurinavicius A, Plancoulaine B, Laurinaviciene A, Herlin P, Meskauskas R, Baltrusaityte I, et al. A methodology to ensure and improve accuracy of Ki67 labelling index estimation by automated digital image analysis in breast cancer tissue. Breast Cancer Res. 2014;16(2):R35.

198. Egeland NG, Jonsdottir K, Lauridsen KL, Skaland I, Hjorth CF, Gudlaugsson EG, et al. Digital Image Analysis of Ki-67 Stained Tissue Microarrays and Recurrence in Tamoxifen-Treated Breast Cancer Patients. Clin Epidemiol. 2020;12:771-81.

199. Coates AS, Winer EP, Goldhirsch A, Gelber RD, Gnant M, Piccart-Gebhart M, et al. Tailoring therapies--improving the management of early breast cancer: St Gallen International Expert Consensus on the Primary Therapy of Early Breast Cancer 2015. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology. 2015;26(8):1533-46.

200. Reinert T, de Souza ABA, Sartori GP, Obst FM, Barrios CH. Highlights of the 17th St Gallen International Breast Cancer Conference 2021: customising local and systemic therapies. Ecancermedicalscience. 2021;15:1236.

201. Romero Q, Bendahl P-O, Klintman M, Loman N, Ingvar C, Rydén L, et al. Ki67 proliferation in core biopsies versus surgical samples - a model for neo-adjuvant breast cancer studies. BMC Cancer. 2011;11(1):341.

202. Shafi S, Kellough DA, Lujan G, Satturwar S, Parwani AV, Li Z. Integrating and validating automated digital imaging analysis of estrogen receptor immunohistochemistry in a fully digital workflow for clinical use. Journal of Pathology Informatics. 2022;13:100122.

203. Rizzardi AE, Zhang X, Vogel RI, Kolb S, Geybels MS, Leung Y-K, et al. Quantitative comparison and reproducibility of pathologist scoring and digital image analysis of estrogen receptor β 2 immunohistochemistry in prostate cancer. Diagn Pathol. 2016;11(1):63.

204. Gavrielides MA, Gallas BD, Lenz P, Badano A, Hewitt SM. Observer variability in the interpretation of HER2/neu immunohistochemical expression with unaided and computer-aided digital microscopy. Archives of pathology & laboratory medicine. 2011;135(2):233-42.

205. McCabe A, Dolled-Filhart M, Camp RL, Rimm DL. Automated Quantitative Analysis (AQUA) of In Situ Protein Expression, Antibody Concentration, and Prognosis. JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 2005;97(24):1808-15.

206. Rimm DL, Giltnane JM, Moeder C, Harigopal M, Chung GG, Camp RL, et al. Bimodal population or pathologist artifact? Journal of clinical oncology. 2007;25(17):2487-8.

207. Davies C, Godwin J, Gray R, Clarke M, Cutter D, Darby S, et al. Relevance of breast cancer hormone receptors and other factors to the efficacy of adjuvant tamoxifen: patient-level meta-analysis of randomised trials. Lancet. 2011;378(9793):771-84.

208. Ghosh A, Awasthi S, Peterson JR, Hamburger AW. Regulation of tamoxifen sensitivity by a PAK1–EBP1 signalling pathway in breast cancer. British Journal of Cancer. 2013;108(3):557-63.

209. Meng X, Li W, Meng Z, Li Y. EIF4A3-induced circBRWD3 promotes tumorigenesis of breast cancer through miR-142-3p_miR-142-5p/RAC1/PAK1 signaling. BMC Cancer. 2022;22(1):1225.

210. Norway CRo. Cancer in Norway 2021 - Cancer incidence, mortality, survival and prevalence in

Norway. Oslo; 2022.

211. Hofvind S, Ursin G, Tretli S, Sebuodegard S, Moller B. Breast cancer mortality in participants of the Norwegian Breast Cancer Screening Program. Cancer. 2013;119(17):3106-12.

212. Weedon-Fekjaer H, Romundstad PR, Vatten LJ. Modern mammography screening and breast cancer mortality: population study. BMJ. 2014;348:g3701.

213. Yu KD, Cai YW, Wu SY, Shui RH, Shao ZM. Estrogen receptor-low breast cancer: Biology chaos and treatment paradox. Cancer Commun (Lond). 2021;41(10):968-80.

214. Fei F, Siegal GP, Wei S. Characterization of estrogen receptor-low-positive breast cancer. Breast cancer research and treatment. 2021;188(1):225-35.

215. Fusco N, Ragazzi M, Sajjadi E, Venetis K, Piciotti R, Morganti S, et al. Assessment of estrogen receptor low positive status in breast cancer: Implications for pathologists and oncologists. Histol Histopathol. 2021;36(12):1235-45.

216. Kim MC, Park MH, Choi JE, Kang SH, Bae YK. Characteristics and Prognosis of Estrogen Receptor Low-Positive Breast Cancer. J Breast Cancer. 2022;25(4):318-26.

217. Chen T, Zhang N, Moran MS, Su P, Haffty BG, Yang Q. Borderline ER-Positive Primary Breast Cancer Gains No Significant Survival Benefit From Endocrine Therapy: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Clinical Breast Cancer. 2018;18(1):1-8.

218. Ogawa Y, Moriya T, Kato Y, Oguma M, Ikeda K, Takashima T, et al. Immunohistochemical assessment for estrogen receptor and progesterone receptor status in breast cancer: analysis for a cut-off point as the predictor for endocrine therapy. Breast Cancer. 2004;11(3):267-75.

219. Leung SCY, Nielsen TO, Zabaglo L, Arun I, Badve SS, Bane AL, et al. Analytical validation of a standardized scoring protocol for Ki67: phase 3 of an international multicenter collaboration. NPJ Breast Cancer. 2016;2:16014.

220. de Azambuja E, Cardoso F, de Castro G, Jr., Colozza M, Mano MS, Durbecq V, et al. Ki-67 as prognostic marker in early breast cancer: a meta-analysis of published studies involving 12,155 patients. Br J Cancer. 2007;96(10):1504-13.

221. Gallardo A, Garcia-Valdecasas B, Murata P, Teran R, Lopez L, Barnadas A, et al. Inverse relationship between Ki67 and survival in early luminal breast cancer: confirmation in a multivariate analysis. Breast cancer research and treatment. 2018;167(1):31-7.

222. Alco G, Bozdogan A, Selamoglu D, Pilanci KN, Tuzlali S, Ordu C, et al. Clinical and histopathological factors associated with Ki-67 expression in breast cancer patients. Oncol Lett. 2015;9(3):1046-54.

223. Untch M, Gerber B, Harbeck N, Jackisch C, Marschner N, Möbus V, et al. 13th st. Gallen international breast cancer conference 2013: primary therapy of early breast cancer evidence, controversies, consensus - opinion of a german team of experts (zurich 2013). Breast Care (Basel). 2013;8(3):221-9.

224. Senn H-J. St. Gallen Consensus 2013: Optimizing and Personalizing Primary Curative Therapy of Breast Cancer Worldwide. Breast Care. 2013;8(2):101-.

225. Gnant M, Thomssen C, Harbeck N. St. Gallen/Vienna 2015: A Brief Summary of the Consensus Discussion. Breast Care (Basel). 2015;10(2):124-30.

226. Bofin AM, Ytterhus B, Klæstad E, Valla M. FGFR1 copy number in breast cancer: associations with proliferation, histopathological grade and molecular subtypes. J Clin Pathol. 2021.

227. Klæstad E, Sawicka JE, Engstrøm MJ, Ytterhus B, Valla M, Bofin AM. ZNF703 gene copy number and protein expression in breast cancer; associations with proliferation, prognosis and luminal subtypes. Breast cancer research and treatment. 2021;186(1):65-77.

228. Valla M, Klæstad E, Ytterhus B, Bofin AM. CCND1 Amplification in Breast Cancer -associations With Proliferation, Histopathological Grade, Molecular Subtype and Prognosis. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia. 2022;27(1):67-77.

229. Valla M, Opdahl S, Ytterhus B, Bofin AM. DTX3 copy number increase in breast cancer: a study of associations to molecular subtype, proliferation and prognosis. Breast cancer research and treatment. 2021;187(1):57-67.

230. Wolff AC, Hammond MEH, Allison KH, Harvey BE, Mangu PB, Bartlett JMS, et al. Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2 Testing in Breast Cancer: American Society of Clinical Oncology/College of American Pathologists Clinical Practice Guideline Focused Update. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(20):2105-22.

231. Balic M, Thomssen C, Würstlein R, Gnant M, Harbeck N. St. Gallen/Vienna 2019: A Brief Summary of the Consensus Discussion on the Optimal Primary Breast Cancer Treatment. Breast Care. 2019;14(2):103-10.
232. Iwamoto T, Booser D, Valero V, Murray JL, Koenig K, Esteva FJ, et al. Estrogen receptor (ER) mRNA and ER-related gene expression in breast cancers that are 1% to 10% ER-positive by immunohistochemistry. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(7):729-34.

233. Fujii T, Kogawa T, Dong W, Sahin AA, Moulder S, Litton JK, et al. Revisiting the definition of estrogen receptor positivity in HER2-negative primary breast cancer. Annals of Oncology. 2017;28(10):2420-8.

234. Larsen IK, Smastuen M, Johannesen TB, Langmark F, Parkin DM, Bray F, et al. Data quality at the Cancer Registry of Norway: an overview of comparability, completeness, validity and timeliness. Eur J Cancer. 2009;45(7):1218-31.

235. Bakken IJ, Ellingsen CL, Pedersen AG, Leistad L, Kinge JM, Ebbing M, et al. Comparison of data from the Cause of Death Registry and the Norwegian Patient Register. Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen. 2015;135(21):1949-53.

236. Carey LA, Perou CM, Livasy CA, Dressler LG, Cowan D, Conway K, et al. Race, breast cancer subtypes, and survival in the Carolina Breast Cancer Study. Jama. 2006;295(21):2492-502.

237. Tao L, Chu L, Wang LI, Moy L, Brammer M, Song C, et al. Occurrence and outcome of de novo metastatic breast cancer by subtype in a large, diverse population. Cancer Causes & Control. 2016;27:1127-38.

238. Tao L, Gomez SL, Keegan TH, Kurian AW, Clarke CA. Breast cancer mortality in African-American and non-Hispanic white women by molecular subtype and stage at diagnosis: a population-based study. Cancer epidemiology, biomarkers & prevention. 2015;24(7):1039-45.

239. Mirlacher M, Kasper M, Storz M, Knecht Y, Dürmüller U, Simon R, et al. Influence of slide aging on results of translational research studies using immunohistochemistry. Mod Pathol. 2004;17(11):1414-20.

240. Grillo F, Bruzzone M, Pigozzi S, Prosapio S, Migliora P, Fiocca R, et al. Immunohistochemistry on old archival paraffin blocks: is there an expiry date? J Clin Pathol. 2017;70(11):988-93.

Dowsett T, Verghese E, Pollock S, Pollard J, Heads J, Hanby A, et al. The value of archival tissue blocks in understanding breast cancer biology. Journal of clinical pathology. 2014;67(3):272-5.
 Camp RL, Charette LA, Rimm DL. Validation of tissue microarray technology in breast carcinoma. Lab Invest. 2000;80(12):1943-9.

243. Benini E, Rao S, Daidone MG, Pilotti S, Silvestrini R. Immunoreactivity to MIB-1 in breast cancer: methodological assessment and comparison with other proliferation indices. Cell Prolif. 1997;30(3-4):107-15.

244. Arber DA. Effect of prolonged formalin fixation on the immunohistochemical reactivity of breast markers. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol. 2002;10(2):183-6.

245. Cattoretti G, Becker MH, Key G, Duchrow M, Schluter C, Galle J, et al. Monoclonal antibodies against recombinant parts of the Ki-67 antigen (MIB 1 and MIB 3) detect proliferating cells in microwave-processed formalin-fixed paraffin sections. J Pathol. 1992;168(4):357-63.

246. Ehinger A, Bendahl P-o, Rydén L, Fernö M, Alkner S. Stability of oestrogen and progesterone receptor antigenicity in formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded breast cancer tissue over time. APMIS. 2018;126(9):746-54.

247. Xie R, Chung J-Y, Ylaya K, Williams RL, Guerrero N, Nakatsuka N, et al. Factors influencing the degradation of archival formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded tissue sections. Journal of Histochemistry & Cytochemistry. 2011;59(4):356-65.

248. Economou M, Schöni L, Hammer C, Galván JA, Mueller D-E, Zlobec I. Proper paraffin slide storage is crucial for translational research projects involving immunohistochemistry stains. Clinical and translational medicine. 2014;3(1):1-3.

249. Pinder SE, Brown JP, Gillett C, Purdie CA, Speirs V, Thompson AM, et al. The manufacture and assessment of tissue microarrays: suggestions and criteria for analysis, with breast cancer as an example. J Clin Pathol. 2013;66(3):169-77.

250. Rosen DG, Huang X, Deavers MT, Malpica A, Silva EG, Liu J. Validation of tissue microarray technology in ovarian carcinoma. Mod Pathol. 2004;17(7):790-7.

251. Wang M, Zhao J, Zhang L, Wei F, Lian Y, Wu Y, et al. Role of tumor microenvironment in tumorigenesis. J Cancer. 2017;8(5):761-73.

252. Yoshimoto M, Ludkovski O, Good J, Pereira C, Gooding RJ, McGowan-Jordan J, et al. Correction to: Use of multicolor fluorescence in situ hybridization to detect deletions in clinical tissue sections. Laboratory Investigation. 2018;98(6):839-.

253. Pfaller W. Basic Principles of Stereology. Structure Function Correlation on Rat Kidney: Quantitative Correlation of Structure and Function in the Normal and Injured Rat Kidney. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 1982. p. 6-11.

Paper I

RESEARCH

Visual and digital assessment of Ki-67 in breast cancer tissue - a comparison of methods

Anette H. Skjervold^{1*}, Henrik Sahlin Pettersen^{1,2}, Marit Valla^{1,2}, Signe Opdahl³ and Anna M. Bofin¹

Abstract

Background: In breast cancer (BC) Ki-67 cut-off levels, counting methods and inter- and intraobserver variation are still unresolved. To reduce inter-laboratory differences, it has been proposed that cut-off levels for Ki-67 should be determined based on the in-house median of 500 counted tumour cell nuclei. Digital image analysis (DIA) has been proposed as a means to standardize assessment of Ki-67 staining in tumour tissue. In this study we compared digital and visual assessment (VA) of Ki-67 protein expression levels in full-face sections from a consecutive series of BCs. The aim was to identify the number of tumour cells necessary to count in order to reflect the growth potential of a given tumour in both methods, as measured by tumour grade, mitotic count and patient outcome.

Methods: A series of whole sections from 248 invasive carcinomas of no special type were immunohistochemically stained for Ki-67 and then assessed by VA and DIA. Five 100-cell increments were counted in hot spot areas using both VA and DIA. The median numbers of Ki-67 positive tumour cells were used to calculate cut-off levels for Low, Intermediate and High Ki-67 protein expression in both methods.

Results: We found that the percentage of Ki-67 positive tumour cells was higher in DIA compared to VA (medians after 500 tumour cells counted were 22.3% for VA and 30% for DIA). While the median Ki-67% values remained largely unchanged across the 100-cell increments for VA, median values were highest in the first 1-200 cells counted using DIA. We also found that the DIA100 High group identified the largest proportion of histopathological grade 3 tumours 70/101 (69.3%).

Conclusions: We show that assessment of Ki-67 in breast tumours using DIA identifies a greater proportion of cases with high Ki-67 levels compared to VA of the same tumours. Furthermore, we show that diagnostic cut-off levels should be calibrated appropriately on the introduction of new methodology.

Keywords: Ki-67, Cell proliferation, Immunohistochemistry, Digital pathology, Digital image assessment, Breast cancer

* Correspondence: anette.skjervold@ntnu.no

¹Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Erling Skjalgssons gate 1, Trondheim, Norway

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



© The Author(s). 2022 **Open Access** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit time to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedicated in a credit line to the dat



Open Access

Introduction

Sustained proliferative signalling is one of the hallmarks of cancer, as proposed by Hanahan and Weinberg in 2011 [1]. The nuclear antigen detected by the Ki-67 antibody is a marker of the growth fraction of a tumour. It is expressed in the G1, S, G2 and M phases of the cell cycle, but not in the resting phase, G0. While expression levels are low in G1 and S, they peak during G2 and M [2]. In breast cancer (BC), immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of the Ki-67 antigen is commonly used in the assessment of the proliferative activity of the tumour. It can provide information on prognosis and predict response to treatment in the adjuvant and neoadjuvant settings [3–6]. High Ki-67 score is associated with poor prognosis [7] but also a good response to chemotherapy [8, 9].

In molecular subtyping of BC, Ki-67 can be used to distinguish between Luminal A-like (Ki-67 low) and HER2 negative Luminal B-like (Ki-67 high) BC subtypes [10, 11]. While Luminal A patients generally have a good prognosis and may qualify for endocrine treatment only, Luminal B patients have a poorer prognosis and will often be given chemotherapy in addition. Thus, differentiation between these two subtypes has important therapeutic value [8, 10, 12].

Although the clinical validity of the Ki-67 Proliferation Index is accepted in BC, its clinical utility is still regarded as limited and there is a lack of consensus on the appropriate number of cells to count and cut-off levels for prognostication and treatment [13]. Furthermore, inter- and intra-observer agreement in the assessment of Ki-67 is poor [14–19].

Ki-67-staining is often heterogeneous within a tumour [20, 21]. In the assessment of Ki-67 IHC, only positively stained nuclei and mitotic figures should be scored, regardless of staining intensity, and between 500 and 1000 tumour cells should be counted in hotspot areas [22, 23]. According to the International Ki67 in Breast Cancer Working Group, Ki-67 levels between 5% and 30% are subject to considerable interobserver and interlaboratory variability. They suggest that only very low (< 5%) or very high (\geq 30) levels should be considered clinically actionable [13, 24]. To ameliorate issues of interlaboratory variation, the 14th St. Gallen International Breast Cancer Conference in 2015 proposed that the inhouse median value at each laboratory should be used to determine cut-off values due to interlaboratory differences [17].

Several studies have suggested the use of automated digital image analysis (DIA) to improve reproducibility in the assessment of Ki-67. With the introduction of DIA, it should be possible to redefine interpretation algorithms for biomarker assessment for both established clinical and novel biomarkers in BC, and address the issue of inter- and intraobserver variation in the interpretation of these biomarkers [15, 18, 19, 25–29].

In this study we compared visual assessment (VA) and DIA of tissue sections stained for Ki-67 in a consecutive series of BCs. The aim was to identify the number of tumour cells necessary to count in each method to reflect the growth potential of a given tumour, as measured by tumour grade, mitotic count and patient outcome.

Materials and methods

Study population

The study comprises 250 BCs from a larger series of BC patients. The background population from which this series arises comprises 25,727 women born between 1886 and 1928 in Nord-Trøndelag County in Norway, who were followed for BC occurrence from 1961 to 2008. In total, 1379 cases of BC were diagnosed during follow-up, and 909 of these tumours were classified into six molecular subtypes using IHC and chromogenic *in situ* hybridization (CISH) as surrogates for gene expression analysis [30]. After diagnosis, all patients were followed until death from BC, or death from other causes or until December 31st, 2015 [30, 31].

In the present study, we included 250 consecutive cases of invasive carcinoma of no special type [32]. Two cases were excluded due to unsatisfactory staining (Fig. 1).

Immunohistochemistry

Full-face sections 4 µm thick, mounted on SuperFrost glass slides, were retrieved from storage (-20 °C). Paraffin was removed using TissueClear and sections were rehydrated with ethanol and water. Slides were heated at 60 °C for two hours and pretreated in a PT Link Pre-Treatment Module for Tissue Specimens (Dako Denmark A/S, 2600 Glostrup, DK) with a buffer (Low pH Target Retrieval Solution K8005) at 97 °C for 20 min. The Ki-67 antibody was applied (Clone MIB1, 35 mg/L, 1:100, Dako Denmark A/S, Glostrup, Denmark) in a DakoCytomation Autostainer Plus (Dako), with 40 min incubation time. Dako REAL[™]EnVision[™] Detection System with Peroxidase/DAB+, Rabbit/ Mouse (K5007), was used for visualization.

Digital image analysis

The IHC-stained slides were scanned at 40X magnification with a resolution of 0.23 μ m/pixel using Hamamatsu NanoZoomer S360 Digital Slide scanner C13220-01 (Inter Instruments AS) at the Department of Pathology, St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Norway. The digital images were analysed for Ki-67 protein expression using the open-source, DIA software QuPath v. 0.1.2 [27].



Training of the classifier

A separate series of 19 representative cases from the main cohort were used as a training set to train a two-class object classifier in QuPath after watershed nucleus detection [27]. The tumour area was delineated manually in the QuPath software. Cell nuclei (training objects) were selected and defined as either epithelial tumour cell nuclei or other (non-tumour cell nuclei or tumor stroma cell nuclei) in the whole slide images (WSI).

In the training set, stains were digitally separated using the colour deconvolution method and the automated "Estimate stain vectors" function in QuPath [27]. Watershed cell nucleus detection was performed and optimized visually using the following settings: Optical density (OD) sum; requested pixel size 0.4 μ m; background radius 8.0 μ m; median filter radius 1.5 μ m; sigma 1.5 μ m; min/max area 10/350 μ m; threshold 0.02; maximum background intensity 3.0; and cell expansion 5 μ m. Smoothing of object features (25, 50 and 100 μ m) was applied. The threshold value for Ki-67-positivity (nucleus DAB OD mean) was assessed and adjusted manually, to best correspond to the visual perception of Ki-67 positivity in VA. Hence, the threshold was finally set to 0.15 nucleus DAB OD mean for all slides. A cell nucleus detection object two-class Random Trees classifier (tumour cell nuclei vs. non-tumour cell nuclei) was trained using the default settings [27]. Training continued until visibly acceptable classification was achieved using 67% equally spaced train/test-split, resulting in approximately 85% accuracy. This was obtained using 7514 training objects and 135 object features from the 19 annotated images in the training set. The classifier was saved and applied to the watershed nucleus detections within the manually annotated tumor areas of all 248 cases in this study.

All nuclei in the tumour were detected by running positive cell nucleus detection provided by QuPath, and then sub-classified into epithelial tumour cell nuclei and other intra-tumoural nuclei by the trained classifier. Due to the heterogeneity of BC tissue, additional annotations were subsequently added to the classifier for most of the digital images until visually acceptable discrimination between epithelial tumour cell nuclei and all other nuclei was achieved for each WSI. Examples of annotation of training objects are shown in Fig. 2.

Digital Ki-67 hotspot identification

The tumour area in each of the 248 full-face sections was delineated manually by an experienced breast pathologist and the manual delineation was thereafter used to guide



digital delineation of the tumour in the WSIs in the QuPath software. Ki-67 positive tumour hotspot areas were identified using a semi-automated approach by generating measurement heat maps in QuPath by visualizing nucleus DAB OD mean: Smoothed 50 μ m. The heat maps were manually adjusted for each WSI to identify and annotate the area with the highest density of Ki-67 positive tumour cell nuclei (Fig. 3A-D). Areas with obvious artefacts resulting in false hotspots were manually excluded.

Scoring and reporting Visual assessment

Visual assessment of Ki-67 proliferation rate was done using a brightfield microscope (Nikon Eclipse 80*i*) at 40x magnification. A total of 500 tumour cell nuclei (5×100) were counted in visually selected hotspot areas in each case, starting with the group of 100 cell nuclei which appeared to have the highest proportion of Ki-67 positive cells. The number of positive-staining tumour cell nuclei was recorded separately for each 100-cell increment counted.

Digital image analysis

All cases were assessed for Ki-67 expression using the QuPath software. Once the Ki-67 tumor hotspot was identified using the measurement heat map, five areas containing 100 tumour cell nuclei were manually delineated using the QuPath "brush tool". Counting started in the group of 100 nuclei that, within the identified



tumor (blue/red) and non-tumor (green) classified cells; **D** Measurement heat map showing Ki-67 hot-spots in red

hotspot, appeared to have the highest density of positive staining nuclei according to the heat map and continued in decreasing order of density until five sets of 100 nuclei were counted (Fig. 4).

Cut-off levels for Ki-67 Low/Intermediate/High positivity

We determined cut-off levels based on the median Ki-67 values for each method according to the St. Gallen International Expert Consensus on the Primary Therapy of Early Breast Cancer 2015 [17]. Ki-67 Low was defined as 10% points below the median, and Ki-67 High as 10% points above the median. Values falling between Low and High were classified as Intermediate. The median values of Ki-67 positivity using VA and DIA were calculated for 100 cells (VA100, DIA100); 200 cells (VA200, DIA200); 300 cells: (VA300, DIA300); 400 cells (VA400, DIA400); and 500 cells (VA500, DIA500) (Fig. 5). In the statistical analyses, only the results for VA/DIA100 and VA/DIA500 were used.

Statistical analyses

Tumour characteristics were compared using Pearson's Chi squared test across categories of VA and DIA (Low, Intermediate and High as described above) for 100 and 500 nuclei counted. Bland-Altman plots were used to evaluate the agreement between VA500 as the reference measurement, and DIA100 and DIA500, by estimating the difference between the methods in relation to the mean. Cumulative incidence of death from BC was calculated for VA100, VA500, DIA100 and DIA500, treating death from other causes as competing events. Gray's test was used to compare equality between cumulative incidence curves. Cox proportional hazard analyses were used to estimate hazard ratios (HR) of BC death, with censoring at death from other causes. Harrell's C-test was used to compare the predictive ability of VA100, VA500, DIA100 and DIA500. All analyses were

performed using Stata v. 16.0 (StataCorp LP, College Station, Texas, USA).

Results

Patient and tumour characteristics are presented in Table 1. Of the 248 patients evaluated in this study, 108 had died of BC and 124 had died of other causes by the end of follow-up. There were 16 (6.5%) histopathological grade 1, 131 (52.8%) grade 2, and 101 (40.7%) grade 3 tumours.

Cut-off levels for Low/Intermediate/High Ki-67 positivity

Cut-off levels for Ki-67 positivity were calculated for both VA and DIA according to the median Ki-67 values after 500 tumour cell nuclei were counted (VA500, DIA500). The median Ki-67 level was 22.3% for VA500 and 30.0% for DIA500, as shown in Fig. 5. Thus, for the present study, cut-off levels for VA were set at <12.3% (Ki-67 Low), $\geq 12.3 \leq 32.3\%$ (Ki-67 Intermediate) and > 32.3% (Ki-67 High). For DIA, cut-off levels were set at < 20.0% (Ki-67 Low), $\geq 20.0 \leq 40.0\%$ (Ki-67 Intermediate) and > 40.0% (Ki-67 High).

In VA, there was no clear difference between the median values of the five cumulative 100-cell increments (VA100-VA500) (range 22.3-23.2%). Using DIA, the median value for both DIA100 and DIA200 was 34.0%, falling to 30.0% at DIA500. Cumulative median values for all 100-cell increments (both VA and DIA) are shown in Fig. 5.

Visual assessment

Using the VA median-derived cut-off levels, 48 cases (19.4%) were classified as Ki-67 Low at VA100, falling to 44 (17.7%) at VA500. Twelve cases were upgraded from Ki-67 Low at VA100 to Ki-67 Intermediate at VA500. None were upgraded from Low to High. Similarly, a total of 123 cases (49.6%) were classified as Intermediate



Fig. 4 A and B Hotspot identification and delineation images from QuPath. Areas of 100 tumour cell nuclei ordered from the area with the highest proportion of Ki-67 positive tumour cell nuclei [1] to the lowest [5]



at VA100, rising to 132 (53.2%) at VA500. Eight of these cases were downgraded from Intermediate at VA100 to Low at VA500, and eight were upgraded to High. A total of 77 cases (31.4%) were classified as High at VA100 falling to 72 (29.0%) at VA500. Thirteen cases were downgraded from High at VA100 to Intermediate at VA500, and none were downgraded to Low (Fig. 6).

Digital image analysis

Using the DIA median-derived cut-off levels, 44 cases (17.7%) were classified as Low at DIA100, rising to 75 (30.2%) at DIA500. Thus, with increasing number of cells counted a further 31 cases (12.5%) were classified as Low. None were upgraded from Low to Intermediate at DIA500. One hundred and four cases (41.9%) were classified as Intermediate at DIA100, falling to 94 cases (37.9%) at DIA500. Thirty cases were downgraded from Intermediate at DIA100 to Low at DIA500. None were upgraded to High. One hundred cases (40.3%) were classified as High at DIA100, falling to 79 (31.9%) at DIA500. Twenty-six cases were downgraded from High at DIA100 to Intermediate at DIA500. None were downgraded from High to Low (Fig. 6).

The numbers of cases classified as Low were similar in VA100 (48 cases), VA500 (44 cases) and DIA100 (44 cases) but increased at DIA500 (75 cases). The number of cases classified as High was greatest at DIA100 (100 cases), falling to levels comparable with VA100 (77 cases) and VA500 (72 cases) at DIA500 (79 cases) (Table 1; Fig. 6).

Ki-67 and histopathological grade *Grade 1*

Among the 16 Grade 1 tumours, six (37.5%) tumours were classified as Ki67 Low at VA500. Five cases were classified as Low at DIA100 rising to nine (56.3%) at DIA500 (Table 1).

Grade 2

Of the 131 Grade 2 tumours, 13 (9.9%) were classified as High at VA500. Using DIA, 30 (22.9%) were High at DIA100 falling to 21 (16%) at DIA500. A higher number of Grade 2 tumours were classified as Intermediate in VA compared to DIA (Table 1).

Grade 3

Of the 101 Grade 3 tumours, 59 (58.4%) were classified as High at VA500. Using DIA, 70 (69.3%) were High at DIA100, falling to 58 (57.4%) at DIA500. The number of Grade 3 tumours classified as Low was greatest at DIA500 (12 (16%)) (Table 1).

Ki-67 and mitotic count

There was a clear association (p < 0.001) between high mitotic count (> 14.5 mitoses/10 HPF) and Ki-67 High across all counting modalities. The highest number of cases were observed at DIA100 where 51 of 62 (82.3%) cases with high mitotic count were classified as Ki-67 High (Table 1).

Ki-67 and prognosis

There was no clear association between Ki-67 cell counts and risk of death. By the end of follow-up, 108 (43.5%) patients had died of BC.

For VA100 High, the cumulative risk of death from BC during the first five years after diagnosis was 32.5% (95% CI 23.3–44.2), and 46.8% (95% CI 36.4–58.5) 10 years after diagnosis.

For VA500 High, the corresponding risks were 37.5% (95% CI 27.5–49.7) and 48.6% (95% CI 37.8–60.7),

Total study population	-	VA cat (media	egories an 22.3%	100 cells	5	VA Cat (Media	tegories an 22.3%	500 cell)	s	DIA C (Medi	ategori ian 30%	es 100	cells	DIA C (Medi	ategoi ian 30%	ies 500 %)) cells
		< 12.3	> 12.3- < 32.3	> 32.3	X ²	≤ 12.3	> 12.3- < 32.3	≥ 32.3	X ²	≤20	> 20- < 40	≥40	χ²	≤ 20	> 20- < 40	≥40	X ²
N (%)	248	48	123	77		44	132	72		44	104	100		75	94	79	
Mean age at diagnosis range (42–95) (SD)	69.9 (10.9)	69.7 (11.0)	69.8 (11.5)	70.2 (9.9)		71.7 (11.3)	69.0 (10.9)	70.6 (10.5)		71.0 (10.5)	69.4 (11.2)	69.9 (10.8)		70.5 (11.0)	69.4 (11.2)	70.0 (10.5)	
Mean follow-up, years (SD)	10.9 (9.6)	12.3 (10.3)	11.3 (9.6)	9.4 (9.1)		12.6 (10.4)	11.4 (9.5)	8.9 (9.1)		11.7 (9.4)	11.5 (10.1)	9.9 (9.1)		11.0 (10.0)	12.1 (9.5)	9.4 (9.3)	
Deaths from breast cancer (%)	108 (43.6)	19 (39.6)	46 (37.4)	43 (55.8)	< 0.001	17 (38.6)	49 (37.1)	42 (58.3)	< 0.001	15 (34.1)	39 (37.5)	54 (54.0)	< 0.001	28 (37.3)	38 (40.4)	42 (53.2)	< 0.001
Deaths from other causes (%)	124 (50)	25 (52.1)	69 (56.1)	30 (39.0)		22 (50.0)	75 (56.8)	27 (37.5)		25 (56.8)	57 (54.8)	42 (42.0)		41 (54.7)	49 (52.1)	34 (43.0)	
Histologic g	rade (%)															
I	16 (6.5)	6 (12.5)	10 (8.1)	0	< 0.001	6 (13.6)	10 (7.6)	0	< 0.001	5 (11.4)	11 (10.6))	0	< 0.001	9 (12.0)	7 (7.5)	0	< 0.001
II	131 (52.8)	38 (79.2)	72 (58.5)	21 (27.3)		34 (77.3)	84 (63.6)	13 (18.1)		34 (77.3)	67 (64.4)	30 (30.0)		54 (72.0)	56 (59.6)	21 (26.6)	
III	101 (40.7)	4 (8.3)	41 (33.3)	56 (72.7)		4 (9.1)	38 (28.8)	59 (82)		5 (11.4)	26 (25.0)	70 (70.0)		12 (16.0)	31 (33.0)	58 (73.4)	
Lymph nod	e meta	stasis (9	6)														
Yes	96 (38.7)	18 (37.5)	44 (35.8)	34 (44.2)	0.274	17 (38.6)	47 (35.6)	32 (44.4)	0.536	18 (41.0)	35 (33.7)	43 (43.0)	0.630	28 (37.3)	31 (33.0)	37 (46.8)	0.135
No	96 (38.7)	19 (39.6)	53 (43.1)	24 (31.2)		18 (40.9)	53 (40.2)	25 (34.7)		18 (41.0)	41 (33.7)	37 (37.0)		29 (38.7)	42 (44.7)	25 (31.7)	
Unknown histology	56 (22.6)	11 (22.9)	26 (21.1)	19 (24.7)		9 (20.5)	32 (24.2)	15 (20.8)		8 (18.2)	28 (27.0)	20 (20.0)		18 (24.0)	21 (22.3)	17 (21.5)	
Tumor size	(%)																
≤ 2 cm	113 (45.6)	19 (39.6)	65 (52.9)	29 (37.7)	0.317	17 (38.6)	70 (53.0)	26 (36.1)	0.162	21 (47.7)	52 (50.0)	40 (40.0)	0.863	33 (44.0)	48 (51.1)	32 (40.5)	0.562
>2-≦ 5 cm	34 (13.7)	6 (12.5)	15 (12.2)	13 (16.9)		5 (11.4)	14 (10.6)	15 (20.8)		6 (13.6)	12 (11.5)	16 (16.0)		8 (10.7)	15 (16.0)	11 (13.9)	
Uncertain, but > 2 cm	30 (12.1)	5 (10.4)	15 (12.2)	10 (13.0)		7 (15.9)	13 (9.9)	10 (12.1)		5 (11.4)	11 (10.6)	14 (14.0)		9 (12.0)	11 (11.7)	10 (12.7)	
Uncertain	71 (28.6)	18 (37.5)	28 (22.8)	25 (32.5)		15 (34.1)	35 (26.5)	21 (29.2)		12 (27.3)	29 (27.9)	30 (30.0)		25 (33.3)	20 (21.3)	26 (32.9)	
Stage (%)																	
1	114 (46.0)	19 (39.6)	66 (53.7)	29 (37.7)	0.061	18 (40.9)	69 (52.3)	27 (37.5)	0.288	20 (45.5)	52 (50.0)	42 (42.0)	0.599	33 (44.0)	51 (54.3)	30 (38.0)	0.071
II	101 (40.7)	20 (41.7)	46 (37.4)	35 (45.5)		20 (45.5)	48 (36.4)	33 (45.8)		20 (45.5)	39 (37.5)	42 (42.0)		32 (42.7)	35 (37.2)	34 (43.0)	
III	17 (6.9)	4 (8.3)	8 (6.5)	5 (6.5)		4 (9.1)	8 (6.1)	5 (6.9)		2 (4.6)	7 (6.7)	8 (8.0)		7 (9.3)	2 (2.1)	8 (10.1)	
IV	13 (5.2)	4 (8.3)	1 (0.8)	8 (10.4)		1 (2.3)	5 (3.8)	7 (9.7)		1 (2.3)	4 (3.9)	8 (8.0)		1 (1.3)	5 (5.3)	7 (8.9)	
Unknown	3 (1.2)	1 (2.1)	2 (1.6)	0		1 (2.3)	2 (1.5)	0		1 (2.3)	2 (1.9)	0		2 (2.7)	1 (1.1)	0	

Table 1 Patient and tumour characteristics according to Ki67 visual assessment (VA) and digital image analysis (DIA) of full face tissue sections

Total study population		VA cat (media	egories in 22.3%	100 cells)	;	VA Cat (Media	egories n 22.3%	500 cell:)	5	DIA C (Medi	ategori an 30%	ies 100 6)	cells	DIA C (Medi	ategor an 30%	ies 500 6)) cells
		< 12.3	> 12.3- < 32.3	> 32.3	χ²	≤ 12.3	> 12.3- < 32.3	≥ 32.3	X ²	≤20	> 20- < 40	\geq 40	χ²	≤ 20	> 20- < 40	≥ 40	χ²
Molecular s	ubtype	(%)															
Luminal A	110 (44.4)	36 (75.0)	63 (51.2)	11 (14.3)	< 0.001	36 (81.8)	68 (51.5)	6 (8.3)	< 0.001	36 (81.8)	55 (52.9)	19 (19.0)	< 0.001	60 (80.0)	41 (43.6)	9 (11.4)	< 0.001
Luminal B (HER2-)	82 (33.1)	6 (12.5)	40 (32.5)	36 (46.8)		3 (6.8)	45 (34.1)	34 (47.2)		2 (4.6)	29 (27.9)	51 (51.0)		4 (5.3)	37 (39.4)	41 (51.9)	
Luminal B (HER2+)	28 (11.3)	5 (10.4)	11 (8.9)	12 (15.6)		2 (4.6)	14 (10.6)	12 (16.7)		4 (9.1)	11 (10.6)	13 (13.0)		6 (8.0)	9 (9.6)	13 (16.5)	
HER2 type	12 (4.8)	0	5 (4.1)	7 (9.1)		0	3 (2.3)	9 (12.5)		0	6 (5.8)	6 (6.0)		1 (1.3)	5 (5.3)	6 (7.6)	
TN	16 (6.4)	1 (2.1)	4 (3.2)	11 (14.3)		3 (6.9)	2 (1.5)	11 (15.3)		2 (4.6)	3 (3.0)	11 (11.0)		4 (5.4)	2 (2.2)	10 (12.6)	
Ki67 TMA h	igh/lov	v (%)															
Ki67 < 15%	125 (50.4)	41 (85.4)	70 (56.9)	14 (18.2)	< 0.001	41 (93.2)	75 (56.8)	9 (12.5)	< 0.001	42 (95.5)	62 (59.6)	21 (21.0)	< 0.001	69 (92.0)	45 (47.9)	11 (13.9)	< 0.001
Ki67 ≥ 15%	123 (49.6)	7 (14.6)	53 (43.1)	63 (81.8)		3 (6.8)	57 (43.2)	63 (87.5)		2 (4.6)	42 (40.4)	79 (79.0)		6 (8.0)	49 (52.1)	68 (86.1)	
Mitoses/10 p25 = 3 p50 = 8 p75 = 14.5	HPF m	edian (IO	QR p25,	p75)													
Mitoses/10	HPF qu	artiles (%)														
≤3	72 (29.0)	33 (68.8)	35 (28.5)	4 (5.2)	< 0.001	29 (65.9)	41 (31.1)	2 (2.8)	< 0.001	26 (59.1)	36 (34.6)	10 (10.0)	< 0.001	44 (57.9)	21 (22.6)	7 (8.9)	< 0.001
> 3-≦8	67 (27.0)	9 (18.8)	49 (39.8)	9 (11.7)		11 (25.0)	49 (37.1)	7 (9.7)		11 (25.0)	41 (39.4)	15 (15.0)		21 (27.6)	38 (40.9)	8 (10.1)	
>8-≤14.5	47 (19.0)	6 (12.5)	19 (15.5)	22 (28.6)		4 (9.1)	23 (17.4)	20 (27.8)		6 (13.6)	16 (15.4)	25 (25.0)		10 (13.2)	17 (18.3)	20 (25.3)	
> 14.5	62 (25.0)	0	20 (16.3)	42 (54.6)		0	19 (14.4)	43 (59.7)		1 (2.3)	11 (10.6)	50 (50.0)		1 (1.3)	17 (18.3)	44 (55.7)	

Table 1 Patient and tumour	r characteristics according to Ki67	' visual assessment (VA) a	and digital image analysi:	s (DIA) of full face
tissue sections (Continued)				

al growth factor receptor 2, TN triple negative phenotype, TMA tissue microarray, HPF high power fields 'd deviation, HER2 human ep



For DIA100 High, the cumulative risk of death from BC during the first five years after diagnosis was 31.0% (95% CI 22.9–41.1) and after 10 years 44.0% (CI 34.9–54.3).

For DIA500 High, risk was 32.9% (CI 23.7–44.4) within the first five years, and 44.3% (CI 34.2–55.9) within the first 10 years.

Using DIA100 Low as the reference, the rate of death from BC was unchanged for DIA100 Intermediate but was higher for DIA100 High (HR 1.80 (95% CI 1.02–3.19), Table 2; Fig. 7B).

Comparison of methods

The Bland-Altman plots show that both DIA100 and DIA500 were clearly correlated to VA500. However, the mean values for Ki-67 using DIA (100 and 500) were on average higher than those for VA500, and the differences between DIA and VA500 increased with increasing mean values (Fig. 8). Harrell's C test showed no clear difference in predictive ability between the VA and DIA methods. A Cox model including grade and DIA100 correctly predicted survival times in 61% of cases, compared to 60% of cases for models combining grade and any one of the other three methods (VA100, VA500 and DIA500).

Discussion

In this study we compared Ki-67 protein expression in IHC-stained BC tissue sections assessed by DIA using the QuPath platform, and by VA according to current recommended guidelines [22, 23]. We found that the median Ki-67 level was higher using DIA compared to VA. We show that while the proportion of Ki-67 positive tumour cells did not change substantially with increasing number of cells counted using VA, the number of cells counted did impact the result when using DIA. Furthermore, the highest proportion of patients with Ki-67 High tumours was found when 1-200 cells were counted using DIA. All counting methods predicted a poor prognosis for patients with the highest Ki-67 levels, but with little difference between the methods.

Gerdes proposed in 1984 that, with the help of the monoclonal antibody Ki-67, we now had a simple means of estimating the growth fraction of a given subset of human cells. This would be of particular interest in tumour diagnostics since the proportion of proliferating cells in given neoplasms would be of prognostic value and could contribute to the determination of treatment strategies [2]. Ki-67 is now used as a prognostic marker and may also be used as a predictive marker of response to chemotherapy [7–9]. There has been considerable debate regarding counting methods and cut-of levels for both prognostication and determination of treatment [10, 16, 33–37].

At the St. Gallen conference in 2015, it was proposed that the in-house median value at each laboratory should

Table 2 Risk of death from breast cancer according to Ki-67 level and counting procedures, expressed as cumulative incidence and hazard ratios of death from breast cancer

		VA100			VA500	
	Low	Intermediate	High	Low	Intermediate	High
Cum. inc. 5 years, % (95% Cl)	18.8 (10.2–32.9)	19.5 (13.5–27.7)	32.5 (23.3–44.2)	18.2 (9.5–33.1)	17.4 (11.9–25.1)	37.5 (27.5–49.7)
Cum. inc. 10 years, % (95% Cl)	22.9 (13.4–37.6)	28.5 (21.3–37.3)	46.8 (36.4–58.5)	25.0 (14.7–40.6)	27.3 (20.5–35.7)	48.6 (37.8–60.7)
HR (95% CI) ¹	1.00	1.01 (0.59–1.72)	1.73 (1.01–2.98)	1.00	1.01 (0.58–1.76)	1.94 (1.1–3.42)
Harrell's C ¹		0.58			0.59	
h (95% Cl) ²	1.00	0.92 (0.53-1.60)	1.4 (0.76–2.58)	1.00	0.96 (0.55–1.68)	1.65 (0.85–3.19)
Harrell's C 2	0.60			0.60		
		DIA100			DIA500	
	Low	Intermediate	High	Low	Intermediate	High
Cum. inc. 5 years, % (95% Cl)	15.9 (7.9–30.5)	19.2 (12.9–28.2)	31.0 (22.9–41.1)	21.3 (13.7–32.4)	17.0 (10.8–26.3)	32.9 (23.7–44.4)
Cum. inc. 10 years, % (95% Cl)	22.7 (12.9–38.1)	26.9 (19.5–36.6)	44.0 (34.9–54.3)	28.0 (19.3–39.6)	27.7 (19.8–37.9)	44.3 (34.2–55.9)
HR (95% CI) 1	1.00	1.14 (0.63–2.06)	1.80 (1.02–3.19)	1.00	1.00 (0.62–1.64)	1.60 (0.99–2.58)
Harrell's C 1		0.58			0.57	
h (95% Cl) ²	1.00	1.08 (0.59–1.97)	1.48 (0.78–2.82)	1.00	0.93 (0.56–1.53)	1.27 (0.72–2.22)
Harrell's C ²	0.61			0.60		

¹ Unadjusted. ² Adjusted for tumour grade (1, 2 or 3). CI Confidence interval, Cum. inc. Cumulative incidence, HR Hazard ratio



be used to determine cut-off values to offset interlaboratory differences [17]. More recently, the 17th St. Gallen International Breast Cancer Conference proposed that Ki67 should be used to determine treatment in estrogen receptor-negative, HER2-negative T1-2N0-1 BC in accordance with the International Ki67 Breast Cancer Working Group. The determination of cut-off levels is still challenging as reflected by these latest recommendations where only clearly low or clearly high levels of KI67 protein expression are considered to have clinical utility [13, 24]. Romero and co-workers suggested in 2014 a stepwise counting strategy without fixed denominators, especially to target heterogenetic tumours with some highly proliferative hotspots [29] and the International Ki67 Breast Cancer Working Group has proposed a standardized visual scoring method using a

scoring app available online [13]. Thus, the need for a standardized approach in the IHC assessment of Ki-67 in BC has been recognized.

In this study, we found clear differences in the median levels of Ki-67 positivity between VA and DIA (VA500 (22.3%) and DIA500 (30%)) reflecting the respective method's ability to identify hotspot areas in the tissue section. This is in agreement with previous studies [38– 41]. Still, others have reported no real differences between the two methods [38, 41–44]. In the present study, the threshold set for OD sum in DIA and thus the ability to digitally detect positive Ki-67 staining, was set close to the pathologist's threshold for positive staining before commencement of classifier training and digital assessment. The difference between the median values in VA and DIA, suggests that there is need for



calibration of cut-off levels according to the method employed. The Bland-Altman plot [45, 46] shows that the methods perform quite similarly but that DIA in general reported higher levels of Ki-67 positivity compared to VA. Introduction of DIA for the assessment of Ki-67 in our hands would thus require recalibration of cut-off levels in order to correspond to established clinically actionable Ki-67 levels. This underlines the importance of understanding the consequences the introduction of a new method may have on patient treatment. However, Harrell's C test [47] and risk-ofdeath analyses did not show any clear difference between methods in their ability to predict survival.

Recent studies have suggested that downgrading of Ki-67 levels in some tumors may occur in VA when more than 2-300 cells are counted [29, 48]. However, in the present study we found that there was little difference in the percentage of Ki-67 positive cells in each of the five 100-cell increments across cut-off levels using VA. This would imply that it may not be necessary to count more than 2-300 cells in VA. On the other hand, there was a clear fall in the number of Ki-67 High cases and a corresponding rise in the number of cases classified as Low with increasing cell counts using DIA. Thus, using DIA, the highest proportion of Ki-67 positive cell nuclei is achieved by counting 1-200 cells in digitally identified hotspots. This appears to be in agreement with Romero et al. [29]. In our hands, a significantly higher number of grade 3 tumours was found in DIA100 High compared to VA100 High, VA500 High and DIA500 High (p < 0.0001). Thus, we show that declining Ki-67 levels are more likely to occur using DIA compared to VA. A greater number of deaths from BC was seen at DIA100 Ki-67 High compared to DIA500 Ki-67 High (54 vs. 42 cases; 50.0% vs.38.9%). In comparison, for VA, the difference in the numbers of deaths from BC between the VA100 Ki-67 High group and VA500 Ki-67 High group were negligible (43 vs. 42 cases; 40.0% vs. 38.9%).

The cases included in our study were diagnosed with BC over a timespan extending from 1961 to 2008, and preanalytical conditions may have varied. Ki-67 IHC is robust in formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue [49, 50] and antigenicity is well preserved, though staining intensity is prone to be reduced with increasing storage-time [51–53]. In the present study, staining intensity was not assessed. The international Ki-67 in Breast Cancer Working Groups has expressed concern about Ki-67 assessment of tissue stored in paraffin-blocks for more than five years, because of the degradation of the epitope in paraffin blocks. The exact mechanisms of the Ki-67 epitope degradation are not yet fully explored and there is still concern about the precision of the assessment. They recommend that the internationally standardized laboratory guidelines (ASCO and CAP) for HER2 and hormone receptors should also be applied to Ki-67 IHC [13]. Variation in tissue processing, staining reagents, laboratory protocols, and digitization procedures, may all contribute to variability in the interpretation of IHC in both conventional VA and DIA. Standardization of the preanalytical and analytical phases of tissue processing would greatly contribute to the creation of a more robust classifier for the digital analysis, although BC's inherent heterogeneity would still remain a challenge [21, 54, 55]. In the present study, we included only invasive cancer (not otherwise specified). The classifier would require further development to reliably identify tumour cell nuclei morphologies such as those typical of lobular carcinoma. We found that some tissue slides were not suitable for DIA due to artefacts such as tissue folds, damaged tissue, or inadequate staining.

Studies comparing the QuPath platform with other digital analysis platforms have shown good reproducibility and functionality [38, 56]. One study comparing DIA using QuPath with VA shows that QuPath gave stronger prognostic stratification than the manual method [57]. The QuPath software was developed to improve the efficiency, objectivity, and reproducibility of digital histopathology, as well as biomarker analysis using digital images [27]. In the present study a greater number of cases were classified as either Low or High using QuPath DIA compared to conventional VA. Using the Ventana Virtuoso platform, Kwon et al., reported high concordance between VA and DIA, and stronger accuracy using DIA in the High Ki-67-group (≥20%) compared to the low Ki-67-group ($\leq 10\%$). They also found that DIA is more useful in the borderline cases between cut-off levels citing observer variation as a greater challenge in these cases [55].

The initial regions of interest on the WSIs were manually delineated using the brush tool in QuPath. This approach was time-consuming, and automatic tissue detection or WSI annotation would be preferable. The first 100-cell increment counted by DIA was visually selected within the area of the tumour with the highest expression of Ki-67 in the heat map. To identify these hotspots, we created measurement maps for nucleus DAB OD mean with 50 µm smoothing. In this process we were aware that tissue folds, ink debris and abundant lymphocytes could result in higher OD in non-relevant areas. Thus, the measurement map method for detecting hotspots may not be suitable in sections with too many such irregularities and artefacts. We noted that membranous staining presented a greater challenge to the QuPath software than to experienced pathologists. A pathologist will ignore non-relevant staining, while the software will detect anything with color, unless the classifier is trained to ignore it.

In the present study, the QuPath-based DIA method entailed a considerable amount of manual adjustment, thus rendering it time-consuming and impractical for implementation in a clinical setting. Robertson et al. published a paper in 2020 that suggested that a digital global scoring of Ki-67 was a practical and clinically valid approach [58]. The International Ki67 in Breast Cancer Working Group discuss several methods including global score and hot spot score in addition to their own online scoring app giving a weighted global score based on the assessment of 100 cells in each of four areas in the tumour section (negligible, low, medium, or high). To the best of our knowledge, the latter has not achieved widespread acceptance. They point out that none of the current scoring systems achieved high analytical validity [13]. Global scoring was not evaluated in the present study. We chose to follow the guidelines for visual assessment of Ki-67 in BC currently in use in Norway, counting 500 cells in the area of the tumour with highest proliferation as assessed under the light microscope [23]. We used the same approach in the digital assessment. We acknowledge that this method may have drawbacks but in comparing the two methods our main finding remains that recalibration of cut-off levels is essential when introducing new methodology in the assessment of tissue biomarkers [23].

The number of cases in this study was limited and thus survival analyses should be interpreted with caution. Our results need to be validated in larger series of cases from other sources. However, the study clearly illustrates that new methodology in biomarker assessment requires recalibration of established cut-off levels.

Conclusions

In this study we show that assessment of Ki-67 in breast tumours using DIA identifies a greater proportion of cases with high Ki-67 levels compared to VA of the same tumours. Using VA, we found that the results do not change substantially with increasing number of cells counted. However, we propose that, using DIA, it may be sufficient to count 1-200 cells in a digitally selected hotspot area to identify the greatest number of cases with Ki-67 High tumours. Associations with survival should be interpreted with caution due to the limited number of cases and variation of pre-analytical conditions of the tissue samples in this study. Finally, our findings underline the need for recalibration of established cut-off levels on the introduction of new methodology.

Abbreviations

BC: Breast cancer; IHC: Immunohistochemistry/immunohistochemical; DIA: Digital image analysis; VA: Visual assessment; OD: Optical density; WSI: Whole slide images; CI: Confidence interval

Acknowledgements

The authors thank the Department of Pathology, St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital for making the diagnostic archives available for the study and for digitizing histopathological slides, and the Cancer Registry of Norway for supplying the patient data.

Authors' contributions

Conceptualisation: AMB, AHS. Methodology: AHS, HSP, AMB. Formal analysis: AHS, SO, MV, AMB. Original draft preparation: AHS, AMB. Manuscript review and editing: AMB, AHS, MV, SO, HSP. The author(s) read and approved the final manuscript.

Funding

This present study has received financial support from the Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway. Previous data that is also included int study received financial support from the Liaison Committee between the Central Norway Regional Health Authority and the Norwegian University of Science and Technology and The Research Council of Norway.

Availability of data and materials

The datasets generated and/or analysed during the current study are not publicly available due to issues of sensitivity and limitations determined in the conditions for approval by the Regional Ethics Committee. However, they can be made available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Declarations

Ethics approval and consent to participate

Approval of this study was granted by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics, Central Norway (REK 836-09). The approval includes dispensation from the general requirement of patient consent.

Consent for publication

Not applicable.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Author details

¹Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Erling Skjalgssons gate 1, Trondheim, Norway. ²Department of Pathology, St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway. ³Department of Public Health and Nursing, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway.

Received: 9 February 2022 Accepted: 12 April 2022 Published online: 06 May 2022

References

- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell. 2011;144(5):646–74.
- Gerdes J, Lemke H, Baisch H, Wacker HH, Schwab U, Stein H. Cell cycle analysis of a cell proliferation-associated human nuclear antigen defined by the monoclonal antibody Ki-67. J Immunol. 1984;133(4):1710–5.
- Leung SCY, Nielsen TO, Żabaglo L, Arun I, Badve SS, Bane AL, et al. Analytical validation of a standardized scoring protocol for Ki67: phase 3 of an international multicenter collaboration. NPJ Breast Cancer. 2016;2:16014.
- Urruticoechea A, Smith IE, Dowsett M. Proliferation marker Ki-67 in early breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(28):7212–20.
- Schwab U, Stein H, Gerdes J, Lemke H, Kirchner H, Schaadt M, et al. Production of a monoclonal antibody specific for Hodgkin and Sternberg-Reed cells of Hodgkin's disease and a subset of normal lymphoid cells. Nature. 1982;299(5878):65–7.
- 6. Viale G, Giobbie-Hurder A, Regan MM, Coates AS, Mastropasqua MG, Dell'Orto P, et al. Prognostic and Predictive Value of Centrally Reviewed Ki-67 Labeling Index in Postmenopausal Women With Endocrine-Responsive Breast Cancer: Results From Breast International Group Trial 1–98

Comparing Adjuvant Tamoxifen With Letrozole. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(34): 5569–75.

- de Azambuja E, Cardoso F, de Castro G, Jr., Colozza M, Mano MS, Durbecq V, et al. Ki-67 as prognostic marker in early breast cancer: a meta-analysis of published studies involving 12,155 patients. Br J Cancer. 2007;96(10):1504–13.
- Criscitiello C, Disalvatore D, De Laurentiis M, Gelao L, Fumagalli L, Locatelli M, et al. High Ki-67 score is indicative of a greater benefit from adjuvant chemotherapy when added to endocrine therapy in luminal B HER2 negative and node-positive breast cancer. Breast. 2014;23(1):69–75.
- Kim KI, Lee KH, Kim TR, Chun YS, Lee TH, Park HK. Ki-67 as a predictor of response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in breast cancer patients. J Breast Cancer. 2014;17(1):40–6.
- Goldhirsch A, Wood WC, Coates AS, Gelber RD, Thurlimann B, Senn HJ, et al. Strategies for subtypes-dealing with the diversity of breast cancer: highlights of the St. Gallen International Expert Consensus on the Primary Therapy of Early Breast Cancer 2011. Ann Oncol. 2011;22(8):1736–47.
- Aleskandarany MA, Green AR, Rakha EA, Mohammed RA, Elsheikh SE, Powe DG, et al. Growth fraction as a predictor of response to chemotherapy in node-negative breast cancer. Int J Cancer. 2010;126(7):1761–9.
- Prat A, Cheang MC, Martin M, Parker JS, Carrasco E, Caballero R, et al. Prognostic significance of progesterone receptor-positive tumor cells within immunohistochemically defined luminal A breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2013; 31(2):203-9.
- Nielsen TO, Leung SCY, Rimm DL, Dodson A, Acs B, Badve S, et al. Assessment of Kl67 in Breast Cancer: Updated Recommendations From the International Kl67 in Breast Cancer Working Group. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2021; 113(7):808–19.
- Varga Z, Diebold J, Dommann-Scherrer C, Frick H, Kaup D, Noske A, et al. How reliable is Ki-67 immunohistochemistry in grade 2 breast carcinomas? A QA study of the Swiss Working Group of Breast- and Gynecopathologists. PLoS One. 2012;7(5):e37379.
- Laenkholm AV, Grabau D, Moller Talman ML, Balslev E, Bak Jylling AM, Tabor TP, et al. An inter-observer Ki67 reproducibility study applying two different assessment methods: on behalf of the Danish Scientific Committee of Pathology, Danish breast cancer cooperative group (DBCG). Acta Oncol. 2018;57(1):83–9.
- Gallardo A, Garcia-Valdecasas B, Murata P, Teran R, Lopez L, Barnadas A, et al. Inverse relationship between Ki67 and survival in early luminal breast cancer: confirmation in a multivariate analysis. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2018; 167(1):31–7.
- Coates AS, Winer EP, Goldhirsch A, Gelber RD, Gnant M, Piccart-Gebhart M, et al. Tailoring therapies–improving the management of early breast cancer: St Gallen International Expert Consensus on the Primary Therapy of Early Breast Cancer 2015. Ann Oncol. 2015;26(8):1533–46.
- Focke CM, Burger H, van Diest PJ, Finsterbusch K, Glaser D, Korsching E, et al. Interlaboratory variability of Ki67 staining in breast cancer. Eur J Cancer. 2017;84:219–27.
- Mengel M, Von Wasielewski R, Wiese B, Rüdiger T, Müller-Hermelink HK, Kreipe H. Inter-laboratory and inter-observer reproductibility of immunohistochemical assessment of the Ki-67 labelling index in a large multi-centre trial. J Pathol. 2002;198(3):292–9.
- Greer LT, Rosman M, Mylander WC, Hooke J, Kovatich A, Sawyer K, et al. Does Breast Tumor Heterogeneity Necessitate Further Immunohistochemical Staining on Surgical Specimens? J Am Coll Surg. 2013;216(2):239–51.
- Stalhammar G, Robertson S, Wedlund L, Lippert M, Rantalainen M, Bergh J, et al. Digital image analysis of Ki67 in hot spots is superior to both manual Ki67 and mitotic counts in breast cancer. Histopathology. 2018;72(6):974–89.
- Dowsett M, Nielsen TO, A'Hern R, Bartlett J, Coombes RC, Cuzick J, et al. Assessment of Ki67 in breast cancer: recommendations from the International Ki67 in Breast Cancer working group. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2011;103(22):1656–64.
- Helsedirektoratet NBCGN. Nasjonalt handlingsprogram med retningslinjer for diagnostikk, behandling og oppfølging av pasienter med brystkreft; page 38 and page 113. https://www.helsedirektoratet.no/retningslinjer/ brystkreft-handlingsprogram: Helsedirektoratet, avdeling spesialisthelsetjenester; 2020 [updated 08/2020. IS-2945]. Available from: https://www.helsedirektoratet.no/retningslinjer/brystkreft-handlingsprogram.
- Reinert T, de Souza ABA, Sartori GP, Obst FM, Barrios CH. Highlights of the 17th St Gallen International Breast Cancer Conference 2021: customising local and systemic therapies. Ecancermedicalscience. 2021;15:1236.

- Gudlaugsson E, Klos J, Skaland I, Janssen EA, Smaaland R, Feng W, et al. Prognostic comparison of the proliferation markers (mitotic activity index, phosphohistone H3, Ki67), steroid receptors, HER2, high molecular weight cytokeratins and classical prognostic factors in T(1)(-)(2)N(0)M(0) breast cancer. Pol J Pathol. 2013;64(1):1–8.
- Volynskaya Z, Mete O, Pakbaz S, Al-Ghamdi D, Asa S. Ki67 quantitative interpretation: Insights using image analysis. J Pathol Inform. 2019;10(1):8-.
- Bankhead P, Loughrey MB, Fernandez JA, Dombrowski Y, McArt DG, Dunne PD, et al. QuPath: Open source software for digital pathology image analysis. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):16878.
- Polley MY, Leung SC, McShane LM, Gao D, Hugh JC, Mastropasqua MG, et al. An international Ki67 reproducibility study. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2013; 105(24):1897–906.
- Romero Q, Bendahl PO, Ferno M, Grabau D, Borgquist S. A novel model for Ki67 assessment in breast cancer. Diagn Pathol. 2014;9:118.
- Engstrom MJ, Opdahl S, Hagen AI, Romundstad PR, Akslen LA, Haugen OA, et al. Molecular subtypes, histopathological grade and survival in a historic cohort of breast cancer patients. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2013;140(3):463– 73.
- Valla M, Vatten LJ, Engstrøm MJ, Haugen OA, Akslen LA, Bjørngaard JH, et al. Molecular Subtypes of Breast Cancer: Long-term Incidence Trends and Prognostic Differences. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2016;25(12):1625– 34.
- (IARC) IAfRoC. WHO Classification of Tumours of the Breast. 4th ed. Lyon: IARC Publications; 2012.
- Alco G, Bozdogan A, Selamoglu D, Pilanci KN, Tuzlali S, Ordu C, et al. Clinical and histopathological factors associated with Ki-67 expression in breast cancer patients. Oncol Lett. 2015;9(3):1046–54.
- Untch M, Gerber B, Harbeck N, Jackisch C, Marschner N, Möbus V, et al. 13th st. Gallen international breast cancer conference 2013: primary therapy of early breast cancer evidence, controversies, consensus - opinion of a german team of experts (zurich 2013). Breast Care (Basel). 2013;8(3):221–9.
- Senn HJ. St. Gallen consensus 2013: optimizing and personalizing primary curative therapy of breast cancer worldwide. Breast Care (Basel). 2013;8(2):101.
- Gnant M, Thomssen C, Harbeck N. St. Gallen/Vienna 2015: A Brief Summary of the Consensus Discussion. Breast Care. 2015;10(2):124–30.
- Coates AS, Winer EP, Goldhirsch A, Gelber RD, Gnant M, Piccart-Gebhart M, et al. Tailoring therapies–improving the management of early breast cancer: St Gallen International Expert Consensus on the Primary Therapy of Early Breast Cancer 2015. Ann Oncol. 2015;26(8):1533–46.
- Acs B, Pelekanou V, Bai Y, Martinez-Morilla S, Toki M, Leung SCY, et al. Ki67 reproducibility using digital image analysis: an inter-platform and interoperator study. Lab Invest. 2019;99(1):107–17.
- Zhong FF, Bi R, Yu BH, Yang F, Yang WT, Shui RH. A Comparison of Visual Assessment and Automated Digital Image Analysis of Ki67 Labeling Index in Breast Cancer. Plos One. 2016;11(2):11.
- Lea D, Gudlaugsson EG, Skaland I, Lillesand M, Soreide K, Soreide JA. Digital Image Analysis of the Proliferation Markers Ki67 and Phosphohistone H3 in Gastroenteropancreatic Neuroendocrine Neoplasms: Accuracy of Grading Compared With Routine Manual Hot Spot Evaluation of the Ki67 Index. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol. 2021;29(7):499–505.
- Koopman T, Buikema HJ, Hollema H, de Bock GH, van der Vegt B. Digital image analysis of Ki67 proliferation index in breast cancer using virtual dual staining on whole tissue sections: clinical validation and inter-platform agreement. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2018;169(1):33–42.
- 42. Laurinavicius A, Plancoulaine B, Laurinaviciene A, Herlin P, Meskauskas R, Baltrusaityte I, et al. A methodology to ensure and improve accuracy of Ki67 labelling index estimation by automated digital image analysis in breast cancer tissue. Breast Cancer Res. 2014;16(2):R35.
- Bankhead P, Fernandez JA, McArt DG, Boyle DP, Li G, Loughrey MB, et al. Integrated tumor identification and automated scoring minimizes pathologist involvement and provides new insights to key biomarkers in breast cancer. Lab Invest. 2018;98(1):15–26.
- Egeland NG, Jonsdottir K, Lauridsen KL, Skaland I, Hjorth CF, Gudlaugsson EG, et al. Digital Image Analysis of Ki-67 Stained Tissue Microarrays and Recurrence in Tamoxifen-Treated Breast Cancer Patients. Clin Epidemiol. 2020;12:771–81.
- Altman DG, Bland JM. Measurement in Medicine: The Analysis of Method Comparison Studies. J R Stat Soc Ser D (The Statistician). 1983;32(3):307–17.
- Giavarina D. Understanding Bland Altman analysis. Biochem Med (Zagreb). 2015;25(2):141–51.

- Harrell FE Jr, Califf RM, Pryor DB, Lee KL, Rosati RA. Evaluating the yield of medical tests. JAMA. 1982;247(18):2543–6.
- Romero Q, Bendahl P-O, Klintman M, Loman N, Ingvar C, Rydén L, et al. Ki67 proliferation in core biopsies versus surgical samples - a model for neoadjuvant breast cancer studies. BMC Cancer. 2011;11(1):341.
- Benini E, Rao S, Daidone MG, Pilotti S, Silvestrini R. Immunoreactivity to MIB-1 in breast cancer: methodological assessment and comparison with other proliferation indices. Cell Prolif. 1997;30(3–4):107–15.
- Arber DA. Effect of prolonged formalin fixation on the immunohistochemical reactivity of breast markers. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol. 2002;10(2):183–6.
- 51. Camp RL, Charette LA, Rimm DL. Validation of tissue microarray technology in breast carcinoma. Lab Invest. 2000;80(12):1943–9.
- Cattoretti G, Becker MH, Key G, Duchrow M, Schluter C, Galle J, et al. Monoclonal antibodies against recombinant parts of the Ki-67 antigen (MIB 1 and MIB 3) detect proliferating cells in microwave-processed formalinfixed paraffin sections. J Pathol. 1992;168(4):357–63.
- DiVito KA, Charette LA, Rimm DL, Camp RL. Long-term preservation of antigenicity on tissue microarrays. Lab Invest. 2004;84(8):1071–8.
- Roulot A, Héquet D, Guinebretière JM, Vincent-Salomon A, Lerebours F, Dubot C, et al. Tumoral heterogeneity of breast cancer. Ann Biol Clin (Paris). 2016;74(6):653–60.
- Kwon AY, Park HY, Hyeon J, Nam SJ, Kim SW, Lee JE, et al. Practical approaches to automated digital image analysis of Ki-67 labeling index in 997 breast carcinomas and causes of discordance with visual assessment. PLoS One. 2019;14(2):e0212309.
- Ribeiro GP, Endringer DC, De Andrade TU, Lenz D. Comparison between two programs for image analysis, machine learning and subsequent classification. Tissue Cell. 2019;58:12–6.
- Loughrey MB, Bankhead P, Coleman HG, Hagan RS, Craig S, McCorry AMB, et al. Validation of the systematic scoring of immunohistochemically stained tumour tissue microarrays using QuPath digital image analysis. Histopathology. 2018;73(2):327–38.
- Robertson S, Acs B, Lippert M, Hartman J. Prognostic potential of automated Ki67 evaluation in breast cancer: different hot spot definitions versus true global score. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2020;183(1):161–75.

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Ready to submit your research? Choose BMC and benefit from:

- fast, convenient online submission
- · thorough peer review by experienced researchers in your field
- rapid publication on acceptance
- support for research data, including large and complex data types
- gold Open Access which fosters wider collaboration and increased citations
- maximum visibility for your research: over 100M website views per year

At BMC, research is always in progress.

Learn more biomedcentral.com/submissions



Paper II

RESEARCH ARTICLE *PAK1* copy number in breast cancer— Associations with proliferation and molecular subtypes

Anette H. Skjervold^{1*}, Marit Valla^{1,2}, Borgny Ytterhus¹, Anna M. Bofin¹

1 Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway, 2 Department of Pathology, St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim, Norway

* anette.skjervold@ntnu.no

Abstract

Introduction

P21-activated kinase 1 (*PAK1*) is known to be overexpressed in several human tumour types, including breast cancer (BC). It is located on chromosome 11 (11q13.5-q14.1) and plays a significant role in proliferation in BC. In this study we aimed to assess *PAK1* gene copy number (CN) in primary breast tumours and their corresponding lymph node metastases, and associations between *PAK1* CN and proliferation status, molecular subtype, and prognosis. In addition, we aimed to study associations between CNs of *PAK1* and *CCND1*. Both genes are located on the long arm of chromosome 11 (11q13).

Methods

Fluorescence *in situ* hybridization for *PAK1* and Chromosome enumeration probe (CEP)11 were used on tissue microarray sections from a series of 512 BC cases. Copy numbers were estimated by counting the number of fluorescent signals for *PAK1* and CEP11 in 20 tumour cell nuclei. Pearson's x^2 test was performed to assess associations between *PAK1* CN and tumour features, and between *PAK1* and *CCND1* CNs. Cumulative risk of death from BC and hazard ratios were estimated in analysis of prognosis.

Results

We found mean *PAK1* CN \geq 4<6 in 26 (5.1%) tumours, and CN \geq 6 in 22 (4.3%) tumours. The proportion of cases with copy number increase (mean CN \geq 4) was highest among HER2 type and Luminal B (HER2⁻) tumours. We found an association between *PAK1* CN increase, and high proliferation, and high histological grade, but not prognosis. Of cases with *PAK1* CN \geq 6, 30% also had *CCND1* CN \geq 6.



G OPEN ACCESS

Citation: Skjervold AH, Valla M, Ytterhus B, Bofin AM (2023) *PAK1* copy number in breast cancer— Associations with proliferation and molecular subtypes. PLoS ONE 18(6): e0287608. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0287608

Editor: Elingarami Sauli, Nelson Mandela African Institute of Science and Technology, UNITED REPUBLIC OF TANZANIA

Received: January 30, 2023

Accepted: June 8, 2023

Published: June 27, 2023

Peer Review History: PLOS recognizes the benefits of transparency in the peer review process; therefore, we enable the publication of all of the content of peer review and author responses alongside final, published articles. The editorial history of this article is available here: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0287608

Copyright: © 2023 Skjervold et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement: The datasets generated in the current study are not publicly available due to ethical and legal restrictions imposed by General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR), National health research legislation and the conditions for approval by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics, Midt-Norge (REK 836/2009), but may be available from the corresponding author on reasonable request and/or the Institutional Research Officer, Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, NTNU at postmottak@mh. nthu.no.

Funding: The research leading to these results received funding from The Liaison Committee between the Central Norway Regional Health Authority and the Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU), The Joint Research Committee between St. Olav's Hospital and the Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, NTNU (FFU), and the Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine, NTNU. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Competing interests: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare that are relevant to the content of this article.

Conclusions

PAK1 copy number increase is associated with high proliferation and high histological grade, but not with prognosis. *PAK1* CN increase was most frequent in the HER2 type and Luminal B (HER2⁻) subtype. *PAK1* CN increase is associated with CN increase of *CCND1*.

Introduction

P21-activated kinases (PAK) are a family of serine/threonine protein kinases comprising six isoforms (*PAK1*–6). They are overexpressed in several human tumours, such as breast cancer (BC), colon cancer and lung cancer, and in neurofibromatosis [1]. The six PAK isoforms are subdivided in PAK1-3 (group I) and PAK4-6 (group II) [2, 3]. PAKs play a significant role in proliferation, cytoskeletal dynamics, and cell survival [1, 4]. Their roles in these cell processes make them potential therapeutic targets. More is known of the functions of PAK1 and PAK4, than of the other isoforms [5, 6].

PAK1 is located on chromosome 11 (q13.5-q14.1). Amplification of *PAK1* and high PAK1 protein levels are found in several human cancers, including BC [7–9], and are linked to aggressive tumour types, chemotherapy resistance and poor prognosis [4, 10–14]. In 2000, Mira *et al.* first discovered that *PAK1* had an important role in proliferation in BC cell lines [15]. Since then, *PAK1* has been found to be involved in many stages of the BC process and is known to regulate several signaling pathways. [4, 16–21]. *PAK1* amplification has recently been found to be significantly associated with reduced relapse-free survival of ER-positive BC patients [19]. *PAK1* is localized in the same chromosomal region as *CCND1*, 11q13 [22, 23]. Cyclin D1 (CCND1) has been found to be overexpressed in breast cancer, and *PAK1* is shown to regulate the expression of CCND1 in BC [8, 23].

In this study we aimed to assess *PAK1* gene copy number (CN) in a well-characterized series of primary BCs and their corresponding axillary lymph node metastases. We studied associations between *PAK1* CN and proliferation, molecular subtypes, and prognosis. In addition, we examined associations between CN of *CCND1*, assessed in an earlier study by our group [24], and *PAK1* CN.

Materials and methods

Study population

A population-based survey for the early detection of BC was conducted in the county of Nord-Trøndelag, Norway, between 1956 and 1959. The study included 25,727 women born 1886–1928 [25]. These women were followed for BC occurrence, through linkage with data from the Cancer Registry of Norway. During the follow-up years, between 1961 and 2008, 1379 new BCs were registered. Of these, 909 cases were included in the study population and were first reclassified into molecular subtypes in a previous published by our group in 2013 (Table 1) [26]. All patients were followed from time of diagnosis until death or December 31st, 2015.

For the present study, we performed fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (FISH) on tissue specimens from cases mainly diagnosed after 1985 (n = 558). Of these, 46 were excluded due to missing or insufficient tumour tissue (n = 25), or due to unsuccessful FISH (n = 21). Thus, 512 cases were suitable for assessment of *PAK1* and chromosome enumeration probe 11 (CEP11) CN in primary tumours (Fig 1). Of the 512 cases, 172 had lymph node metastases, and tissue from lymph node metastases was available for 143 cases. Cases with unsuccessful

/1							
Molecular subtype	Classified by						
Luminal A	ER ⁺ and/or PR ⁺ , HER2 ⁻ , Ki-67<15%						
Luminal B (HER2 ⁻)	ER ⁺ and/or PR ⁺ , HER2 ⁻ , Ki-67≥15%						
Luminal B (HER2 ⁺)	ER ⁺ and/or PR ⁺ , HER2 ⁺						
HER2 type	ER ⁻ , PR ⁻ , HER2 ⁺						
Basal-like	ER ⁻ , PR ⁻ , HER2 ⁻ , CK5 ⁺ and/or EGFR ⁺						
5-negative phenotype	ER ⁻ , PR ⁻ , HER2 ⁻ , CK5 ⁻ , EGFR ⁻						

Table 1. Reclassification of breast cancers into molecular subtypes [26]

*ER = Oestrogen receptor, PR = Progesterone receptor, HER2 = Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2, CK5 = Cytokeratin 5, EGFR = Epidermal growth factor receptor 1

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0287608.t001

FISH (n = 9) or insufficient amounts of tumour tissue (n = 11) were excluded. Hence, lymph node metastases from 123 cases were included in the analyses.

Specimen characteristics

The primary tumours were previously reclassified into histological type and grade according to present-day guidelines [26–28]. Tissue microarray (TMA) blocks were made using the TissueArrayer Minicore with TMA Designer2 software (Alphelys). Three 1-mm in diameter



*FISH = fluorescence in situ hybridization

Fig 1. Overview of study population and cases included in this study.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0287608.g001

Tuble 2. Sources a	ind dilutions of primary an	ciboules used for molecular subty	Pms [20].		
Antibody	Clone	Manufacturer	Concentration of antibody	Dilution	
ER	SP1	Cell Marque	33 mg/ml	1:100	
PR	16	Novocastra	360 mg/l	1:400	
HER2	CB11	Novocastra	3.9 g/l	1:640	
Ki-67	MIB1	Dako	35 mg/l	1:100	
CK5	XM26	Novocastra	50 mg/l	1:100	
EGFR	2-18C9	Dako	Ready to use	No dilution	_

Table 2. Sources and dilutions of primary antibodies used for molecular subtyping [26]

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0287608.t002

tissue cylinders were extracted from the periphery of the primary tumour, and from lymph node metastases and transferred to TMA recipient blocks. Using sections from the TMAs, primary tumours were then reclassified into molecular subtypes using immunohistochemistry (IHC) and chromogenic *in situ* hybridization (CISH) as previously described (Table 1). Briefly, Oestrogen Receptor (ER), Progesterone Receptor (PR), the proliferation marker Ki-67, Cytokeratin 5 (CK5) and Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 1 (EGFR) were assessed using IHC, and Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2 (HER2) was assessed using both CISH and IHC [26] (Table 2). In a previous study of *CCND1* CN, FISH was used to target *CCND1* and CEP11, using Dako Histology FISH Accessory Kit K 579911 probes for *CCND1* (3 µL, Empire Genomics) and CEP11 (1 µL, Abbott/VYSIS) [24].

Fluorescence in situ hybridization

For the present study of *PAK1* and CEP11 CN, FISH was done using DAKO Histology FISH Accessory Kit K 579911 according to the manufacturer's instructions. TMA sections were preheated at 60°C for 1–2 h, then de-waxed and rehydrated. The slides were then boiled in a microwave oven for 10 min. in pretreatment solution and washed in DAKO wash buffer (2x3min.) after cooling (15 min.), followed by protein digestion in pepsin solution (37°C, 25 min.). After protein digestion, the slides were washed in DAKO wash buffer (2x3 min.), dehydrated (2 min. in 70%, 85% and 95% ethanol), then air-dried for 15 min. at room temperature.

PAK1 (3 μL, PAK1-20-RE, SpectrumRed fluorochrome Empire Genomics) and CEP11 (3 μL, CEP11 [D11Z19], SpectrumGreen fluorochrome, VYSIS) probes were mixed with hybridizing buffer (9 μL, Empire Genomics) and applied to TMA slides according to the manufacturer's instructions. Coverslips were then applied to the slides, sealed with DAKO coverslip sealant, and the slides were dried for 20 min. After drying, denaturation was performed at 83 °C for 3 min., followed by hybridization at 37 °C overnight using DAKO hybridizer. Posthybridization washes were done in 0.4 X SSC/ 0.3% NP-40 stringent wash buffer at 72 °C (2 min.) and 2 X SSC/ 0.1% NP-40 wash buffer at room temperature (1 min.). Slides were then dried at 37 °C for 15 min., DAPI II VYSIS (15 μl, no 06J50-001) was applied. The slides were then coverslipped and stored at -20 °C.

Scoring and reporting

A fluorescence microscope (Nikon Eclipse 90i) was used for counting *PAK1* and CEP11 CN. For each case, all available tissue spots were examined and the number of fluorescent signals for *PAK1* and CEP11 were counted in 20 well-preserved, non-overlapping tumour cell nuclei. Mean *PAK1* and CEP11 CNs was calculated for tumours and lymph node metastases and were first categorized as <4 and ≥4. In addition, to distinguish between low-level CN gain and high-level gain or gene amplification, we also subdivided CN into three categories: <4; ≥4<6; and ≥6 according to guidelines for categorizing *HER2* CNs [29], a strategy which has been used in previous studies of other genes by our group [24, 30-32]. The Reporting Recommendations for Tumor Marker Prognostic Studies (REMARK) were followed [33].

Statistical analyses

Pearson's chi square test was used to compare tumour characteristics across categories of *PAK1* mean CN. Cumulative incidence of death from breast cancer was estimated, and Gray's test was used to compare equality between cumulative incidence curves. Cox proportional hazard analyses were used to estimate hazard ratios (HR) of breast cancer death with 95% confidence intervals (CI). The analyses were adjusted for age (\leq 49, 50–59, 60–64, 65–69, 70–74, \geq 75), stage (I–IV), histological grade (1–3), and Ki67 status ($</\geq$ 15%). Adjustments were made for each variable separately, and for age, grade, and stage combined. No clear violations of proportionality were observed in log minus-log plots. All statistical tests were two-sided and statistical significance was assessed at the 5% level. We used Stata 16 (Stata corp., College station, TX, USA) in the statistical analyses.

Ethics statement

This study was granted approval including dispensation from the general requirement of informed consent, by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics, Midt-Norge (REK 836/2009). All methods were carried out in accordance with relevant guidelines and regulations (The Declaration of Helsinki and national regulations (ACT 2008-06-20 no. 44: Act on medical and health research (the Health Research Act)).

Results

Patient and tumour characteristics for the 512 patients included in the present study are given in Table 3. The mean age at diagnosis was 75.4 years (range 41–96) and the mean follow-up after diagnosis was 9.1 years (SD = 7.2). At end of follow-up, 35.4% of patients had died from BC and 54.3% had died from other causes.

PAK1 and CEP11 copy number, and histological grade and proliferation

PAK1 CN ≥4 was found in 48 (9.4%) tumours (Table 3, Fig 2). Of these, 26 (5.1%) cases had mean CN ≥4<6, and 22 (4.3%) had mean CN ≥6. While 147/464 (31.7%) cases with CN <4 were grade 3, 22/48 (45.8%) cases with CN ≥4 were grade 3 (p = 0.037). We found no significant associations between *PAK1* CN increase and high histological grade using three categories of mean *PAK1* CN (Table 3).

PAK1 CN ≥4 was associated with high Ki-67 (≥15%). Of cases with *PAK1* CN <4, 178/464 (38.4%) had Ki-67 ≥15%, compared to 26/48 (54.2%) among those with *PAK1* CN ≥4 (p = 0.033). No association between *PAK1* CN increase and Ki-67 status was found when *PAK1* CN was subdivided into three categories. The median mitotic count was higher in cases with mean *PAK1* CN ≥4, compared to cases with mean CN <4 (8 mitoses/10 high power fields [HPF] and 5 mitoses/10 HPF, respectively). The proportion of cases with mitotic counts in the upper quartile was also higher for cases with mean *PAK1* CN ≥4, compared to those with mean CN <4 (106/464 [22.8%] and 14/48 (29.2%), respectively (p = 0.162)) (Table 3). Only seven cases showed CEP11 CN increase. Five of these were in cases with *PAK1* CN <4. Of the 26 cases with *PAK1* CN ≥4
c6, only two were accompanied by CEP11 CN increase (≥4<6). Of the 22 cases with *PAK1* CN ≥6, none had concurrent CN increase of CEP11.

PLOS ONE

Table 3. Patient and tumour characteristics according to PAK1 copy number.

	Total study population	Mean P	AK1 copy n	umber, three	categories	Mean I	PAK1 copy nur categories	nber, two
		<4	\geq 4 to <6	≥6	p value (χ^2)	<4	\geq 4	p value (χ^2)
N (%)	512	464 (90.6)	26 (5.1)	22 (4.3)		464 (90.6)	48 (9.4)	
Mean age at diagnosis, years (SD)	75.4(41-96) (8.2)	75.5 (8.1)	75.2 (7.3)	74.3 (10.0)		75.5 (8.1)	74.8 (8.6)	
Mean follow-up, years (SD)	9.1 (7.2)	9.0 (7.0)	9.6 (6.5)	9.0 (7.5)		9.0 (7.0)	9.3 (6.9)	
Deaths from breast cancer (%)	181 (35.4)	161 (34.7)	9 (34.6)	11 (50.0)		161 (34.7)	20 (41.7)	
Deaths from other causes (%)	278 (54.3)	255 (55.0)	15 (57.7)	8 (36.4)		255 (55.0)	23 (47.9)	
Histological grade (%)								
I	56 (10.9)	55 (11.9)	0 (0)	1 (4.6)	0.082	55 (11.9)	1(2.1)	0.037
II	287 (56.1)	262 (56.5)	12 (46.2)	13 (59.1)		262 (56.5)	25 (52.1)	
III	169 (33.0)	147 (31.7)	14 (53.9)	8 (36.4)		147 (31.7)	22 (45.8)	
Lymph node metastasis (%)								
Yes	172 (33.6)	153 (33.0)	13 (50.0)	6 (27.3)	0.272	153 (33.0)	19 (39.6)	0.360
No	228 (44.5)	209 (45.0)	9 (34.6)	10 (45.5)		209 (45.0)	19 (39.6)	
Unknown histology	112 (21.9)	102 (22.0)	4 (15.4)	6 (27.3)		102 (22.0)	10 (20.8)	
Tumor size (%)								
<2 cm	245 (47.9)	217 (46.8)	16 (61.5)	12 (54.6)	0.327	217 (46.8)	28 (58.3)	0.516
=	95 (18.6)	88 (19.0)	4 (15.4)	3 (13.6)		88 (19.0)	7 (14.6)	
>5 cm	10 (2.0)	9 (1.9)	1 (3.9)	0 (0)		9 (1.9)	1(2.1)	
Uncertain, but >2 cm	63 (12.3)	60 (12.9)	3 (11.5)	0 (0)		60 (12.9)	3 (6.3)	
Uncertain	99 (19.3)	90 (19.4)	2 (7.7)	7 (31.8)		90 (19.4)	9 (18.8)	
Stage (%)								
I	242 (47.3)	221 (47.6)	9 (34.6)	12 (54.6)	0.027	221 (47.6)	21 (43.8)	0.117
П	218 (42.6)	198 (42.7)	14 (53.9)	6 (27.3)		198 (42.7)	20 (41.7)	
 III	27 (5.3)	22 (4.7)	3 (11.5)	2 (9.1)		22 (4.7)	5 (10.4)	
IV	23 (4.5)	22 (4.7)	0 (0)	1 (4.6)		22 (4.7)	1 (2.1)	
Unknown	2 (0.4)	1 (0.2)	0 (0)	1 (4.6)		1 (0.2)	1 (2.1)	
Molecular subtype (%)	_ ()	- ()	- (-)	- ()		- ()	- ()	
Luminal A	272 (53.1)	251 (54.1)	11 (42.3)	10 (45.5)	0.649	251 (54.1)	21 (43.8)	0.375
Luminal B (HER2 ⁻)	121 (23.6)	105 (22.6)	8 (30.8)	8 (36.4)		105 (22.6)	16 (33.3)	
Luminal B (HER2 ⁺)	42 (8 2)	39 (8 4)	1 (3.9)	2 (9 1)		39 (8.4)	3 (6 3)	
HER2 type	27 (5.3)	23 (5.0)	3 (11.5)	1 (4.6)		23 (5.0)	4 (8.3)	
5NP	11 (2.2)	11 (2.4)	0 (0)	0(0)		11 (2.4)	0(0)	
BP	39 (7.6)	35 (7.5)	3 (11.5)	1 (4.6)		35 (7.5)	4 (8.3)	
Histological type (%)	05 (110)	00 (710)	0 (110)	1 (110)		00 (10)	1 (0.0)	
Invasive carcinoma NOS	353 (69.0)	318 (68 5)	19 (73.1)	16 (72.7)	0 593	318 (68 5)	35 (69 0)	0.273
Lobular carcinoma	66 (12.9)	61 (13.2)	2 (7 7)	3(13.6)	0.070	61 (13.2)	5 (10.4)	0.270
Tubular carcinoma	1 (0 2)	1 (0 2)	0(0)	0 (0)		1 (0.2)	0 (0)	
Mucipous carcinoma	24 (4 7)	23 (5.0)	1 (3.9)	0 (0)		23 (5.0)	1(21)	
Medullary carcinoma	14 (2.7)	10 (2.2)	3 (11.5)	1(4.6)		10 (2.2)	4 (8 3)	
Papillary carcinoma	25 (4.9)	23 (5.0)	1 (3.9)	1 (4.6)		23 (5.0)	2(42)	
Mataplastic	8(16)	23 (3.0) 8 (1.7)	0 (0)	0 (0)		23 (3.0) 8 (1.7)	0 (0)	
Other	21 (4 1)	20 (4 3)	0 (0)	1(4.6)		20(4.3)	1 (2 1)	
Ki67 high/low (%)	21 (7.1)	20 (4.5)	0 (0)	1 (1.0)		20 (4.5)	1 (2.1)	
Ki67 ~15%	308 (60.2)	286 (61.6)	12 (46.2)	10 (45 5)	0.104	286 (61.6)	22 (45.8)	0.033
Ki67 >15%	204 (20.9)	178 (29 4)	14 (52.0)	10 (45.5)	0.104	178 (29 4)	22 (43.0)	0.033
$\frac{1007 \ge 1570}{1000}$ Mitosos/10 HPE modion (IOP r25 r75)	5 (1 12)	5 (1 11)	0 (3 20)	6 (2, 12)		5 (1 12)	20 (34.2) 9 (2 5 16 5)	
micosco/101111, median (IQK p25, p/5)	5 (1, 14)]] [1, 11]	3 (3,20)	0 (2, 12)		3 (1, 12)	0 (2.3, 10.3)	

(Continued)

Table 3. (Continued)

	Total study population	Mean P	Mean PAK1 copy number, three categories				opy number, three categories Mean PAK1 copy number, two categories		
		<4	\geq 4 to <6	≥6	p value (χ^2)	<4	≥ 4	p value (χ ²)	
Mitoses/10 HPF, quartiles (%)									
≤1	136 (26.6)	128 (27.6)	6 (23.1)	2 (9.1)	0.025	128 (27.6)	8 (16.7)	0.162	
>1 ≤5	133 (26.0)	123 (26.5)	1 (3.9)	9 (40.9)		123 (26.5)	10 (20.8)		
>5 ≤12	123 (24.0)	107 (23.1)	9 (34.6)	7 (31.8)		107 (23.1)	16 (33.3)		
>12	120 (23.4)	106 (22.8)	10 (38.5)	4 (18.2)		106 (22.8)	14 (29.2)		

Abbreviations: SD = standard deviation, HER2 = human epidermal growth factor receptor 2, 5NP = 5 negative phenotype, BP = basal phenotype, HPF = high power fields

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0287608.t003



Fig 2. Fluorescence *in situ* hybridization using probes for CEP11 (fluorochrome SpectrumGreen) and *PAK1* (fluorochrome SpectrumRed). Fig 2 showing 2–3 copies of CEP11 and 6–8 copies of *PAK1* in each tumour cell nucleus.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0287608.g002



Fig 3. Cumulative incidence of death from breast cancer according to mean *PAK1* copy number in primary breast cancer tumours. Cumulative incidence curves show no significant association between *PAK1* copy number and risk of death. A) Mean *PAK1* copy number <4, $\geq 4<6$ and ≥ 6 . p = 0.39. B) Mean *PAK1* copy number <4 and ≥ 4 . p = 0.42.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0287608.g003

PAK1 copy number and molecular subtypes

Copy number increase of *PAK1* was found in all molecular subtypes, except the 5-negative phenotype (5NP). The highest proportion of cases with *PAK1* CN \geq 4 was found in the HER2 type, followed by Luminal B (HER2⁻). Of a total of 27 cases of the HER2 type, four (14.7%) had *PAK1* CN \geq 4, one of which (3.7%) had *PAK1* CN \geq 6. In Luminal B (HER2⁻), 16/121 (13.2%) had *PAK1* CN \geq 4, and of these, 8/121 (6.6%) had *PAK1* CN \geq 6. Among Luminal B (HER2⁺) cases, 3/42 (7.1%) showed PAK1 CN \geq 4 (Table 3).

PAK1 and prognosis

The cumulative risk of death from BC during the first 5 years after diagnosis was 20.3% (95% CI 16.9–24.2) for cases with mean *PAK1* CN <4, 23.1% (95% CI 11.1–44.3) for cases with CN \geq 4<6, and 18.2% (95% CI 7.2–41.5) for cases with CN \geq 6 (Fig 3, Table 4). During the first 10 years after diagnosis, the cumulative risk of death from BC was 30.1% (95% CI 26.1–34.5) for cases with mean *PAK1* CN <4, 26.9% (95% CI 13.9–48.3) for cases with CN \geq 4<6, and 40.9% (95% CI 23.8–63.9) for cases with CN \geq 6. In the Cox regression analyses using mean *PAK1*

Table 4. Absolute and relative risk of death from breast cancer according to mean PAK1 copy number/tumour cell nucleus in primary tumours.

	Mean PAK1 copy	number	
	<4	≥4<6	≥6
Cumulative risk after 5 years (%) (95% CI)	20.3(16.9-24.2)	23.1 (11.1-44.3)	18.2 (7.2-41.5)
Cumulative risk after 10 years (%) (95% CI)	30.1 (26.1-34.5)	26.9 (13.9-48.3)	40.9 (23.8-63.9)
HR unadjusted (95% CI)	1.0	0.9 (0.5-1.8)	1.4 (0.8-2.7)
HR adjusted for age (95% CI)	1.0	0.9 (0.5-1.8)	1.5 (0.8-2.7)
HR adjusted for stage (95% CI)	1.0	0.8 (0.4-1.6)	1.7 (0.9-3.2)
HR adjusted for grade (95% CI)	1.0	0.8 (0.4-1.6)	1.4 (0.8-2.6)
HR adjusted for Ki-67 (95% CI)	1.0	0.8 (0.4-1.7)	1.3 (0.7-2.3)
HR adjusted for age, stage, and grade (95% CI)	1.0	0.8 (0.4-1.5)	1.7 (0.9-3.2)

Abbreviations: HR = Hazard ratio, CI = confidence interval

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0287608.t004

	Mean PAK1 (%)	copy number	in primary	tumours	
Mean PAK1 copy number in lymph node metastases (%)	<4	≥4<6	≥6	Total	
<4	103 (94.5)	6 (66.7)	0	109	
≥4<6	5 (4.6)	3 (33.3)	2 (40)	10	
≥6 Total	1 (0.9)	0	3 (60)	4	
	109	9	5	123	
	Mean PAK1 (%)	copy number	in primary	tumours	
Mean PAK1 copy number in lymph node metastases (%)	<4	\geq 4		Total	
<4	103 (94.5)	6 (42.9)		109	
≥ 4	6 (5.5)	8 (57.1)		14	
lotal	109	14		123	ĺ

Table 5. PAK1 copy number in primary tumours and corresponding axillary lymph node metastases.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0287608.t005

CN <4 as the reference, no significant difference was observed in the rate of death from breast cancer for cases with *PAK1* CN increase (HR 1.4 [95% CI 0.8–2.7]) for cases with mean *PAK1* copy number \geq 6). Fourteen of the 123 cases for which lymph node metastases were available had *PAK1* CN \geq 4 in the primary tumour. Of these, 8 also had *PAK1* CN \geq 4 in the corresponding lymph node metastasis. Of the five cases with *PAK1* CN \geq 6 in the primary tumour, 3 also had *PAK1* CN \geq 6 in the corresponding lymph node metastasis (Table 5).

PAK1 and CCND1

Among the 512 cases included in this study, *CCND1* CN status was available for 504 cases [24]. A total of 84/504 cases showed *CCND1* CN \geq 4 and 40 of these had \geq 6 copies of *CCND1*/ nucleus (Table 6). Of the 22 patients with *PAK1* CN \geq 6, 12 (54.6%) cases also had *CCND1* CN \geq 6. Of the 48 cases with *PAK1* CN \geq 4, 30 (62.5%) cases also had *CCND1* CN \geq 4. However, 54 cases had *CCND1* CN \geq 4 without a corresponding increase in *PAK1* CN and 18 cases showed CN increase \geq 4 for *PAK1* without CN increase of *CCND1* (Table 6).

We found no significant difference in the cumulative risk of death from BC between cases with CN \geq 4 of *PAK1* alone, CN \geq 4 *CCND1* alone, and cases with CN \geq 4 for both *PAK1* and *CCND1* combined (Fig 4). Similarly, The Cox regression analysis using combined PAK1 CN <4 and CCND CN <4 as the reference value, showed no significant difference in the rate of death from BC between the three groups of patients with copy number increase (Table 7).

Table 6.	PAK1	and CCND.	l copy nur	nbers in p	rimary	tumours.
----------	------	-----------	------------	------------	--------	----------

	Mean PAK1 CN in primary tumours (%)										
Mean CCND1 CN	<4	≥4<6	≥6	Total							
<4	402 (88.2)	11 (42.3)	7 (31.8)	420	p<0.001						
≥4<6	31 (6.8)	10 (38.5)	3 (13.6)	44							
<u>≥6</u>	23 (5.0)	5 (19.2)	12 (54.6)	40							
Total	456	26	22	504							
	Mean PAK1 CN in	primary tumours (%)									
Mean CCND1 CN	<4	≥ 4		Total							
<4	402 (88.2)	18 (37.5)		420	p<0.001						
\geq 4	54 (11.8)	30 (62.5)		84							
Total	456	48		504							

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0287608.t006



Fig 4. Cumulative incidence of death from breast cancer according to copy numbers of *PAK1* and *CCND1*, and co-amplification of *PAK1* and *CCND1*. Cumulative incidence curves show no significant association between *PAK1* copy number, CCND1 copy number, and co-amplification of *PAK1* and *CCND1*, and risk of death. p = 0.81.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0287608.g004

Discussion

In this study of 512 primary BC tumours, we found *PAK1* CN \geq 4 in 48 (9.4%) cases, of which 22 cases showed high grade CN increase of *PAK1* CN \geq 6. We found an association between *PAK1* CN \geq 4, and high Ki-67 (\geq 15%) and high histological grade. The highest proportion of

Table 7. Relative risk of death from breast cancer according to copy numbers of PAK1 and CCND1, and	co-ampli
fication of PAK1 and CCND1.	

Copy number of PAK1 and CCND1	Hazard ratio		
	HR	CI	p-value
PAK1 CN<4 & CCND1 CN<4 (reference value)	1.0		0.872
PAK1 CN≥4 & CCND1 CN<4	1.3	0.6-2.6	
PAK1 CN<4 & CCND1 CN≥4	0.9	0.6-1.5	
PAK1 CN≥4& CCND1 CN≥4	1.1	0.6-2.0	

Hazard ratio = HR, Confidence interval = CI

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0287608.t007

cases with increased CN of *PAK1* (\geq 4) was found in the HER2 type and Luminal B (HER2⁻) breast cancer subtype. Concurrent CN increase (\geq 4) of *PAK1* and *CCND1* was observed in 30 cases. Of the 123 cases with available lymph node metastases, only three cases had *PAK1* CN \geq 6 in both the primary tumour and the corresponding lymph node metastases.

The cohort of Norwegian BC patients from which the cases of this study are derived is welldescribed, with mean follow-up of nine years. Since recurrence and death from BC may occur many years after the primary diagnosis, long-term follow-up is important in studies of prognostic markers. While recurrence data was unavailable to us, long-term survival data is complete, enabling us to assess the influence of biomarkers on prognosis. Histological typing and grading of all cases in this cohort were revised by experienced pathologists according to current guidelines. All biomarkers were stained at the same laboratory, and the same antibodies, cut-off levels and algorithm for molecular subtyping were used for all cases in the cohort [26].

In this study we used FISH on TMAs. TMAs provide the opportunity to efficiently study biomarkers in a large number of samples simultaneously under similar laboratory conditions at a relatively low cost. FISH is a method available in most laboratories, contrary to multigene assays. It enables us to assess the morphology of the section and ensure that only invasive tumour cell nuclei are assessed. Despite this, FISH applied to tissue sections may lead to an underestimation of CN compared to analysis of whole nuclei, due to nuclear truncation [34]. This would be of particular importance in cases with low CN increase. Preanalytical conditions will have varied considering that the cases included in the present study were diagnosed over decades. This could have affected the cases suitable for FISH analysis. However, few cases were discarded due to unsuccessful FISH. There are no established guidelines for cut-off levels in the assessment of *PAK1* CN. We chose to follow *HER2* guidelines for categorizing CN, as in previous studies by our group [24, 29–32]. While we also registered CN of CEP 11, we did not calculate the ratio between CNs of *PAK1* and CEP11 as this would have masked the true gene CN increase. Furthermore, we found that CEP11 CN increase was observed in only seven cases, of which only two were accompanied by CN increase of *PAK1*.

Tamoxifen is an established hormonal therapy used in ER positive BC. Five years of tamoxifen therapy nearly halves the risk of BC recurrence among ER positive patients [35]. Phosphorylation of ER by PAK1 may induce tamoxifen-resistance in ER positive tumours and tamoxifen itself may also increase nuclear PAK1 and PAK1 kinase activity [14, 23]. Patients with *PAK1* amplification have reduced benefit from tamoxifen and *PAK1* CN may therefore be a predictor of tamoxifen resistance [23]. Thus, PAK1-inhibitors may be useful in ER positive tumours, to improve the effect of tamoxifen in these cases [36].

Both *PAK1* and *CCND1* encode proteins shown to activate ER [23, 36]. Both are located on 11q13 and are thought to be frequently co-amplified. In this study, of the 504 patients analyzed for both *CCND1* and *PAK1*, 84 cases had CN \geq 4 for *CCND1* and 48 with *PAK1* CN \geq 4. A total of 30 (62.5%) cases had CN increase of both genes. These results are in accordance with the findings of others [23]. In the present study, co-amplification of *PAK1* and *CCND1* was not associated with prognosis.

The proportion of cases with increased *PAK1* CN in this study was lower compared to the results of previous studies [7, 8]. However, the mean age at diagnosis in our study was 75.4 years, which is high compared to other studies and higher than the mean age for diagnosis of breast cancer in Norway which is 62 years of age [37]. Fumagalli et al found CN increase in 11% of cases in a selected series of ER⁺, metastatic breast cancer cases. In our series of cases, PAK1 CN increase was found among Luminal B HER2⁻ and the HER2 type [38]. High proliferation rate and poor prognosis are found to be associated in BC [39, 40], and the prognostic effect of proliferation has been shown to vary with age, exerting a greater effect on prognossis among younger BC patients [41]. This may, in part, explain the discrepant results compared to

other studies of *PAK1* and further studies including a wider age range are warranted. Furthermore, the choice of method may also have contributed to these results. Tissue microarrays include only small tissue cylinders from the tumour and may not be representative of the whole tumour, particularly in cases with tumour heterogeneity [42, 43]. In the TMAs used in our study, tissue cylinders were extracted from the tumour periphery and are therefore not necessarily representative of other areas of the tumour. However, we considered the tumour periphery to be the region of greatest interest in the tumour given its greater proliferative activity [44] and its proximity to surrounding breast tissue. Furthermore, selecting tissue for TMA form the same region of all tumours contributes to a certain standardization of the material examined in the study.

Despite associations between *PAK1* CN increase and high histological grade and high proliferation, we failed to demonstrate a statistically significant association between increased *PAK1* CN and prognosis. It would be interesting to study prognosis according to *PAK1* CN for each of the molecular subtypes separately. However, in the present study the number of cases in some of the molecular subtypes was too low to warrant further analyses of subgroups. The numbers of cases showing *PAK1* CN increase in primary tumours only, lymph node metastases only, or both were too low to give reliable prognostic information. The frequency of *PAK1* CN change in this study was lower than the expression of established biomarkers, such as ER, PR and HER2 in BC. However, in an era of personalized medicine, its known influence on the effect of tamoxifen in BC makes it an interesting biomarker and potential target for treatment.

Conclusion

PAK1 CN increase is found in all molecular subtypes, except the 5-negative phenotype (5NP), and most frequently in the HER2 and Luminal B (HER2⁻) subtypes. It is associated with aggressive tumour characteristics such as high histological grade and high Ki-67 protein expression, but not with prognosis. It is co-amplified with *CCND1* in a proportion of cases. Few cases showed *PAK1* CN increase in both the primary tumour and the corresponding lymph node metastases.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank the Department of Pathology, St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital for making the diagnostic archives available for the study, and the Cancer Registry of Norway for supplying the patient data.

Author Contributions

Conceptualization: Anna M. Bofin.

Formal analysis: Anette H. Skjervold, Marit Valla, Borgny Ytterhus, Anna M. Bofin.

Investigation: Anette H. Skjervold, Marit Valla, Anna M. Bofin.

Methodology: Anette H. Skjervold, Borgny Ytterhus, Anna M. Bofin.

Supervision: Anna M. Bofin.

Writing - original draft: Anette H. Skjervold, Marit Valla, Anna M. Bofin.

Writing – review & editing: Anette H. Skjervold, Marit Valla, Borgny Ytterhus, Anna M. Bofin.

References

- Ye D. Z. and Field J., "PAK signaling in cancer," (in eng), *Cell Logist*, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 105–116, Apr 1 2012, https://doi.org/10.4161/cl.21882 PMID: 23162742
- Ong C. C. et al., "Targeting p21-activated kinase 1 (PAK1) to induce apoptosis of tumor cells," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 108, no. 17, pp. 7177–7182, 2011, <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1103350108</u> PMID: 21482786
- Arias-Romero L. E. and Chernoff J., "A tale of two Paks," (in eng), *Biol Cell*, vol. 100, no. 2, pp. 97–108, Feb 2008, https://doi.org/10.1042/bc20070109 PMID: 18199048
- Radu M., Semenova G., Kosoff R., and Chernoff J., "PAK signalling during the development and progression of cancer," *Nat Rev Cancer*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 13–25, Jan 2014, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/</u> nrc3645 PMID: 24505617
- Rane C. K. and Minden A., "P21 activated kinase signaling in cancer," (in eng), Semin Cancer Biol, vol. 54, pp. 40–49, Feb 2019, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2018.01.006 PMID: 29330094
- Kumar R., Sanawar R., Li X., and Li F., "Structure, biochemistry, and biology of PAK kinases," (in eng), Gene, vol. 605, pp. 20–31, Mar 20 2017, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2016.12.014 PMID: 28007610
- Shrestha Y. et al., "PAK1 is a breast cancer oncogene that coordinately activates MAPK and MET signaling," *Oncogene*, vol. 31, no. 29, pp. 3397–408, Jul 19 2012, https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2011.515 PMID: 22105362
- Balasenthil S. et al., "p21-activated kinase-1 signaling mediates cyclin D1 expression in mammary epithelial and cancer cells," *J Biol Chem*, vol. 279, no. 2, pp. 1422–8, Jan 9 2004, https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M309937200 PMID: 14530270
- Dang Y. et al., "Systemic analysis of the expression and prognostic significance of PAKs in breast cancer," *Genomics*, vol. 112, no. 3, pp. 2433–2444, 2020/05/01/2020, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygeno.2020.01.016</u> PMID: 31987914
- Song P., Song B., Liu J., Wang X., Nan X., and Wang J., "Blockage of PAK1 alleviates the proliferation and invasion of NSCLC cells via inhibiting ERK and AKT signaling activity," *Clinical and Translational Oncology*, vol. 23, no. 4, pp. 892–901, 2021/04/01 2021, https://doi.org/10.1007/s12094-020-02486-5 PMID: 32974862
- Wang R. A., Zhang H., Balasenthil S., Medina D., and Kumar R., "PAK1 hyperactivation is sufficient for mammary gland tumor formation," (in eng), *Oncogene*, vol. 25, no. 20, pp. 2931–6, May 11 2006, https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1209309 PMID: 16331248
- Park J. et al., "Association of p21-activated kinase-1 activity with aggressive tumor behavior and poor prognosis of head and neck cancer," (in eng), *Head Neck*, vol. 37, no. 7, pp. 953–63, Jul 2015, <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hed.23695</u> PMID: 24634274
- Siu M. K. et al., "Differential expression and phosphorylation of Pak1 and Pak2 in ovarian cancer: effects on prognosis and cell invasion," (in eng), *Int J Cancer*, vol. 127, no. 1, pp. 21–31, Jul 1 2010, https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.25005 PMID: 19876919
- Holm C., Rayala S., Jirstrom K., Stal O., Kumar R., and Landberg G., "Association between Pak1 expression and subcellular localization and tamoxifen resistance in breast cancer patients," *J Natl Cancer Inst*, vol. 98, no. 10, pp. 671–80, May 17 2006, https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djj185 PMID: 16705121
- Mira J. P., Benard V., Groffen J., Sanders L. C., and Knaus U. G., "Endogenous, hyperactive Rac3 controls proliferation of breast cancer cells by a p21-activated kinase-dependent pathway," (in eng), *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 97, no. 1, pp. 185–9, Jan 4 2000, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.97.1.185 PMID: 10618392
- Kanumuri R., Saravanan R., Pavithra V., Sundaram S., Rayala S. K., and Venkatraman G., "Current trends and opportunities in targeting p21 activated kinase-1(PAK1) for therapeutic management of breast cancers," *Gene*, vol. 760, p. 144991, Nov 15 2020, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2020.144991 PMID: 32717309
- Semenova G. and Chernoff J., "Targeting PAK1," (in eng), *Biochem Soc Trans*, vol. 45, no. 1, pp. 79– 88, Feb 8 2017, https://doi.org/10.1042/BST20160134 PMID: 28202661
- Pérez-Yépez E. A., Saldívar-Cerón H. I., Villamar-Cruz O., Pérez-Plasencia C., and Arias-Romero L. E., "p21 Activated kinase 1: Nuclear activity and its role during DNA damage repair," (in eng), DNA Repair (Amst), vol. 65, pp. 42–46, May 2018, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dnarep.2018.03.004 PMID: 29597073
- Rajendran S. et al., "p21 activated kinase-1 and tamoxifen—A deadly nexus impacting breast cancer outcomes," (in eng), *Biochim Biophys Acta Rev Cancer*, vol. 1877, no. 1, p. 188668, Jan 2022, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbcan.2021.188668</u> PMID: 34896436

- Agarwal S. and Kashaw S. K., "Potential target identification for breast cancer and screening of small molecule inhibitors: A bioinformatics approach," (in eng), *J Biomol Struct Dyn*, vol. 39, no. 6, pp. 1975– 1989, Apr 2021, https://doi.org/10.1080/07391102.2020.1743757 PMID: 32186248
- Saldivar-Cerón H. I. et al., "p21-Activated Kinase 1 Promotes Breast Tumorigenesis via Phosphorylation and Activation of the Calcium/Calmodulin-Dependent Protein Kinase II," (in eng), *Front Cell Dev Biol*, vol. 9, p. 759259, 2021, https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2021.759259 PMID: 35111748
- 22. Wigerup C., Rayala S., Jirström K., Stål O., Kumar R., and Landberg G., "Holm C, Rayala S, Jirstrom K, Stal O, Kumar R, Landberg G Association between Pak1 expression and subcellular localization and tamoxifen resistance in breast cancer patients. J Natl Cancer Inst 98: 671–680," *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, vol. 98, pp. 671–80, 06/01 2006, https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djj185 PMID: 16705121
- Bostner J., Ahnström Waltersson M., Fornander T., Skoog L., Nordenskjöld B., and Stål O., "Amplification of CCND1 and PAK1 as predictors of recurrence and tamoxifen resistance in postmenopausal breast cancer," *Oncogene*, vol. 26, no. 49, pp. 6997–7005, 2007/10/01 2007, https://doi.org/10.1038/ sj.onc.1210506 PMID: 17486065
- Valla M., Klæstad E., Ytterhus B., and Bofin A. M., "CCND1 Amplification in Breast Cancer -associations With Proliferation, Histopathological Grade, Molecular Subtype and Prognosis," (in eng), J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 67–77, Mar 2022, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10911-022-09516-8 PMID: 35459982
- KVÂLE G., HEUCH I., and EIDE G. E., "A PROSPECTIVE STUDY OF REPRODUCTIVE FACTORS AND BREAST CANCER: I. PARITY," *American Journal of Epidemiology*, vol. 126, no. 5, pp. 831–841, 1987, https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a114720 PMID: 3661531
- 26. Engstrom M. J. et al., "Molecular subtypes, histopathological grade and survival in a historic cohort of breast cancer patients," *Breast Cancer Res Treat*, vol. 140, no. 3, pp. 463–73, Aug 2013, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-013-2647-2</u> PMID: 23901018
- Elston C. W. and Ellis I. O., "Pathological prognostic factors in breast cancer. I. The value of histological grade in breast cancer: experience from a large study with long-term follow-up," *Histopathology*, vol. 19, no. 5, pp. 403–10, Nov 1991, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2559.1991.tb00229.x PMID: 1757079
- Lakhani S. R., WHO classification of tumours of the breast, 4th ed. (World Health Organization Classification of Tumours). Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer (in English), 2012.
- Wolff A. C. et al., "Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2 Testing in Breast Cancer: American Society of Clinical Oncology/College of American Pathologists Clinical Practice Guideline Focused Update," (in eng), J Clin Oncol, vol. 36, no. 20, pp. 2105–2122, Jul 10 2018, https://doi.org/10.1200/jco. 2018.77.8738 PMID: 29846122
- Bofin A. M., Ytterhus B., Klæstad E., and Valla M., "FGFR1 copy number in breast cancer: associations with proliferation, histopathological grade and molecular subtypes," (in eng), *J Clin Pathol*, Mar 22 2021, https://doi.org/10.1136/jclinpath-2021-207456 PMID: 33753561
- Valla M., Opdahl S., Ytterhus B., and Bofin A. M., "DTX3 copy number increase in breast cancer: a study of associations to molecular subtype, proliferation and prognosis," (in eng), *Breast Cancer Res Treat*, vol. 187, no. 1, pp. 57–67, May 2021, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-021-06138-2 PMID: 33616774
- Klæstad E., Sawicka J. E., Engstrøm M. J., Ytterhus B., Valla M., and Bofin A. M., "ZNF703 gene copy number and protein expression in breast cancer; associations with proliferation, prognosis and luminal subtypes," (in eng), *Breast Cancer Res Treat*, vol. 186, no. 1, pp. 65–77, Feb 2021, <u>https://doi.org/10. 1007/s10549-020-06035-0 PMID: 33389351</u>
- Sauerbrei W., Taube S. E., McShane L. M., Cavenagh M. M., and Altman D. G., "Reporting Recommendations for Tumor Marker Prognostic Studies (REMARK): An Abridged Explanation and Elaboration," J Natl Cancer Inst, vol. 110, no. 8, pp. 803–811, Aug 1 2018, https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djy088
 PMID: 29873743
- Yoshimoto M. et al., "Correction to: Use of multicolor fluorescence in situ hybridization to detect deletions in clinical tissue sections," *Laboratory Investigation*, vol. 98, no. 6, pp. 839–839, 2018/06/01 2018, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41374-018-0037-4 PMID: 29520053
- 35. Davies C. et al., "Relevance of breast cancer hormone receptors and other factors to the efficacy of adjuvant tamoxifen: patient-level meta-analysis of randomised trials," (in eng), *Lancet*, vol. 378, no. 9793, pp. 771–84, Aug 27 2011, https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(11)60993-8 PMID: 21802721
- Ghosh A., Awasthi S., Peterson J. R., and Hamburger A. W., "Regulation of tamoxifen sensitivity by a PAK1–EBP1 signalling pathway in breast cancer," *British Journal of Cancer*, vol. 108, no. 3, pp. 557– 563, 2013/02/01 2013, https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2013.11 PMID: 23361053
- Norway C. R. o., "Cancer in Norway 2021—Cancer incidence, mortality, survival and prevalence in Norway," Oslo, 2022. [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.kreftregisteret.no/globalassets/cancer-in-norway/</u>2021/cin_report.pdf

- Fumagalli D. et al., "Somatic mutation, copy number and transcriptomic profiles of primary and matched metastatic estrogen receptor-positive breast cancers," *Ann Oncol*, vol. 27, no. 10, pp. 1860–6, Oct 2016, https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdw286 PMID: 27672107
- Cheang M. C. et al., "Ki67 index, HER2 status, and prognosis of patients with luminal B breast cancer," (in eng), J Natl Cancer Inst, vol. 101, no. 10, pp. 736–50, May 20 2009, https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/ djp082 PMID: 19436038
- 40. Wirapati P. et al., "Meta-analysis of gene expression profiles in breast cancer: toward a unified understanding of breast cancer subtyping and prognosis signatures," (in eng), Breast Cancer Res, vol. 10, no. 4, p. R65, 2008, https://doi.org/10.1186/bcr2124 PMID: 18662380
- Baak J. P. et al., "The prognostic value of proliferation in lymph-node-negative breast cancer patients is age dependent," (in eng), *Eur J Cancer*, vol. 43, no. 3, pp. 527–35, Feb 2007, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejca.2006.10.001 PMID: 17110097
- 42. Pinder S. E. et al., "The manufacture and assessment of tissue microarrays: suggestions and criteria for analysis, with breast cancer as an example," *J Clin Pathol*, vol. 66, no. 3, pp. 169–77, Mar 2013, https:// doi.org/10.1136/jclinpath-2012-201091 PMID: 23087330
- 43. Torhorst J. et al., "Tissue microarrays for rapid linking of molecular changes to clinical endpoints," Am J Pathol, vol. 159, no. 6, pp. 2249–56, Dec 2001, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63075-1 PMID: 11733374
- 44. Jimenez-Sanchez J. et al., "Evolutionary dynamics at the tumor edge reveal metabolic imaging biomarkers," (in English), P Natl Acad Sci USA, vol. 118, no. 6, Feb 9 2021, ARTN e2018110118 <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2018110118</u> PMID: 33536339
Paper III

ORIGINAL LABORATORY INVESTIGATION



Oestrogen receptor low positive breast cancer: associations with prognosis

Anette H. Skjervold¹ · Marit Valla^{1,2} · Anna M. Bofin¹

Received: 27 April 2023 / Accepted: 5 July 2023 / Published online: 18 July 2023 © The Author(s) 2023

Abstract

Purpose In this study of oestrogen receptor (ER) Low Positive breast cancers (BC) in three large cohorts of BC patients, we assess associations between levels of ER expression and tumour characteristics and prognosis.

Methods Cases were stratified into patients unlikely to have received adjuvant therapy according to treatment guidelines at time of diagnosis (before 1995), and those who could have received adjuvant therapy (diagnosed in 1995 or later). ER status was divided into <1%; $\ge 1 < 10\%$; $\ge 10\%$. Results were correlated with time of diagnosis, histopathological grade, proliferation status, and molecular subtypes, using Pearson's Chi-square test. For prognosis, hazard ratios and cumulative incidence of death from BC were used.

Results Of the 1955 tumours, 65 (3.3%) were ER Low Positive (ER $\ge 1 < 10\%$). Overall, the highest proportion of ER Low Positive tumours was observed among Luminal B (HER2+) subtype (9.4%) and grade 3 tumours (4.3%). The risk of death from BC was lower in ER Low Positive and ER $\ge 10\%$ compared to ER-negative cases. Compared to patients diagnosed before 1995, women diagnosed in 1995 or later showed a higher proportion of ER Low Positive BCs, and their tumours were of smaller size, lower grade, and lower proliferative status. There was no significant difference in prognosis compared to those with ER $\ge 10\%$ tumours.

Conclusion Women with ER Low Positive tumours diagnosed in a time period when adjuvant therapy was available had tumours of smaller size, lower grade, and lower proliferative status, and similar prognosis to those with $ER \ge 10\%$ compared to women diagnosed earlier.

Keywords Breast cancer \cdot Oestrogen receptor \cdot ER \cdot ER low positive \cdot Prognosis \cdot Endocrine treatment

Introduction

Oestrogen receptor (ER) status plays an essential role in clinical decision-making and predicting outcome and treatment response for breast cancer (BC) patients [1]. According to current guidelines [2], patients with ER-positive tumours are considered eligible for endocrine therapy. Patients with ER-negative tumours are more likely to benefit from chemotherapy and generally have a poorer outcome than patients with ER-positive (ER +) tumours [3, 4].

Breast cancer differs from most tumours because of its dependence on female sex hormones for development and growth [5]. Expression of ER by immunohistochemistry (IHC) is seen in more than 70% of BC tumours [6]. The ASCO/CAP and current national BC guidelines state that BC tumours with $\geq 1\%$ positive staining tumour cell nuclei should be interpreted as ER+, and negative if < 1% of tumour cell nuclei express ER [2, 7]. However, the ASCO/ CAP Expert Panel states that data on the effect of endocrine therapy for cancers with $ER \ge 1 < 10\%$ are limited. They suggest that samples with $ER \ge 1 < 10\%$ should be reported as ER Low Positive, with a comment mentioning the limited data available on the therapeutic benefit of anti-hormonal treatment for this group of patients [2]. According to the St. Gallen 2019 Consensus Discussion on The Optimal Primary Breast Cancer Treatment, there is a need for better evaluation of ideal cut-off levels for the prescription of endocrine

Anette H. Skjervold anette.skjervold@ntnu.no

¹ Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway

² Department of Pathology, St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim, Norway

therapy for ER + tumours, particularly for ER Low Positive cases [8-10].

In this study we examined expression levels of ER in BC tumours and associations between ER status and time of diagnosis, and tumour characteristics such as histopathological grade, molecular subtypes, proliferation and prognosis, with emphasis on ER Low Positive tumours.

Materials and methods

Study population

This study comprises women from three population-based surveys conducted in Trøndelag County, Norway. Information on breast cancer incidence was obtained from the Cancer Registry of Norway. Date of death, and/or emigration was obtained from the National Population Register and causes of death from the Norwegian Cause of Death Registry. Formalin-fixed, paraffin embedded (FFPE) tumour tissue from the primary tumours and corresponding pathology reports were retrieved from the Department of Pathology at St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Norway (Fig. 1).

Cohort 1: The cohort includes 25,727 women born 1886–1928 [11] invited to attend a population-based survey for the early detection of breast cancer conducted in Nord-Trøndelag County, Norway, between 1956 and 1959. During 47 years of follow-up (1961 to end of 2008), 1379 new BCs were registered among these women. In a previous study 909 of these tumours were classified according to histopathological type and grade and divided into molecular subtypes [12]. For one case ER status was missing, and this case was excluded from the present study, leaving 908 cases. After diagnosis, patients were followed until time of death from BC or death from other causes, or until December 31st, 2015.

Cohort 2: The second cohort comprises 34,221 women born between 1897 and 1977 and derives from the HUNT2 Study conducted between 1995 and 1997 in Nord-Trøndelag County, Norway [13]. From attendance until December 31st, 2009, 728 women were diagnosed with BC. Of these, 157 cases were already included in Cohort 1 and 57 were unavailable for subtyping. The remaining tumours (n = 514) from Cohort 2 were assigned histopathological type and grade and reclassified into molecular subtypes [14]. ER status was available for all 514 cases. After diagnosis, these patients were followed until time of death from BC or death from other causes, or until December 31st, 2015.

Cohort 3: The third cohort includes 22,931 women born at E.C. Dahl's Foundation, Trondheim, Norway between 1920 and 1966. During 52 years of follow-up (1961 to the end of 2012), a total of 870 women were diagnosed with BC. Among them, 598 were diagnosed at St Olav's Hospital, and histopathological typing, grading and molecular subtyping were successful for 537 of these cases [15]. ER status was available for 533 of these cases. After diagnosis, patients were followed until time of death from BC or death from other causes, or until December 31st, 2015.



Specimen characteristics

Tissue Microarray (TMA) paraffin blocks were made from the archival tumour tissue using the TissueArrayer Minicore with TMA Designer2 software (Alphelys). Three 1 mm in diameter tissue cylinders from the periphery of the FFPE primary tumours were transferred to TMA recipient blocks. TMA Sections (4 μ m) were cut and IHC-staining for ER was carried out within four weeks after sectioning. Between cutting and staining, sections were stored at – 20 °C. Staining intensity was not quantified in this study. Molecular subtypes for all cases in all three cohorts were determined using IHC and in situ hybridization in lieu of gene expression analyses, and have been published previously [12, 14, 15]. The IHC markers including ER are shown in Table 1.

Statistical analyses

For the present study, we divided ER expression into three categories (<1%; $\ge 1 < 10\%$; $\ge 10\%$) and studied associations between ER expression and histopathological grade, molecular subtype, proliferation, and prognosis.

Pearson's chi square test was used to compare patient and tumour characteristics across categories of ER. In analyses of prognosis, we distinguished between women diagnosed before 1995 and women diagnosed in 1995 or later. This cut-off was used to approximate the gradual implementation of adjuvant treatment in Norway [14, 16]. Cumulative incidence of death from BC was estimated, with death from other causes as competing events. Gray's test was used to compare equality between cumulative incidence curves. Cox proportional hazard analyses were used to estimate hazard ratios (HR) of BC death with 95% confidence intervals (CI) within each diagnostic period, censoring at time of death from other causes. We adjusted for age, stage, histopathological grade, and for these variables combined. No clear violations of proportionality were found in log-minus-log plots. Statistical analyses were performed using Stata/MP version 17 (StataCorp LP, College Station, Texas, USA).

 Table 1
 Algorithm for reclassification of breast cancers into molecular subtypes [12]

Classified by
ER + and/or PR +, HER2-, Ki-67 < 15%
ER + and/or PR + , HER2-, Ki-67 \geq 15%
ER+and/or PR+, HER2+
ER-, PR-, HER2+
ER-, PR-, HER2-, CK5-, EGFR-
ER-, PR-, HER2-, CK5+ and/or EGFR+

ER Oestrogen receptor, *PR* Progesterone receptor, *HER2* Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2, *CK5* Cytokeratin 5, *EGFR* Epidermal growth factor receptor 1

Results

Patient and tumour characteristics for the 1955 patients included in the present study are shown in Table 2. Mean age at diagnosis was 67.3 years (SD: 12.8) and mean follow-up after diagnosis was 9.9 years (SD: 7.3). By end of follow-up, 545 (27.9%) patients had died from BC and 588 (30.1%) died from other causes. Of the 1955 tumours, 315 (16.1%) were ER <1%, 65 (3.3%) were ER Low Positive (ER $\geq 1 < 10\%$) and 1575 (80.6%) were ER $\geq 10\%$. Of the 545 deaths from BC, 129 (23.7%) cases were ER <1%, 16 (2.9%) were ER Low Positive and 400 (73.4%) were ER $\geq 10\%$.

ER categories and molecular subtypes

Of the 1955 tumours included in this study, 1669 (85.4%) were classified as one of the luminal subtypes (Luminal A, Luminal B (HER2-), or Luminal B (HER2+)). Of these, 1640 were ER positive (ER \geq 1%). Of the 180 cases of Luminal B (HER2+), seven (3.9%) cases were ER < 1%, 17 (9.4%) were ER Low Positive and 156 (86.7%) were ER \geq 10% (p < 0.0001). Among the 937 cases with Luminal A subtype, 10 (1.1%) cases were ER < 1%, 29 (3.1%) were ER Low Positive and 898 (95.8%) were ER \geq 10%. Of the 552 Luminal B (HER2-) cases 12 (2.2%) cases were ER < 1%, 19 (3.4%) were ER Low Positive and 521 (94.4%) were ER \geq 10%. Twenty-six cases with ER < 1% were classified as Luminal based on progesterone receptor (PR) positivity (Table 2).

ER categories, histopathological grade, proliferation, and histopathological type

In this study, 287 (14.7%) tumours were grade 1, 1015 (51.9%) were grade 2 and 653 (33.4%) were grade 3. The highest proportion of ER Low Positive (28/653 (4.3%)) was observed among grade 3 tumours (p < 0.0001). Of the 1057 cases with Ki-67 < 15%, 74 (7.0%) were ER < 1%, 31 (2.9%) were ER Low Positive, and 952 (90.1%) were $ER \ge 10\%$. Of the 898 cases with Ki-67 $\ge 15\%$, 241 (26.8%) were ER < 1%, 34 (3.8%) were ER Low Positive, and 623 (69.4%) were ER $\geq 10\%$ (*p* < 0.0001). Similarly, of the 459 cases with ≤ 2 mitoses/10 High power fields (HPF) (p25), 23 (5.0%) were ER < 1%, 9 (2.0%) were ER Low Positive and 427 (93.0%) were ER $\geq 10\%$ (p < 0.0001). Whereas, of the 875 cases with > 13 mitoses/10 HPF (p75), 215 (24.6%) were ER < 1%, 40 (4.5%) were ER Low Positive, and 620 (70.9%) were ER $\geq 10\%$ (p < 0.0001). Of the 65 ER Low Positive cases, 50/1507 (3.3%) were invasive

Table 2	Patient and	tumour o	characteristics	according to	ER	. categories
---------	-------------	----------	-----------------	--------------	----	--------------

	Total study population	ER categorie	s		
		<1%	$\geq 1 < 10\%$	≥10%	<i>p</i> value (χ^2)
 N (%)	1955	315 (16.1)	65 (3.3)	1575 (80.6)	
Mean age at diagnosis, years (SD)	67.3 (12.8)	65.4 (14.0)	63.3 (13.9)	67.9 (12.4)	
Mean follow-up, years (SD)	9.9 (7.3)	8.4 (7.6)	10.3 (6.9)	10.2 (9.0)	
Alive Dec. 31st 2015 (%)	822 (42.1)	102 (32.5)	34 (51.5)	686 (43.6)	< 0.001
Deaths from breast cancer (%)	545 (27.9)	129 (41.0)	16 (24.6)	400 (25.4)	
Deaths from other causes or by the end of 2015 (%)	588 (30.1)	84 (26.7)	15 (23.1)	489 (31.1)	
Histopathological grade (%)					
I	287 (14.7)	13 (4.1)	6 (9.2)	268 (17.0)	< 0.001
П	1015 (51.9)	73 (23.2)	31 (47.7)	911 (57.8)	
III	653 (33.4)	229 (72.7)	28 (43.1)	396 (25.1)	
Tumour size (%)					
$\leq 2 \text{ cm}$	1035 (52.9)	124 (39.4)	33 (50.8)	878 (55.8)	< 0.001
>2 cm, ≤ 5 cm	391 (20.0)	75 (23.8)	15 (23.1)	301 (19.1)	
>5 cm	24 (1.2)	9 (2.9)	3 (4.6)	12 (0.8)	
Uncertain, but > 2 cm	161 (8.2)	44 (14.0)	7 (10.8)	110 (7.0)	
Uncertain	344 (17.6)	63 (20.0)	7 (10.8)	274 (17.4)	
Stage (%)					
Ι	881 (45.1)	113 (35.9)	25 (38.5)	743 (47.2)	0.010
П	708 (36.2)	137 (43.5)	26 (40.0)	545 (34.6)	
III	98 (5.0)	23 (7.3)	3 (4.6)	72 (4.6)	
IV	72 (3.7)	14 (4.4)	2 (3.1)	56 (3.6)	
Unknown	196 (10.0)	28 (8.9)	9 (13.9)	159 (10.1)	
Molecular subtype (%)					
Luminal A	937 (47.9)	10 (3.2)	29 (44.6)	898 (57.0)	< 0.001
Luminal B (HER2-)	552 (28.2)	12 (3.8)	19 (29.2)	521 (33.1)	
Luminal B (HER2+)	180 (9.2)	7 (2.2)	17 (26.2)	156 (9.9)	
HER2 type	108 (5.5)	108 (34.3)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
5NP	53 (2.7)	53 (16.8)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
BP	125 (6.4)	125 (39.7)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Histopathological subtype (%)					
Invasive carcinoma (NOS ^a)	1507 (77.1)	218 (69.2)	50 (76.9)	1239 (78.7)	< 0.001
Lobular carcinoma	210 (10.7)	17 (5.4)	8 (12.3)	185 (11.8)	
Tubular carcinoma	6 (0.3)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	6 (0.4)	
Mucinous carcinoma	65 (3.3)	2 (0.6)	0 (0.0)	63 (4.0)	
Medullary carcinoma	60 (3.1)	38 (12.1)	4 (6.2)	18 (1.1)	
Papillary carcinoma	39 (2.0)	5 (1.6)	0 (0.0)	34 (2.2)	
Metaplastic	18 (0.9)	15 (4.8)	1 (1.5)	2 (0.1)	
Other	50 (2.6)	20 (6.4)	2 (3.1)	28 (1.8)	
Ki-67 low/high (%)					
Ki-67 < 15%	1057 (54.1)	74 (23.5)	31 (47.7)	952 (60.4)	< 0.001
Ki-67≥15%	898 (45.9)	241 (76.5)	34 (52.3)	623 (39.6)	
Mitoses/10 HPF, median (IQR p25, p75)	5 (2,13)	15 (7,29)	8 (4,17)	4 (1,10)	
Mitoses/10 HPF, quartiles (%)					
≤2	459 (23.5)	23 (7.3)	9 (13.9)	427 (27.2)	< 0.001
>2,≤5	275 (14.1)	23 (7.3)	6 (9.2)	246 (15.7)	
>5,≤13	342 (17.5)	54 (17.1)	10 (15.4)	278 (17.7)	
× 12	975 (44.0)	215 (69 2)	10 ((1.5)	(20 (20 5)	

^aNOS Not otherwise specified

carcinoma NOS, 8/210 (3.8%) were lobular carcinoma, 4/60 (6.6%) were medullary carcinoma, and 1/18 (5.5%) was metaplastic carcinoma (Table2).

Comparisons between women diagnosed before 1995 and women diagnosed in 1995 or later

A total of 774 cases were diagnosed before 1995, and 1181 were diagnosed in 1995 or later. The distribution of cases according to time of diagnosis are shown in Table 3. Of women diagnosed before 1995, 352/774 (45.5%) died from BC during follow-up, as opposed to 193/1181 (16.3%) of those diagnosed in 1995 or later. Among women diagnosed before 1995, 152/774 (19.6%) tumours were ER < 1%, falling to 163/1181 (13.8%) among women diagnosed in 1995 or later. Similarly, 16/774 (2.1%) tumours were ER Low Positive before 1995, rising to 49/1181 (4.2%) in 1995 or later, and 606/774 (78.3%) cases diagnosed before 1995 were $ER \ge 10\%$, rising to 969/1181 (82.1%) among women diagnosed in 1995 or later. Furthermore, we found that 310/774 (40.1%) of tumours diagnosed before 1995 were ≤ 2 cm in diameter, rising to 725/1181 (61.4%) for tumours diagnosed in 1995 or later (p < 0.0001) (Table 3).

Characteristics of ER low positive tumours

The distribution of tumour characteristics in patients with ER Low tumours are shown in Table 4. There was a total of 65 (3.3%) ER Low Positive tumours in this study. Of these, 16 were diagnosed before 1995, and 49 was diagnosed in 1995 or later. Among the ER Low Positive tumours diagnosed before 1995, 8/16 (50%) died from BC during follow-up, as opposed to 8/49 (16.3%) of those diagnosed in 1995 or later. Among ER Low tumours, the proportion of tumours < 2 cm, rose from 31% in patients diagnosed before 1995 to 57% in those diagnosed in 1995 or later (p < 0.0001).

For all cases, there was a higher proportion of grade 1 tumours (17.2%), and a lower proportion of tumours with grade 3 (29.6%) among women diagnosed in 1995 or later, compared to women diagnosed before 1995 (Grade 1: 10.9%, Grade 3: 39.1% (p < 0.0001)). Among ER Low Positive cases, there was a higher proportion of grade 1 (12.2%) and 2 (53.1%) tumours among women diagnosed in 1995 or later, compared to the women diagnosed before 1995 (grade 1: 0%, grade 2: 31.2%). For grade 3 tumours the proportion of ER low tumours was lower when diagnosed in 1995 or later (p = 0.04) (Table 4).

For all cases, the proportion of Luminal A subtype was higher for women diagnosed in 1995 or later (52.5%) compared to those diagnosed before 1995 (41.0%). The proportion of Luminal B (HER2-) and HER2 subtypes was lower for women diagnosed in 1995 or later (p < 0.0001) (Table 3), compared to those diagnosed before 1995. Among ER Low

Positive tumours, the proportion of Luminal A subtype rose from 25% in ER Low tumours diagnosed before 1995, to 51% when diagnosed in 1995 or later. The proportion of Luminal B (HER2+) tumours was lower among the women diagnosed in 1995 or later (18.4%), than the women diagnosed before 1995 (50%) (p=0.037) (Table 4).

ER categories and prognosis

Cumulative incidence of death by BC according to ER status is shown in Fig. 2. The risk of death from BC for all categories of ER expression was lower for women diagnosed in 1995 or later compared to women diagnosed before 1995 (Table 5). The cumulative risk of death from BC after 5 years, for women diagnosed before 1995, was 47.4% among cases with ER < 1%, 37.5% for cases with ER Low Positive and 20.8% for cases with ER $\ge 10\%$. Among women diagnosed with breast cancer in 1995 or later the cumulative risk of death from BC was 22.3% after 5 years for ER < 1%, and 8.3% for both the ER Low Positive and ER $\ge 10\%$ group (Table 5). Thus, among patients diagnosed in 1995 or later, there was no clear difference in risk of death from BC between cases with ER Low Positive and ER > 10%.

Cox regression analyses showed that the risk of death was lower among patients with $ER \ge 10\%$, compared to those with ER < 1%, both among patients diagnosed before 1995, and among patients diagnosed in 1995 or later. The Cox analysis shows a lower relative risk of death from BC among patients with $ER \ge 10\%$ tumours, compared to ER < 1% both before and after 1995. We observed a tendency towards a lower relative risk of death from BC among ER Low Positive, compared to ER < 1%. However, these findings were not statistically significant (Table 5).

Discussion

In this study of 1955 primary BC tumours, we found that 65 (3.3%) tumours fell under the ER Low Positive category. We found the highest proportion of ER Low Positive among Luminal B (HER2 +) tumours (9.4%). Among cases diagnosed before 1995, 2.1% were ER Low Positive rising to 4.2% among cases diagnosed in 1995 or later. We found an association between ER Low Positive and high histopathological grade, high Ki-67 levels and high mitotic count. However, the results did not show a significant association with prognosis.

Breast cancer survival in Norway has increased since the mid-1990s as seen in the present and other studies [17]. This may be ascribed to earlier detection [18, 19] and improved treatment [6, 20]. The reduced risk of death observed between the two time-periods for all categories of ER expression, probably reflects earlier diagnosis with the

Table 3	Patient and	l tumour	characteristics	among	women	diagnosed	before	1995	, or in	1995	and later
---------	-------------	----------	-----------------	-------	-------	-----------	--------	------	---------	------	-----------

	Women diagnosed with BC before 1995 (%)	<i>p</i> -value	Women diagnosed with BC in 1995 or later (%)	<i>p</i> -value
Total cases (n)	774		1181	
Cohort 1 $(n - 908)$	661 (72 7)		248 (27.3)	
Cohort 2 $(n - 514)$	0(0,0)		514(1000)	
Cohort 2 $(n - 514)$	113(212)		A20 (78 8)	
Mean age at diagnosis (SD)	69 5 (10 <i>A</i>)		420(78.8)	
Mean follow up time (SD)	10.0(0.7)		0.2(5.0)	
Deaths by $PC(\emptyset)$	10.9 (9.7) 252 (45 5)	0.104	9.2(3.0)	0.001
Deaths from other causes or by the end of 2015 (%)	352 (45.5)	0.104	193(10.3) 224(19.0)	0.001
Alive at and of follow up (31st Dec 2015)	58 (7 5)		224(19.0)	
Destrogen recentor (%)	58 (7.5)		/04 (04.7)	
	152 (10.6)	< 0.001	162 (12.9)	< 0.001
< 1% (%)	132 (19.0)	< 0.001	103 (13.8)	< 0.001
$\geq 1 < 10\%$ (%)	10 (2.1)		49 (4.2)	
≥10% (%)	000 (78.3)		969 (82.1)	
Tumour size	210 (10.1)	0.022	705 ((1.4)	0.001
$\leq 2 \text{ cm}(\%)$	310 (40.1)	0.023	725 (61.4)	< 0.001
$>2 \le 5 \text{ cm}(\%)$	64 (8.3)		327 (27.7)	
Tumour size $> 5 \text{ cm}(\%)$	3 (0.4)		21 (1.8)	
Uncertain, but > 2 cm (%)	148 (19.1)		13 (1.1)	
Uncertain (%)	249 (32.2)		95 (8.0)	
Stage				
1	346 (44.7)	0.002	535 (45.3)	0.001
2	257 (33.2)		451 (38.2)	
3	47 (6.1)		51 (4.3)	
4	39 (5.0)		33 (2.8)	
Unknown	85 (11.0)		111 (9.4)	
Histopathological grade				
1	84 (10.9)	< 0.001	203 (17.2)	< 0.001
2	387 (50.0)		628 (53.2)	
3	303 (39.1)		350 (29.6)	
Histopathological type				
Invasive carcinoma (NOS)	566 (73.1)	< 0.001	941 (79.7)	< 0.001
Lobular carcinoma	96 (12.4)		114 (9.7)	
Mucinous carcinoma	27 (3.5)		38 (3.2)	
Medullary carcinoma	27 (3.5)		33 (2.8)	
Papillary carcinoma	21 (2.7)		18 (1.5)	
Metaplastic carcinoma	8 (1.0)		10 (0.9)	
Tubular carcinoma	2 (0.3)		4 (0.3)	
Other	27 (3.5)		23 (2.0)	
Molecular subtypes				
Luminal A	317 (41.0)	< 0.001	620 (52.5)	< 0.001
Luminal B (HER2-)	243 (31.4)		309 (26.2)	
Luminal B (HER2+)	69 (8.9)		111 (9.4)	
HER2 type	63 (8.1)		45 (3.8)	
Five-negative phenotype	25 (3.2)		28 (2.4)	
Basal phenotype	57 (7.4)		68 (5.8)	
Mitoses/10 HPF, median (IQR p25, p75)	2 (7, 15)		4 (1, 10)	
Mitoses /10 HPF (%)				
≤2	203 (26.2)	< 0.001	256 (21.8)	< 0.001
>2,≤5	140 (18.1)		135 (11.5)	

541

	Women diagnosed with BC <i>p</i> -value before 1995 (%)	Women diagnosed with BC <i>p</i> -v in 1995 or later (%)	value
>5,≤13	202 (26.1)	140 (11.9)	
>13	229 (29.6)	646 (54.9)	
Ki-67			
<15%	377 (48.7) <0.001	680 (57.6) <	< 0.001
≤15%	397 (51.3)	501 (42.4)	

Table 3 (continued)

NOS = Not otherwise specified, HPF = High Power Field

introduction of mammography screening and the introduction of adjuvant treatment therapies in the mid-1990s. The change in prognosis observed across time for patients with ER Low Positive tumours may also be attributed to adjuvant therapy other than antihormonal treatment in addition to changing tumour characteristics such as smaller tumour size and lower histopathological grade. However, a drawback of the present study was lack of availability of diseasefree survival data.

ER status is an important indicator of prognosis and a predictor of the effect of endocrine treatment. ER signalling is a main driver of proliferation in ER Positive BCs, and inhibition of ER signalling has improved survival among ER Positive BC patients [6, 21]. Studies suggest that selection of patients for endocrine therapy may need to be further personalized [9, 22, 23]. While most ER + BCs have high IHC scores, about 2-3% of cases are ER Low Positive [10, 24, 25]. In the present study, 3.3% of the total number of cases were ER Low Positive. While these tumours are classified within the ER + category, their risk profile appears to be more like that of ER-negative breast cancers [24]. A recent study found no benefit of endocrine therapy in the ER < 10% group compared to the ER > 10% group [25]. The lack of benefit of endocrine therapy in patients with low ER expression has recently been shown in a meta-analysis, including more than 16,000 patients [26]. The meta-analysis indicated that primary BC patients with ER 1-9% gained no significant survival benefit from endocrine therapy, but manifested better overall prognosis than patients with cancers expressing ER < 1% [26]. In the present study, among patients diagnosed in 1995 or later, the ER Low Positive patient group had similar survival to those with $ER \ge 10\%$. The patients included in this study were diagnosed with BC between 1961 and 2012, and the ER > 1% cut-off level for endocrine treatment was first introduced in Norway in 2011 after recommendations from ASCO/CAP [27]. Therefore, the improved prognosis seen among ER Low Positive patients diagnosed in 1995 or later, can most likely not be attributed to endocrine treatment [28]. Among women diagnosed in 1995 or later, we found a greater proportion of ER Low Positive tumours with smaller size, lower grade, and lower proliferation compared to ER Low Positive tumours diagnosed before 1995. Thus, the improved prognosis may be attributed to factors other than endocrine treatment, such as earlier diagnosis due to the introduction of mammography screening and greater BC awareness among women. Determining endocrine treatment for patients with a diagnosis of ER Low Positive BC should be carefully considered in light of the potential risks and benefits of the treatment [24].

In the present study, the proportion of Luminal A tumours was higher among women diagnosed in the time period during which adjuvant treatment and earlier diagnosis became available, a finding previously observed by our group in an analysis of cohorts 1 and 2 [14]. It has been suggested that BC patients with ER Low Positive are more similar to the ER-negative group, and therefore may not profit from endocrine therapy [9]. Thus, it has been suggested that cut-off levels should be further investigated in order to offer BC patients personalized endocrine treatment [22, 29, 30]. In the present study we found that among cases diagnosed in 1995 or later, ER Low Positive cases showed a prognosis similar to that of ER \geq 10% cases. However, the impact of hormonal therapy could not be assessed in this study, due to lack of individual information on treatment.

Similar to our findings, a recent study showed that ER Low Positive tumours were more frequently grade 3 and had a higher expression of Ki-67, compared to BCs with intermediate or high expression of ER [31]. Furthermore, they found that the expression of immune-related biomarkers in ER Low Positive was similar to that of ER-negative tumours. We observed four cases of medullary carcinoma and one metaplastic carcinoma among the ER Low Positive cases. When determining treatment for patients with ER Low Positive BC, it may be useful to consider including a panel of immune-related biomarkers.

The FFPE tumour tissue included in this study covered a diagnostic timespan of several decades, and preanalytical conditions may have varied over time. Many of the tumours were diagnosed at a time when ER IHC was not done in the diagnostic setting. However, valuable information can be drawn from archival tissue blocks [32, 33]. It has been shown that antigenicity is, for the most part, preserved in

	Women diagnosed with BC before 1995 (%)	Women diagnosed with BC in 1995 or later (%)	<i>p</i> -value
Total cases (n)	16	49	
Mean age at diagnosis (SD)	66.9 (12.8)	62.2 (14.2)	
Mean follow-up-time (SD)	10.8 (11.5)	10.2 (4.7)	
Deaths from breast cancer (%)	8 (50.0)	8 (16.3)	< 0.001
Deaths from other causes or by the end of 2015 (%)	7 (43.7)	8 (16.3)	
Alive at end of follow-up	1 (6.3)	33 (67.4)	
Tumour size			
$\leq 2 \text{ cm} (\%)$	5 (31.2)	28 (57.1)	< 0.001
$>2 \le 5 \text{ cm}(\%)$	1 (6, 3)	14 (28.6)	
Tumour size > 5 cm (%)	0 (0.0)	3 (6.1)	
Uncertain, but $> 2 \text{ cm} (\%)$	6 (37.5)	1 (2.0)	
Uncertain (%)	4 (25.0)	3 (6.1)	
Stage			
1	5 (31.3)	20 (40.8)	0.001
2	2 (12.5)	24 (49.0)	
3	2 (12.5)	1 (2.0)	
4	2 (12.5)	0 (0.0)	
Unknown	5 (31.3)	4 (8.2)	
Histopathological grade			
1	0 (0.0)	6 (12.2)	0.041
2	5 (31.2)	26 (53.1)	
3	11 (68.8)	17 (34.7)	
Molecular subtypes			
Luminal A	4 (25.0)	25 (51.0)	0.037
Luminal B (HER2-)	4 (25.0)	15 (30.6)	
Luminal B (HER2+)	8 (50.0)	9 (18.4)	
HER2 type	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
5NP	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
BP	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
Mitoses/10 HPF, median (IQR p25, p75)	9.5 (5, 16.5)	8 (2, 17)	
Mitoses /10 High power field (HPF) $p25=4$, $p50=8$, $p75$	= 17 (ER Low)		
≤4/10 HPF	4 (25.0)	8 (16.3)	0.047
>4≤8/10 HPF	3 (18.7)	5 (10.2)	
>8≤17/10 HPF	5 (31.3)	5 (10.2)	
> 17/10 HPF	4 (25.0)	31 (63.3)	
Ki-67			
<15%	5 (31.2)	26 (53.1)	0.129
≤15%	11 (68.8)	23 (46.9)	

Table 4Patient and tumour characteristics among patients with ER Low Positive ($\geq 1 < 10\%$) diagnosed before 1995, and in 1995 or later

paraffin blocks over decades but may decrease in sections stored over time, resulting in weaker staining [33–35]. We observed no apparent trend towards a negative result among the older specimens but felt it would be unwise to attempt to quantify staining intensity due to the varying preanalytical conditions over which we had no control.

Other strengths of this study include reliable information on BC incidence and follow-up data that were available from high-quality national registries like the Cancer Registry of Norway, the Cause of Death Registry and the Norwegian Patient register [36, 37] thus enabling comparability within the study population across time.

Using TMA sections enables us to stain hundreds of tumour samples at the same time, under the same conditions. The samples comprise a small amount of the original tumour tissue samples, compared to full-face sections. Thus, some important information from the tumour may be lost. However, it has been shown that IHC for ER carried out



Fig. 2 Cumulative incidence of death from breast cancer according to oestrogen receptor (ER) levels. A Women diagnosed with BC before 1995. B Women diagnosed with BC in 1995 or later. Gray's test: p < 0.0001

Table 5 Absolute and relative risk of death from breast cancer according to ER levels, and breast cancer diagnosis before 1995 and in 1995 or later

	ER levels, diagnosis before 1995			ER levels, diagnosis in 1995 or later		
	<1%	$\geq 1 < 10\%$	≥10%	<1%	$\geq 1 < 10\%$	≥10%
Cumulative risk after 5 years (%) (95% CI)	47.4 (39.8–55.6)	37.5 (18.9–65.1)	20.8 (17.8–24.3)	22.3 (16.6–29.5)	8.3 (3.2–20-5)	8.3 (6.8–10.3)
Cumulative risk after 10 years (%) (95% CI)	51.3 (43.7–59.5)	43.8 (23.8–70.5)	31.4 (27.8–35.2)	28.5 (22.1–36.3)	16.7 (8.2–32.2)	13.8 (11.7–16.3)
HR unadjusted (95% CI)	1.0	0.8 (0.4-1.6)	0.6 (0.5-0.7)	1.0	0.5 (0.2-1.0)	0.5 (0.3-0.6)
HR adjusted for age (95% CI)	1.0	0.7 (0.3-1.8)	0.6 (0.4-0.8)	1.0	0.6 (0.3-1.3)	0.4 (0.3-0.6)
HR adjusted for stage (95% CI)	1.0	0.8 (0.3-1.9)	0.6 (0.4-0.7)	1.0	0.6 (0.3-1.2)	0.4 (0.3-0.6)
HR adjusted for grade (95% CI)	1.0	0.7(0.4-1.6)	0.7 (0.5-0.9)	1.0	0.6 (0.3-1.2)	0.6 (0.4-0.8)
HR adjusted for age, stage, and grade (95% CI)	1.0	0.7 (0.3–1.8)	0.7 (0.5–1.0)	1.0	0.9 (0.4–1.9)	0.5 (0.3–0.8)

ER Oestrogen receptor, HR Hazard ratio, CI confidence interval

on sections from TMAs can provide equivalent information regarding clinical endpoint when compared to IHC on fullface tissue Sections [38, 39]. Immunohistochemistry for ER on full-face tissue sections was not carried out in the present study.

Conclusion

Overall, ER Low Positive BCs exhibited many characteristics similar to ER-negative tumours and were frequently Luminal B (HER2+). Among women diagnosed in 1995 or later, the proportion of ER Low Positive BCs was higher than among women diagnosed before 1995 and ER Low Positive tumours diagnosed in 1995 or later were of smaller size, lower grade, lower proliferative status, and were more frequently Luminal A Women with ER Low Positive tumours had similar prognosis to patients with $ER \ge 10\%$ when diagnosed in 1995 or later.

Acknowledgements The authors would like to thank the Department of Pathology at St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital for making the diagnostic archives available for this project and the Cancer Registry of Norway for supplying the corresponding patient data.

Author contributions All authors contributed to the study conception and design. Material preparation, data collection and analysis were performed by all authors. The first draft of the manuscript was written by Anette H Skjervold. All authors commented on previous versions of the manuscript, and read and approved the final manuscript.

Funding Open access funding provided by NTNU Norwegian University of Science and Technology (incl St. Olavs Hospital - Trondheim University Hospital). This present study has received funding from the Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway. Data included in this study received financial support from the Liaison Committee between the Central Norway Regional Health Authority and the Norwegian University of Science and Technology and The Research Council of Norway.

Data availability The datasets generated and/or analysed during this study are not publicly available due to issues of sensitivity and limitations determined in the conditions for approval by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics. However, the data may be made available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Declarations

Competing interest The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Ethical approval This study and publication of its results was granted approval by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics, Central Norway (REK 836-09). The approval includes dispensation from the usual requirement of patient consent.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

References

- Regan MM, Viale G, Mastropasqua MG, Maiorano E, Golouh R, Carbone A et al (2006) Re-evaluating adjuvant breast cancer trials: assessing hormone receptor status by immunohistochemical versus extraction assays. J Natl Cancer Inst 98(21):1571–1581
- Allison KH, Hammond MEH, Dowsett M, McKernin SE, Carey LA, Fitzgibbons PL et al (2020) Estrogen and progesterone receptor testing in breast cancer: ASCO/CAP guideline update. J Clin Oncol 38(12):1346–1366
- Lippman ME, Allegra JC, Thompson EB, Simon R, Barlock A, Green L et al (1978) The relation between estrogen receptors and response rate to cytotoxic chemotherapy in metastatic breast cancer. N Engl J Med 298(22):1223–1228
- Barrios CH, Sampaio C, Vinholes J, Caponero R (2009) What is the role of chemotherapy in estrogen receptor-positive, advanced breast cancer? Ann Oncol 20(7):1157–1162
- Clemons M, Goss P (2001) Estrogen and the risk of breast cancer. N Engl J Med 344(4):276–285
- Early Breast Cancecr Trialists' Collaborative G, Davies C, Godwin J, Gray R, Clarke M, Cutter D et al (2011) Relevance of breast cancer hormone receptors and other factors to the efficacy of adjuvant tamoxifen: patient-level meta-analysis of randomised trials. Lancet 378(9793):771–784
- Helsedirektoratet NBCGN (2020) Nasjonalt handlingsprogram med retningslinjer for diagnostikk, behandling og oppfølging

av pasienter med brystkreft https://www.helsedirektoratet.no/ retningslinjer/brystkreft-handlingsprogram: Helsedirektoratet, avdeling spesialisthelsetjenester; [updated 08/2020. IS-2945]. https://www.helsedirektoratet.no/retningslinjer/brystkreft-handl ingsprogram.

- Balic M, Thomssen C, Würstlein R, Gnant M, Harbeck N (2019) St Gallen/Vienna 2019: a brief summary of the consensus discussion on the optimal primary breast cancer treatment. Breast Care 14(2):103–110
- Yu KD, Cai YW, Wu SY, Shui RH, Shao ZM (2021) Estrogen receptor-low breast cancer: biology chaos and treatment paradox. Cancer Commun (Lond) 41(10):968–980
- Fei F, Siegal GP, Wei S (2021) Characterization of estrogen receptor-low-positive breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 188(1):225–235
- Kvâle G, Heuch I, Eide GE (1987) A prospective study of reproductive factors and breast cancer: I—parity. Am J Epidemiol 126(5):831–841
- Engstrom MJ, Opdahl S, Hagen AI, Romundstad PR, Akslen LA, Haugen OA et al (2013) Molecular subtypes, histopathological grade and survival in a historic cohort of breast cancer patients. Breast Cancer Res Treat 140(3):463–473
- Holmen J (2011) The Nord-Trøndelag health study 1995–97 (HUNT 2). Norsk Epidemiologi. https://doi.org/10.5324/nje. v13i1.305
- Valla M, Vatten LJ, Engstrom MJ, Haugen OA, Akslen LA, Bjorngaard JH et al (2016) Molecular subtypes of breast cancer: long-term incidence trends and prognostic differences. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 25(12):1625–1634
- Sandvei MS, Opdahl S, Valla M, Lagiou P, Vesterfjell EV, Rise TV et al (2021) The association of women's birth size with risk of molecular breast cancer subtypes: a cohort study. BMC Cancer 21(1):299
- Research-based evaluation of The Norwegian Breast Cancer Screening Program [press release] (2015). Oslo, Norway.
- Norway CRo (2022) Cancer in Norway 2021—cancer incidence, mortality, survival and prevalence in Norway. Oslo.
- Hofvind S, Ursin G, Tretli S, Sebuodegard S, Moller B (2013) Breast cancer mortality in participants of the Norwegian breast cancer screening program. Cancer 119(17):3106–3112
- Weedon-Fekjaer H, Romundstad PR, Vatten LJ (2014) Modern mammography screening and breast cancer mortality: population study. BMJ 348:g3701
- Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative G (1988) Effects of adjuvant tamoxifen and of cytotoxic therapy on mortality in early breast cancer: an overview of 61 randomized trials among 28,896 women. N Engl J Med 319(26):1681–1692
- ATAC The (Arimidex TAoiCTG) (2002) Anastrozole alone or in combination with tamoxifen versus tamoxifen alone for adjuvant treatment of postmenopausal women with early breast cancer: first results of the ATAC randomised trial. Lancet 359(9324):2131–2139
- Scabia V, Ayyanan A, De Martino F, Agnoletto A, Battista L, Laszlo C et al (2022) Estrogen receptor positive breast cancers have patient specific hormone sensitivities and rely on progesterone receptor. Nat Commun 13(1):3127
- Schrodi S, Braun M, Andrulat A, Harbeck N, Mahner S, Kiechle M et al (2021) Outcome of breast cancer patients with low hormone receptor positivity: analysis of a 15-year population-based cohort. Ann Oncol 32(11):1410–1424
- 24. Fusco N, Ragazzi M, Sajjadi E, Venetis K, Piciotti R, Morganti S et al (2021) Assessment of estrogen receptor low positive status in breast cancer: implications for pathologists and oncologists. Histol Histopathol 36(12):1235–1245

- Kim MC, Park MH, Choi JE, Kang SH, Bae YK (2022) Characteristics and prognosis of estrogen receptor low-positive breast cancer. J Breast Cancer 25(4):318–326
- Chen T, Zhang N, Moran MS, Su P, Haffty BG, Yang Q (2018) Borderline ER-positive primary breast cancer gains no significant survival benefit from endocrine therapy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Breast Cancer 18(1):1–8
- Hammond ME, Hayes DF, Dowsett M, Allred DC, Hagerty KL, Badve S et al (2010) American society of clinical oncology/college of American pathologists guideline recommendations for immunohistochemical testing of estrogen and progesterone receptors in breast cancer. Arch Pathol Lab Med 134(6):907–922
- Ogawa Y, Moriya T, Kato Y, Oguma M, Ikeda K, Takashima T et al (2004) Immunohistochemical assessment for estrogen receptor and progesterone receptor status in breast cancer: analysis for a cut-off point as the predictor for endocrine therapy. Breast Cancer 11(3):267–275
- Iwamoto T, Booser D, Valero V, Murray JL, Koenig K, Esteva FJ et al (2012) Estrogen receptor (ER) mRNA and ER-related gene expression in breast cancers that are 1% to 10% ER-positive by immunohistochemistry. J Clin Oncol 30(7):729–734
- Fujii T, Kogawa T, Dong W, Sahin AA, Moulder S, Litton JK et al (2017) Revisiting the definition of estrogen receptor positivity in HER2-negative primary breast cancer. Ann Oncol 28(10):2420–2428
- Voorwerk L, Sanders J, Keusters MS, Balduzzi S, Cornelissen S, Duijst M et al (2023) Immune landscape of breast tumors with low and intermediate estrogen receptor expression. NPJ Breast Cancer 9(1):39
- 32. Mirlacher M, Kasper M, Storz M, Knecht Y, Durmuller U, Simon R et al (2004) Influence of slide aging on results of translational

research studies using immunohistochemistry. Mod Pathol 17(11):1414-1420

- 33. Grillo F, Bruzzone M, Pigozzi S, Prosapio S, Migliora P, Fiocca R et al (2017) Immunohistochemistry on old archival paraffin blocks: is there an expiry date? J Clin Pathol 70(11):988–993
- Dowsett T, Verghese E, Pollock S, Pollard J, Heads J, Hanby A et al (2014) The value of archival tissue blocks in understanding breast cancer biology. J Clin Pathol 67(3):272–275
- Karlsson C, Karlsson MG (2011) Effects of long-term storage on the detection of proteins, DNA, and mRNA in tissue microarray slides. J Histochem Cytochem 59(12):1113–1121
- Larsen IK, Smastuen M, Johannesen TB, Langmark F, Parkin DM, Bray F et al (2009) Data quality at the cancer registry of Norway: an overview of comparability, completeness, validity and timeliness. Eur J Cancer 45(7):1218–1231
- Bakken IJ, Ellingsen CL, Pedersen AG, Leistad L, Kinge JM, Ebbing M et al (2015) Comparison of data from the cause of death registry and the norwegian patient register. Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen 135(21):1949–1953
- Torhorst J, Bucher C, Kononen J, Haas P, Zuber M, Köchli OR et al (2001) Tissue microarrays for rapid linking of molecular changes to clinical endpoints. Am J Pathol 159(6):2249–2256
- Rosen DG, Huang X, Deavers MT, Malpica A, Silva EG, Liu J (2004) Validation of tissue microarray technology in ovarian carcinoma. Mod Pathol 17(7):790–797

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



ISBN 978-82-326-7754-2 (printed ver.) ISBN 978-82-326-7753-5 (electronic ver.) ISSN 1503-8181 (printed ver.) ISSN 2703-8084 (online ver.)

